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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Foresthill Public Utility District
Foresthill, California

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Foresthill Public Utility District (the “District”)
as of and for the year ended June 30, 2008, as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are
the responsibility of the District’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Foresthill Public Utility District as of June 30, 2008 and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 2,
2008 on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants.



The Management’s Discussion and Analysis is not a required part of the financial statements but is
supplemental information required by the Government Auditing Standards Board. We have applied
certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods
of measurement and presentation of the supplemental information. However, we did not audit the
information and express no opinion on it.

The supplemental information listed in the table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements of Foresthill Public Utility District. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole.

Citrus Heights, California
September 2, 2008
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For Fiscal Year July 1, 2007 - June 30, 2008

The following discussion and analysis of the Foresthill Public Utility District (the “District”) and its
financial performance provides an overview of the District’s financial activities, prepared by its
management for the year ended June 30, 2008. This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction
with the District’s financial statements and accompanying notes, which follow this section.

Background

The District was formed in 1950 pursuant to the provisions of Section 15501 et. seq. California Public
Utilities Code for the purpose of operating a water system. The District’s service area comprises the
unincorporated community of Foresthill, California, located in Placer County approximately 60 miles
Northeast of Sacramento. The District is governed by a five member Board of Directors, and currently
employs 10 full-time employees. The District currently incorporates an area of approximately 13,300 acres
and contains primarily residential development. The District has a population of approximately 5,900, and
as of June 30, 2008 provided 1,960 water service connections.

Rates and Charges

The District places a high priority on rate stability while providing exceptional service to its customers.
To control rate increases the District implements a conservative, long-term planning approach that controls
spending and focuses expenditures on the highest priorities. The District’s water rates increased 13.65% in
December 2006, the first increase since 2001. This brought the rate for basic residential service for 0-
10,000 gallons from $22.00 to $25.00 per month. The District is proposing a 10% general water rate
increase and a $3.32 per month Infrastructure Repair/Replacement surcharge for Fiscal Year 2008-20009.

Financial Reporting

Management’s discussion and analysis of the Foresthill Public Utility District’s financial performance
provides an overview of the District’s activities, as well as, its financial condition for the year ended
June 30, 2008. For this report, the District has implemented Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) Statement No. 34 that establishes financial reporting standards for state and local
governments, including enterprise districts such as Foresthill PUD. In Fiscal Year 2007-2008 the
District completed an actuarial regarding District paid retiree benefits in order to satisfy GASB
Statement No. 45 with implementation scheduled for Fiscal Year 2009-2010.

P.O. Box 266 24540 Main Street Foresthill, California 95631-0266 (530) 367-2511 Fax (530) 367-4385
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The District’s finances span three separate funds:

1. Enterprise Fund —this is the operating fund of the District. It is used to account for the day-to-

day operations, which is financed and operated in a manner similar to private business
enterprises. This allows the District to determine that the costs (expenses, including
depreciation) of providing drinking water on a continuing basis are financed or recovered
primarily through user charges.
Also accounted for within the Enterprise Fund: 2003 Certificate of Participation — Sugar Pine
Project Acquisition — Issuance of Certificate(s) of Participation through California Special
District Finance Corporation pledging revenues of District to repay twenty-five (25) year debt.
November 2003 the District acquired the Sugar Pine Dam & Reservoir Project from U.S.
Bureau of Reclamation. A $6.50 Sugar Pine Surcharge is collected each month from each
active water customer to provide sufficient revenues for retirement of debt service.

2. Improvement Bond Fund — in 1982 the District created the existing treatment plant by
assessing all parcels within District boundaries. This assessment will continue for 40 years or
until which time the assets equal the liabilities and the debt can be extinguished.

3. Assessment District No. 2 — in 1997 the District upgraded its distribution system to improve
fire flow and pressures in the system. The improvements were funded by assessing each parcel
within 500 feet of an existing main water line. This assessment also will continue for 40 years
or until which time the assets equal the liabilities and the debt can be extinguished.

Financial Highlights

e Fiscal Year 2007-2008 General Fund revenues were up 5.82% over Fiscal Year 2006-2007
($1,354,106 vs. $1,279,578). Expenses were up 12.56% ($1,366,947 vs. $1,195,366).

e End of Fiscal Year 2007-2008 District General Reserve Fund decreased 8.72% compared to the
previous ($491,384 vs. $538,286).

e Eco:Logic Consulting Engineers completed the 2008 Water System Master Plan (planning and
feasibility analysis) Cost: $97,325.

e District completed in house design, construction and installation of the District’s treated water storage
tank re-plumb effort to comply with California Department of Health Services ‘Contact Time Value’
requirements. Cost: $55,589. Estimated cost savings by doing job in-house = $150,000.

e There were no contributed capital projects during Fiscal Year 2007-2008.

e Economic conditions throughout Fiscal Year 2007-2008 remained slower than previous forecasts.
Lack of housing starts, increased energy, fuel, material and labor costs have contributed to the increase
in total expenditures, as well as, the decline in General Fund Reserves which has necessitated the
District’s proposed 10% general water rate increase.

Requests for Information
Interested persons may direct their inquiries regarding the information contained in this Annual
Financial Report to:

Kurt W. Reed, General Manager kreed@foresthillpud.com (530) 367-2511
Patricia L. Pappas, Business Manager ppappas@foresthillpud.com (530) 367-2511
PO Box 266

24540 Main Street

Foresthill, CA 95631




FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT

COMBINED BALANCE SHEET
June 30, 2008

(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2007)

Current assets:
Cash in checking
Temporary investments
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses

Inventory - materials and supplies

Total current assets

Capital assets, at cost (Note 4)

Less, accumulated depreciation

Construction in progress

Debt issuance costs, net

Restricted assets:

Temporary investment — reserves
Certif. of Partic. — reserve fund

Improvement Bond Fund:
Future assessments receivable
Temporary investments

Assessment District No. 2:
Temporary investments
Future assessments receivable

ASSETS
Totals
(Memorandum
Enterprise Improvement Assessment only)

Fund Bond Fund  District No. 2 2008 2007
$ 22,420 $ $ $ 22420 $ 12,640
491,384 491,384 538,286
134,071 134,071 119,050
16,932 16,932 33,984
664,807 664,807 703,960
12,402,744 12,402,744 12,275,413
(4,368,664) (4,368,664) 4,074,344
8,034,080 8,034,080 8,201,069
8,034,080 8,034,080 8,201,069
160,320 160,320 168,141
346,192 346,192 526,593
268,944 268,944 270,127
615,136 615,136 796,720
458,320 458,320 438,031
175,918 175,918 215,371
468,320 468,320 439,515
2,404,516 2,404,516 2,309,707

$.9474343 $_634,238 $2,872,836 $12,981,417 $13,272,514

See notes to financial statements
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LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Totals
(Memorandum
Enterprise  Improvement Assessment only)
Fund Bond Fund District No. 2 2008 2007
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term
debt (Note 6) $ 100,000 $ $ $ 100,000 $ 100,000
Current portion of
capital lease (Note 12) 34,286 34,286 34,465
Accounts payable 4,695 4,695 6,324
Compensated absences payable 26,013 26,013 37,369
Customer deposits 26,538 26,538 28,163
Total current liabilities 191,532 191,532 206,321
Long-term debt, net of
current portion (Note 6) 2,695,000 2,695,000 2,795,000
Add, bond premium, net
of amortization 25,810 25,810 28,143
2,720,810 2,720,810 2,823,143
Capital lease (Note 12) 12,382 12,382 49,171
2,733,192 2,733,192 2,872,314
Net assets:
Invested in capital assets, net
of related debt 5,192,412 5,192,412 5,222,433
Restricted (Note 11) 583,761 583,761 766,256
Unrestricted 773,446 773,446 802,566
6,549,619 6,549,619 6,791,255
Improvement Bond Fund:
Bonds payable (Note 5) 470,000 470,000 495,000
Fund equity 164,238 164,238 158,402
Assessment District No. 2:
Bonds payable (Note 9) 3,035,300 3,035,300 3,081,600
Fund deficit (_162,464) (. 162,464) ( 332,378)

$9,474,343 $ 634,238 $2,872,836 $12,981,417 $13,272,514



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
for the year ended June 30, 2008

(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2007)

Operating revenues:

Sales - residential

- business

- industrial
Service connections
Will serve
Sugar Pine surcharge
Other

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:

Source of supply

Pumping

Water treatment
Transmission and distribution
Customer accounts
Administrative and general
Depreciation

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Non-operating income and (expense):

Interest income

Property taxes

Interest expense

Assistance - Assessment District #2
Loss on disposal

Loss before contributions

Capital contributions

Changes in net assets (carried forward)

2008

$ 839,750
183,646
300

22,982
85,171
176,719
56,326

1,364,894

70,315
16,784
164,344
229,887
13,151
640,155
360,709

1,495,345

(130.451)

48,402
82,697
( 141,490)
( 100,000)
(_ 794)
( 111,185)

( 241,636)

( 241,636)

See notes to financial statements
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2007

$ 751,871
203,883
311

11,250
74,300
175,597
65,105

1,282,317

61,864
7,286
130,025
186,856
17,440
561,375
339,976

1,304,822

(_ 22,505)

69,574
78,112
( 145,070)
( 100,000)
( 56)
(_97.440)

( 119,945)
183,275

63,330



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS, continued
for the year ended June 30, 2008
(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2007)

2008 2007
Change in net assets (brought forward) $( 241,636) $ 63,330
Total net assets:
Beginning 6,791,255 6,727,925
Ending $6,549,619 $6,791,255

See notes to financial statements
7



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended June 30, 2008

(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2007)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Receipts from property taxes and
other nonoperating income

Cash flows from capital and related financing
activities:
Capital contributions
Purchase of capital assets
Interest paid on capital debt
Establish Reserve Fund-COP issue
Assistance to Assessment Dist. No. 2
Proceeds from capital leases
Principal payments on long-term debt

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest income
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of year

End of year

2008

$1,349,873
( 622,168)

(_504,538)

223,167

82,697

( 193,331)
( 141,490)

( 100_,000)
( 136-,968)
(_571,789)

48,402

( 217,523)

1,077,519

$_ 859,996

See notes to financial statements
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2007

$1,257,871
( 529,636)

(_424,953)

303,282

78,112

183,275
( 388,500)
( 145,070)
(750
( 100,000)

46,366

(_126,132)
(_530,811)

69,574

( 79,843)

1,157,362

$1,077,519



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS, continued
for the year ended June 30, 2008

(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2007)

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating income (loss)

Amortization on Certificates of Participation costs, net

Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation expense

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Prepaid expense
Inventory
Accounts payable
Customer deposits
Compensated absences

Net cash provided by operating activities

Supplementary information:
Cash paid for interest

2008

$(_130,451)
5,488

360,709

( 15,021)
17,052
( 1,629)

( 1,625)
(_ 11,356)

353,618

$_ 223,167

$__ 133,670

See notes to financial statements
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2007

$(__22.505)
5,488

339,976

( 24,446)
7,017
(  1,823)

950
(1,375

325,787

$_ 303,282

$_ 139,582



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization:

The Foresthill Public Utility District was formed and operates under The Public Utility District
Act. The Act confers upon the District the rights and powers to fix rates and charges for
commodities or services furnished, to incur indebtedness and issue bonds or other obligations
and, under certain circumstances, to levy and collect advalorem property taxes. The District is
exempt from payment of federal and state taxes on income.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

The accounting policies of the Foresthill Public Utility District conform to generally accepted
accounting principles applicable to enterprise funds. The District applies all relevant
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements. Proprietary funds apply
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements and Accounting Principles
Board (APB) opinions issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless those pronouncements
conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements, in which case, GASB prevails.

Basis of Accounting

The District's books and accounts are based upon the Uniform System of Accounts for Public
Utilities as prescribed by the Division of Local Government Fiscal Affairs of the State of
California. The records are maintained and the accompanying financial statements are presented
on the accrual basis of accounting.

Fund Accounting

The accounts of the District are organized on the basis of funds and account groups, each of
which is considered a separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for
with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity,
revenues, and expenditures, or expenses, as appropriate. District resources are allocated to and
accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and
means by which spending activities are controlled. The various funds are grouped, in the
financial statements in this report as follows:

Enterprise Fund - The Enterprise Fund is used to account for water operations that are
financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises. The intent of the
District is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods and services
to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user
charges.

10



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:

Improvement Bond Fund - This fund is to account for financing of public improvements or
services deemed to benefit the properties against which special assessments are levied.

Assessment District No. 2 - This fund is to account for a new financing of public
improvements.

Inventories
Inventories have been valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market.

Depreciation

Water utility plant is recorded on the basis of purchase cost. Assets acquired by contributions
are recorded at estimated cost or fair market value at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets that range from five to forty years.

Statement of Cash Flows

All highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased, are
considered to be cash equivalents. The investment with the State Treasurer's Local Agency
Investment Fund (LAIF) is also considered to be the equivalent of cash.

Investments

Investments consist of LAIF (State of California pooled investment fund). Investments are
stated at market value. Such investment is within the State statutes and the District's investment

policy.

Compensated Absences

Vested or accumulated vacation leave and comp. time that is expected to be liquidated with
expendable available resources is reported as a current liability. Accumulated sick leave is
vested upon age 60.

Budget and Budgetary Accounting

The Board of Directors annually adopts an operating budget. The operating budgets are
prepared on the accrual basis to match the operating statements.

11



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:

Total Columns

Total columns on the combined statements are captioned "Memorandum Only* to indicate that
they are presented only to facilitate financial analysis. Data in these columns do not present
financial position or results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles, nor is such data comparable to a consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Bond Premium and Issuance Costs

Bond premium is deferred and amortized over the life of the Certificates of Participation using
the effective interest method. Issuance costs are deferred and amortized over the life of the
Certificates using the straight-line method.

3. Cash and Investments:

Cash and investments consist of the following at June 30, 2008:

Unrestricted $ 513,804
Restricted 346,192
Total cash and investments $ 859,996

12



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

3. Cash and Investments (continued):

Deposits:

At year-end the carrying amount of the District's deposits was $22,420 and the bank balance was
$51,101. All of the bank balance was covered by Federal depository insurance.

Balance,
June 30,

2008
Checking $ 22,145
Other deposits 25
Cash on hand 250
Total deposits $_ 22,420

Investments:

California statutes authorize the District to invest in a variety of credit instruments as provided
for in the California Government Code Section 53600, Chapter 4 - Financial Affairs. The
Government Code allows investments in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, agencies, and
instrumentalities, commercial paper rated A-1 by Standard & Poor's or P-1 by Moody's
Commercial Paper Record, bankers' acceptances, repurchase agreements, medium-term
corporate notes, mutual funds and the State Treasurer's Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF).
The investment in LAIF is reported at fair value.

Carrying Market
Amount Value
Balance, June 30, 2008,
Local Agency Investment Fund $ 837,576 $ 837,576

Pursuant to Government Accounting Standards Board Statement 3, the investment in LAIF is not
classified in categories of credit risk. The District's funds in LAIF are invested in a diversified
portfolio (of underlying investments e.g. U.S. Treasury obligations) such that it considers the
risk of material loss to be minimal. The funds held in LAIF can be withdrawn on demand.

13



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

3. Cash and Investments (continued):

Restricted investments:

The District sets aside funds for future plant improvements. At June 30, 2008, the District had
set aside the following in investments for special purposes:

Balance,
June 30,
2008

Capital reserve $_ 346,192

4. Capital Assets:

At June 30, 2008 the District's investment in plant consists of:

Accumulated

Cost Depreciation

Land $ 36,568 $ -
Source of supply 2,630,510 363,463
Pumping plant 20,962 20,027
Water treatment 1,181,172 898,682
Transmission and distribution 7,834,157 2,623,656
General plant 699,375 462,836
$12,402,744 $.4,368,664
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

5. Bond Issue:

The District issued bonds dated May 2, 1982 pursuant to the Municipal Improvement Act of
1913 and the Improvement Bond Act of 1915 in the total amount of $817,250. The bonds bear
interest at five percent (5%) payable January 2 and July 2 of each year; such bonds may be
called for redemption prior to maturity upon payment of 105 percent of par plus accrued interest.
The bonds are secured by the unpaid assessments made for the payment of improvements in the
assessment district. Maturity of the bonds (on July 2) is:

Principal

2009 $ 25,000
2010-11 50,000
2012-13 60,000
2014-18 165,000
2019-22 170,000
$.470,000

6. Long-term Debt:

On October 1, 2003, the District issued Certificates of Participation — 2003 Series QQ (COP’s)
for $3,195,000 to the CSDA Finance Corporation. Proceeds from these Certificates were used to
purchase the Sugar Pine Dam and Reservoir (including associated water rights) from the United
States Bureau of Reclamation. The Certificates are secured by a lien on the District’s net
revenues. Interest rates range from 1.05% to 3.75% on annual $100,000 principal payments
through 2014. Thereafter, through maturity, interest rates range from 5% to 5 ¥%%. The District
maintains a reserve fund with a Trustee equal to the maximum annual installment payable in a
Certificate year. Interest is payable on May 1 and November 1 of each year.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

6. Long-term Debt, continued:

Principal on the Certificates is payable annually on November 1 through 2028 as follows:

Payment Date Principal Interest Total
11/1/08 $ 100,000 $ 65,769 $ 165,769
5/1/09 - 64,544 64,544
11/1/09 100,000 64,544 164,544
5/1/10 - 63,169 63,169
11/1/10 100,000 63,169 163,169
5/1/11 - 61,619 61,619
11/1/11 100,000 61,619 161,619
5/1/12 - 59,919 59,919
11/1/12 100,000 59,919 159,919
5/1/13 58,106 58,106

11/1/13 through 5/1/28 2,295,000 1,074,667 3,369,667

$2,795,000 $1,697,044 $4,492,044

7. Retirement Plan:

The District’s policy is to fund retirement benefits with the State of California Public
Employees’ Retirement System (CALPERS). The amount of pension contributions by the
District to CALPERS is actuarially determined under a program wherein contributions plus
earnings of the retirement system are to provide the necessary funds to pay retirement benefits
when due. The District relies on the competency of the State in determining the funding method,
the adequacy of funding, and the spreading of actuarial gains and losses which is currently on a
four-year basis.

A. Plan Description

Foresthill Public Utility District contributes to the California Public Employees
Retirement System (CALPERS), an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement
system that acts as a common investment and administrative agent for participating
public entities within the State of California. CALPERS issues a publicly available
financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary
information for the Foresthill Public Utility District. The financial report may be
obtained by writing to CALPERS Actuarial Office, P.O. Box 942709, Sacramento, CA
94229-2709.

16



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

7. Retirement Plan:

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting: The financial statements of the plan are prepared using the accrual
basis of accounting. Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which
the contributions are due. The District’s contributions are recognized when due and a
formal commitment to provide the contributions has been made. Benefits and refunds
are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan.

Method Used to Value Investments: Plan investments are reported at fair value. Short-
term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Securities traded
on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at
current exchange rates. Mortgages are valued on the basis of future principal and
interest payments are discounted at prevailing interest rates for similar instruments. The
fair value of real estate investments is based on independent appraisals. Investments that
do not have an established market are reported at estimated fair value.

Under GASB 27, an employer reports an annual pension cost (APC) equal to the annual required
contribution (ARC) plus an adjustment for the cumulative difference between the APC and the
employer’s actual plan contributions for the year. The cumulative difference is called the net
pension obligation (NPO). The ARC for the period, July 1, 2007 to June 30, 2008, has been
determined by an actuarial valuation of the plan as of June 30, 2005.

District employees’ contribution is 8.0 percent of their annual salary to the System. The District
pays the employees’ contribution. The District is required to contribute the remaining amounts
necessary to fund the benefits for its members, using the actuarial basis recommended by the
PERS Actuaries and Actuarial Consultants and adopted by the Board of Administration. For
year ended June 30, 2008 the District paid total contributions of $98,351, including employees’
portion.

Pooled Report Format

Since the District’s plan has less than 100 active members, it is required to participate in a risk
pool.

17



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

7. Retirement Plan, continued:

A summary of principle assumptions and methods used to determine the annual required
contribution is shown below:

Valuation Date June 30, 2005
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method
Amortization Method Level Percent of Payroll
Average Remaining Period 17 Years as of the Valuation Date
Asset Valuation Method 15 Year Smoothed Market
Actuarial Assumptions
Investment Rate of Return 7.75% (net of administrative expenses)
Projected Salary Increases 3.25% to 14.45% depending on Age, Service,
and type of employment
Inflation 3.00%
Payroll Growth 3.25%
Individual Salary Growth A merit scale varying by duration of

employment coupled with an assumed annual
inflation growth of 3.00% and an annual
production growth of 0.25%.

Initial plan unfunded liabilities are amortized over a closed period equal to the average
amortization period at the plan’s date of entry into the CalPERS Risk Pool. Subsequent plan
amendments are amortized over a closed 20-year period. Gains and losses that occur in the
operation of the risk pool are amortized over a rolling 30 year period. If the plan’s accrued
liability exceeds the actuarial value of plan assets, then the amortization payment on the total
unfunded liability may not be lower than the payment calculated over a 30 year amortization
period. More complete information on assumptions and methods is provided in Appendix A of
Section 2 of the report. Appendix B of Section 2 of the report contains a description of benefits
included in the Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

7. Retirement Plan, continued:

The Schedule of Funding Progress below shows the recent history of the Risk Pool’s actuarial
value of assets, accrued liability, their relationship, and the relationship of the unfunded liability
(UL) to payroll.

Risk Pool’s History of Funded Status and Funding Progress

Unfunded Annual UL As
Valuation Accrued Actuarial Liabilities Funded Covered a % of
Date Liabilities Assets (UL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

June 30, 2004 $426,958,282 $334,956,019 $ 92,002,263 78.5% $ 90,667,029 101.5%
June 30, 2005 $499,323,280 $405,480,805 $ 93,842,475 81.2% $108,618,321 86.4%
June 30, 2006 $620,492,183 $501,707,110 $118,785,073 80.9% $126,049,770 94.2%

8. Section 457 Plan:

The District adopted a California PERS Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plan. The District
does not contribute to this plan. All contributions and administrative fees are paid by the
employees.

9. Water System Assessment District No. 2:

On February 28, 1996 the District adopted a resolution authorizing the issuance of improvement
bonds pursuant to the Improvement Bond Act of 1915. The proceeds of such bonds was used to
finance the construction of public improvements under the Municipal Improvement Act of 1913.

The improvements consisted of two phases - Phase 1 Pipeline Relocation Project and Phase 2
Water System Rehabilitation Project.

The Improvement Bonds were financed by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Rural
Development.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

9. Water System Assessment District No. 2, continued:

On July 23, 1997 the District issued an improvement bond (Series 1997) for $1,364,150 to
United States of America, Rural Development, United States Department of Agriculture. The
bond bears interest at 4.875% per annum, payable on March 2 and September 2 and matures as
follows:

Date Principal Interest
9-2-08 $ 19,800 $ 29,499
3-2-09 - 29,016
9-2-09 20,800 29,016
3-2-10 - 28,509
9-2-10 21,800 28,509
3-2-11 - 27,978
9-2-11 22,900 27,978
3-2-12 - 27,419
9-2-12 24,000 27,419
3-2-13 - 26,834
9-2-13 through
9-2-36 1,100,900 795,439

$1,210,200 $1,077,616
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

9. Water System Assessment District No. 2 (continued):

On June 2, 1998 the District issued an improvement bond (Series 1998) for $2,031,318 to United
States of America, Rural Development, United States Department of Agriculture. The bond
bears interest at 4.75% per annum, payable on March 2 and September 2 and matures as follows:

Date Principal Interest
9-2-08 $ 28,700 $ 43,346
3-2-09 - 42,665
9-2-09 30,000 42,665
3-2-10 - 41,952
9-2-10 31,500 41,952
3-2-11 - 41,204
9-2-11 33,000 41,204
3-2-12 - 40,420
9-2-12 34,500 40,420
3-2-13 - 39,601
9-2-13 through
9-2-37 1,667,400 1,176,918
$1,825,100 $1,592,347

10. Risk of Loss:
Foresthill Public Utility District is exposed to various risks of loss related to theft of, damage to,

and destruction of assets; and injuries to employees. During the 2008 fiscal year, the District
purchased certain commercial insurance coverages to provide for these risks.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

11. Restricted Net Assets:

Reserves at June 30, 2008 consist of:

Capital improvement reserve $ 346,192
Sugar Pine Reserve 237,569
$_583,761

12. Capital Leases:

The District entered into three capital lease agreements to finance the purchase of a dump truck,
a utility bed truck, and two Chevy trucks. Assets under capital leases are recorded at the lower
of the present value of the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the asset. The assets are
depreciated over their estimated productive lives. Depreciation of assets under capital leases is
included in depreciation expense.

The capitalized value of the trucks subject to the capital lease is $144,908.

Minimum future lease payments under capital leases as of June 30, 2008 are:

2009 $30,153
2010 22,143
Total payments 52,296
Less, amount representing interest 5,628
Present value of net minimum lease payments $46,668

13. Contingencies:

A suit has been filed against the District. In the opinion of management, such matter is
considered not material. The District has requested for a dismissal of this lawsuit.
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ROBERT
W.
JOHNSON

An Accountancy Corporation

Certified Public Accountant
6234 BIRDCAGE STREET o CITRUS HEIGHTS, CA 95610-5949 o (916) 723-2555

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT
OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors
Foresthill Public Utility District
Foresthill, California

We have audited the financial statements of Foresthill Public Utility District (the “District”), as of
and for the year ended June 30, 2008, and have issued our report thereon dated September 2, 2008.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the District's internal control over financial
reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion
on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the District’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion
on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control over financial reporting.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect
misstatements on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a control deficiency, or combination of
control deficiencies, that adversely affects the District’s ability to initiate, authorize, record, process,
or report financial data reliably in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles such
that there is more than a remote likelihood that a misstatement of the District’s financial statements
that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the District’s internal control.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that

results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial statements will
not be prevented or detected by the District’s internal control.
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Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described
in the first paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal
control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses,
as defined above.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's financial statements are free
of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

We noted certain matters that we reported to management of the District, in a separate letter dated
September 2, 2008.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of management, the audit committee and

federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities and is not intended to be and should not be used
by anyone other than these specified parties.

Robert W. Johnson, An Accountancy Corporation
September 2, 2008

25



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES

IN NET ASSETS - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
for the year ended June 30, 2008

Operating revenues:
Sales - residential
- business
- industrial
Other

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Source of supply
Pumping
Water treatment
Transmission and distribution
Customer accounts
Administrative and general
Depreciation

Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Non-operating income and (expense):
Interest income
Property taxes
Interest expense
Assistance - Assessment District #2
Other
Income before contributions

Capital contributions

Change in net assets

Budget

$ 837,000
210,000
325
246,050

1,293,375

64,350
7,600
142,800
191,650
17,700
613,950
103,837

1,141,887

151,488

1,100
80,000
( 232,588)

(_151,488)
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Actual

$ 839,750
183,646
300
341,198

1,364,894

70,315
16,784
164,344
229,887
13,151
640,155
360,709

1,495,345

(_130,451)

48,402
82,697
( 141,490)
( 100,000)
( 794)
( 111,185)

( 241,636)

$(_241,636)

Favorable
(Unfavorable)
Variance

$( 2,750)
26,354
25

(_ 95,148)

71,519

5,965
9,184
21,544
38,237

( 4,549)
26,205
256,872

(_353,458)
(_281,939)

47,302
2,697
91,098

( 100,000)

(794
40,303

( 241,636)

$(_241,636)



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
OPERATING EXPENSES
for the year ended June 30, 2008

Source of Supply:
Restoration payments $ 21,534
Supervision and labor 5,516
Maintenance 5,856
Vehicle expense 514
Power 3,015
Inspection and water rights 33,880
$_ 70,315
Pumping:
Power 8,047
Vehicle expense 420
Maintenance 1,313
Propane 7,004
16,784
Water treatment:
Supervision and labor 104,916
Maintenance 11,160
Chemical and analysis 33,662
Vehicle expense 3,149
Power 9,775
Propane 1,682
164,344
Transmission and Distribution:
Supervision and labor 173,086
Maintenance 41,887
Vehicle expense 14,354
Propane 560
229,887
Customer Accounts:
Supervision and labor 11,881
Maintenance -
Vehicle expense 1,270
13,151
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
OPERATING EXPENSES, continued
for the year ended June 30, 2008

Administrative and General:

Salaries

Legal services

Collection charges
Accounting

Vehicle Expense

Liability insurance

Office expense

Employee benefits and payroll taxes
Seminars and travel
Utilities

Consulting services
Maintenance

Dues and subscriptions
Computer services
Uniforms

Public information program
Educational expense
Election expense

Board remuneration

Depreciation

Total operating expenses

$ 190,585
31,254
2,523
6,225
1,988
33,483
28,267
292,561
7,128
2,270
5,000
4,062
8,049
11,205
2,885
4,819
651

7,200
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ROBERT
W,

JOHNSON

An Accountancy Corporation
Certified Public Accountant 6234 BIRDCAGE STREET « CITRUS HEIGHTS, CA 95610-5949 » (916) 723-2555

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Foresthill Public Utility District
Foresthill, California

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Foresthill Public Utility District as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2009, as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility
of the District’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in ail material respects, the financial
position of Foresthill Public Utility District as of June 30, 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 23,
2009, on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements and other matters. The
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.



The Management’s Discussion and Analysis is not a required part of the financial statements but is
supplemental information required by the Government Auditing Standards Board. Management has elected to
omit the Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

The supplemental information listed in the table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements of Foresthill Public Utility District. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements
and, in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements taken
as a whole.

Citrus Heights, California
September 23, 2009



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

June 30, 2009
(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2008)
ASSETS
Totals
(Memorandum
Enterprise Improvement Assessment only)
Fund Bond Fund District No. 2 2009 2008
Current assets:
Cash in checking $ 26,168 §$ $ $ 26,168 § 22420
Temporary investments 295,262 295,262 491,384
Accounts receivable 155,728 155,728 134,071
Prepaid expenses 33,103 33,103 -
Inventory - materials and supplies 14,377 14,377 16,932
Total current assets 524,638 524.638 664.807
Capital assets, at cost (Note 4) 12,541,304 12,541,304 12,402,744
Less, accumulated depreciation  { 4.703.934) (4.703.934) (4.368.664)
7,837,370 7.837,370 8,034,080
Construction in progress - - -
7.837.370 7.837.370 8,034,080
Debt issuance costs, net 152,500 152.500 160,320
Restricted assets:

Temporary investment — reserves 241,745
Certif. of Partic. — reserve fund 263,036

504,781

Improvement Bond Fund:
Future assessments receivable
Temporary investments

Assessment District No. 2:
Temporary investments
Future assessments receivable

241,745 346,192
263,036 268.944

504,781 615,136

468,204 468,204 458,320
134,479 134,479 175,918

482,780 482,780 468,320
2,399,320 2,399,320 2,404,516

$.2.019.280 $_602683 $2,882,100 $12,504,072 $12,981,417

See notes to financial statements
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LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Totals
(Memorandum
Enterprise  Improvement Assessment only)
Fund Bond Fund District No. 2 2009 2008
Current liabilities:
Current porticn of long-term
debt (Note 6) $ 100,000 $ $ $ 100,000 $ 100,000
Current portion of
capital lease (Note 12) 27,802 27,802 34,286
Accounts payable 18,380 18,380 4,695
Compensated absences payable 43,008 43,008 26,013
Customer deposits 27.563 27.563 26,538
Total current liabilities 216,753 216,753 191,532
Long-term debt, net of
current portion (Note 6) 2,595,000 2,595,000 2,695,000
Add, bond premium, net
of amortization 23,477 23477 25,810
2,618,477 2,618,477 2,720,810
Capital lease (Note 12) 24,567 24,567 12,382
2,643.044 2.643.044 2,733,192
Net assets (Note 11):
Invested in capital assets, net
of related debt 5,090,001 5,090,001 5,192,412
Restrcted 397,732 397,732 583,761
Unrestricted 671,759 671,759 773.446
6.159.492 6.159.492 6.549.619
Improvement Bond Fund:
Bonds payable (Note S) 445,000 445,000 470,000
Fund equity 157,683 157,683 164,238
Assessment District No. 2:
Bonds payable (Note 9) 2,986,800 2,986,800 3,035,300
Fund deficit (_104.700) { 104,700) ( _162.464)

$9.019280  $_602,683 $2,882,100 $12,504,072 $12,981417



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
for the year ended June 30, 2009

(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2008)

2009
Operating revenues:
Sales - residential $ 959,355
- business 135,619
- industrial 325
Service connections 6,205
Will serve 24,035
Sugar Pine surcharge 176,455
Other 120419
Total operating revenues 1,422,413
Operating expenses:
Source of supply 73,077
Pumping 10,120
Water treatment 174,397
Transmission and distribution 248,035
Customer accounts 20,884
Administrative and general 797,755
Depreciation 371,184
Total operating expenses 1,695.452
Operating income (loss) ( 273.039)
Non-operating income and (expense):
Interest income 40,744
Property taxes 78,625
Interest expense ( 140,966)
Assistance - Assessment District #2 ( 100,001)
Gain on sale/(loss on disposal) 4,510
(_117.088)
Loss before contributions ( 390,127)
Capital contributions -
Changes in net assets (carried forward) ( 390,127}

See notes to financial statements
4

2008

$ 839,750
183,646
300
22,982
85,171
176,719

_ 36,326

1,364,894

70,315
16,784
164,344
229,887
13,151
640,155
360,709

1,495,345

130,451

48,402
82,697
( 141,490)
( 100,000)
( 794)
( 111.185)

( 241.636)

( 241,636)



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS, continued
for the year ended June 30, 2009
(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2008)

2009 2008
Change in net assets (brought forward) $( 390,127) $( 241,636)
Total net assets:
Beginning 6,549,619 6,791,255
Ending $6,159,492 $6,549,619

See notes to financial statements
5



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended June 30, 2009

(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2008)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Receipts from property taxes and
other nonoperating income

Cash flows from capital and related financing
activities:
Capital contributions
Purchase of capital assets
Interest paid on capital debt
Assistance to Assessment Dist. No. 2
Proceeds from capital leases
Principal payments on long-term debt

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest income
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of year

End of year

2009

$1,400,756
( 756,274)

( 555.441)

89,041

_83.135

( 174,475)
( 140,966)
( 100,001)

50,545

(_144.844)
(_509,741)

40.744

( 296,821)

859.996

$_563,175

See notes to financial statements

6

2008

$1,349,873
( 620,985)
(_504,538)

224,350

— 82,697

( 194,514)
( 141,490)
( 100,000)

( 136.968)
572.972
48.402

( 217,523)

1,077,519

$_859.996



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS, continued
for the year ended June 30, 2009

(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2008)

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating income (loss)

Amortization on Certificates of Participation costs, net

Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation expense

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Prepaid expense
Inventory
Cert. of Partic. — reserve fund
Accounts payable
Customer deposits
Compensated absences

Net cash provided by operating activities

Supplementary information:
Cash paid for interest

2009

$(_273.039)

5,488

371,184

( 21,657)

( 33,103)
2,555
5,908
13,685
1,025
16,995

362,080

$__ 89,041

§_ 135478

See notes to financial statements
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2008
$(_130.451
5,488
360,709
(15,021
17,052
1,183
(1,629
(1,625
11,356
_354.801
$__ 224,350
$__133,670



1.

FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Organization:

The Foresthill Public Utility District was formed and operates under The Public Utility District
Act. The Act confers upon the District the rights and powers to fix rates and charges for
commodities or services furnished, to incur indebtedness and issue bonds or other obtigations
and, under certain circumstances, to levy and collect advalorem property taxes. The District is
exempt from payment of federal and state taxes on income,

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

The accounting policies of the Foresthiil Public Utility District conform to generally accepted
accounting principles applicable to enterprise funds. The District applies all relevant
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements. Proprietary funds apply
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) pronouncements and Accounting Principles
Board (APB) opinions issued on or before November 30, 1989, unless those pronouncements
conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncements, in which case, GASB prevails.

Basis of Accounting

The basis of accounting refers to when revenues and expenses are recognized in the accounts and
reported in the financial statements. Basis of accounting relates to the timing of measurement
made, regardless of the measurement focus applied.

The District’s books and accounts are based upon the Uniform System of Accounts for Public
Utilities as prescribed by the Division of Local Government Fiscal Affairs of the State of
California. The records are maintained and the accompanying financial statements are presented
on the accrual basis of accounting,

Operating revenues and expenses, such as water sales along with water expenses, result from
exchange transactions associated with the principal activity of the District. Exchange
transactions are those in which each party receives and gives up essentially equal values.
Management, administration and depreciation expenses are also considered operating expenses.
Other revenues and expenses not included in the above categories are reported as non-operating
revenues and expenses. Non-operating revenues and expenses, such as grant funding, investment
income and interest expense, result from non-exchange transactions, in which, the District gives
(receives) value without directly receiving (giving) value in exchange.



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:
Fund Accounting

The accounts of the District are organized on the basis of funds and account groups, each of
which is considered a separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for
with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity,
revenues, and expenditures, or expenses, as appropriate, District resources are allocated to and
accounted for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and
means by which spending activities are controlled. The various funds are grouped, in the
financial statements in this report as follows:

Enterprise Fund - The Enterprise Fund is used to account for water operations that are
financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises. The intent of the
District is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of providing goods and services to
the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through user
charges.

Improvement Bond Fund - This fund is to account for financing of public improvements or
services deemed to benefit the properties against which special assessments are levied.

Assessment District No. 2 - This fund is to account for a new financing of public
improvements.
Inventories

Inventories have been valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market.

Depreciation

Capital assets are recorded on the basis of purchase cost. Assets acquired by contributions are
recorded at estimated cost or fair market value at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets that range from five to forty years.



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:

Statement of Cash Flows

All highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased, are
considered to be cash equivalents. The investment with the State Treasurer's Local Agency
Investment Fund (LAIF) is also considered to be the equivalent of cash.

Investments

Investments consist of LAIF (State of California pooled investment fund). Investments are stated
at market value. Such investment is within the State statutes and the District's investment policy.

Compensated Absences
Vested or accumulated vacation leave and comp. time that is expected to be liquidated with

expendable available resources is reported as a current liability. Accumulated sick leave is
vested upon age 60.

Budget and Budgetary Accounting

The Board of Directors annually adopts an operating budget. The operating budgets are prepared
on the accrual basis to match the operating statements.

Total Columns

Total columns on the combined statements are captioned "Memorandum Only" to indicate that
they are presented only to facilitate financial analysis. Data in these columns do not present
financial position or results of operations in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles, nor is such data comparable to a consolidation.

10



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Bond Premium and Issuance Costs
Bond premium is deferred and amortized over the life of the Certificates of Participation using

the effective interest method. Issuance costs are deferred and amortized over the life of the
Certificates using the straight-line method.

3. Cash and Investments:

Cash and investments consist of the following at June 30, 2009:

Unrestricted $ 321,430
Restricted 241.745
Total cash and investments $_563,175

11



3.

FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRIC T
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued
Cash and Investments (continued):
Deposits:

At year-end the carrying amount of the District's deposits was $26,168 and the bank balance was
$61,014. All of the bank balance was covered by Federal depository insurance.

Balance,
June 30,

2009
Checking $ 25,893
Other deposits 25
Cash on hand 250
Total deposits $_26,168

Investments:

California statutes authorize the District to invest in a variety of credit instruments as provided
for in the California Government Code Section 53600, Chapter 4 - Financial Affairs. The
Government Code allows investments in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, agencies, and
instrumentalities, commercial paper rated A-1 by Standard & Poor's or P-1 by Moody's
Commercial Paper Record, bankers' acceptances, repurchase agreements, medium-term corporate
notes, mutual funds and the State Treasurer's Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF). The
investment in LAIF is reported at fair value.

Carrying Market
Amount Value
Balance, June 30, 2009,
Local Agency Investment Fund $_537.007 $..537,007

Pursuant to Government Accounting Standards Board Statement 3, the investment in LATF is not
classified in categories of credit risk. The District's funds in LAIF are invested in a diversified
portfolio (of underlying investments e.g. U.S. Treasury obligations) such that it considers the risk
of material loss to be minimal. The funds held in LAIF can be withdrawn on demand.

12



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

3. Cash and Investments (continued):

Restricted investments:

The District sets aside funds for future plant improvements. At June 30, 2009, the District had
set aside the following in investments for special purposes:

Balance,
June 30,
2009
Capital reserve $ 166,194
Repair & replacement reserve 75,551
$__241.745
4. Capital Assets:
Changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2009 are as follows:
Balance Balance
July 1. 2008 _Additions Deletions ~ June 30, 2009
Land $ 36568 §$ - $ - $ 36,568
Source of supply 2,630,510 - - 2,630,510
Pumping plant 20,962 - - 20,962
Water treatment 1,181,172 - - 1,181,172
Transmission and Distribution 7,834,157 123,929 - 7,958,086
General plant 699,375 50,545 35914 714.006

$12,402,744 $_174474 $__35914 $12.541,304
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

5. Bongd Issue:

Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2009 for the bond issue is as follows:

Balance Balance Current
7/1/2008 Additions Payments 6/30/2009 Portion
Bond issue $_470,000 $__ - $__ 25000 $_445000 $_ 25,000

The District issued bonds dated May 2, 1982 pursuant to the Municipal Improvement Act of
1913 and the Improvement Bond Act of 1915 in the total amount of $817,250. The bonds bear
interest at five percent (5%) payable January 2 and July 2 of each year; such bonds may be called
for redemption prior to maturity upon payment of 105 percent of par plus accrued interest. The
bonds are secured by the unpaid assessments made for the payment of improvements in the

assessment district.

The future annual maturities of long-term borrowings for the bond issue as of June 30, 2009 are

as follows:
Year Principal Interest Total
2010 $ 25000 § 22250 $§ 47250
2011 25,000 21,000 46,000
2012 30,000 19,750 49,750
2013 30,000 18,250 48,250
2014 30,000 16,750 46,750
2015-2019 175,000 59,750 234,750
2020-2022 130,000 13,250 143,250
$_445000 $_171,000 $_616.000
6. Long-term Debt:
Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2009 is as follows:
Balance Balance Current
7/1/2008 Additions Payments 6/30/2009 Portion
2003 Certificates
of Participation $2,795,000 $__- $.100,000 $2.695000 $_100.,000
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

6. Long-term Debt, continued:

On Qctober 1, 2003, the District issued Certificates of Participation — 2003 Series QQ (COP’s)
for $3,195,000 to the CSDA Finance Corporation. Proceeds from these Certificates were used to
purchase the Sugar Pine Dam and Reservoir (including associated water rights) from the United
States Bureau of Reclamation. The Certificates are secured by a lien on the District’s net
revenues. Interest rates range from 1.05% to 3.75% on annual $100,000 principal payments
through 2014. Thereafter, through maturity, interest rates range from 5% to 5 %%. The District
maintains a reserve fund with a Trustee equal to the maximum annual instaliment payable in a
Certificate year. Interest is payable on May 1 and November 1 of each year.

The future annual maturities of long-term borrowings as of June 30, 2009 are as follows:

Year Principal Interest Total

2010 $ 100,000 $ 129,088 $ 229,088
2011 100,000 126,338 226,338
2012 100,000 123,238 223,238
2013 100,000 119,638 219,638
2014 100,000 116,213 216,213
2015-2019 555,000 509,815 1,064,815
2020-2024 715,000 355,815 1,070,815
2025-2029 925.000 150.937 1.075.937

$2,695,000 $1,631,082 $4,326,082
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

7. Retirement Plan:

The District’s policy is to fund retirement benefits with the State of California Public Employees’
Retirement System (CALPERS). The amount of pension contributions by the District to
CALPERS is actuarially determined under a program wherein contributions plus earnings of the
retirement system are to provide the necessary funds to pay retirement benefits when due. The
District relies on the competency of the State in determining the funding method, the adequacy of
funding, and the spreading of actuarial gains and losses which is currently on a four-year basis.

A. Plan Description

Foresthill Public Utility District contributes to the California Public Employees
Retirement System (CALPERS), an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement
system that acts as a common investment and administrative agent for participating
public entities within the State of California. CALPERS issues a publicly available
financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary
information for the Foresthill Public Utility District. The financial report may be
obtained by writing to CALPERS Actuarial Office, P.O. Box 942709, Sacramento, CA
94229-2709.

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting: The financial statements of the plan are prepared using the accrual
basis of accounting. Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the
contributions are due. The District’s contributions are recognized when due and a formal
commitment to provide the contributions has been made. Benefits and refunds are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan.

Method Used to Value Investments: Plan investments are reported at fair value. Short-
term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Securities traded
on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at
current exchange rates. Mortgages are valued on the basis of future principal and interest
payments are discounted at prevailing interest rates for similar instruments. The fair
value of real estate investments is based on independent appraisals. Investments that do
not have an established market are reported at estimated fair value.

Under GASB 27, an employer reports an annual pension cost (APC) equal to the annua! required
contribution (ARC) plus an adjustment for the cumulative difference between the APC and the
employer’s actual plan contributions for the year. The cumulative difference is called the net
pension obligation (NPO). The ARC for the period, July 1, 2009 to June 30, 2010, has been
determined by an actuarial valuation of the plan as of June 30, 2007.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

7. Retirement Plan, continued:

District employees’ contribution is 8.0 percent of their annual salary to the System. The District
pays the employees’ contribution. The District is required to contribute the remaining amounts
necessary 1o fund the benefits for its members, using the actuarial basis recommended by the
PERS Actuaries and Actuarial Consultants and adopted by the Board of Administration. For
year ended June 30, 2009 the District paid total contributions of $105,097, including employees’
portion.

Pooled Report Format

Since the District’s plan has less than 100 active members, it is required to participate in a risk
pool.

A summary of principal assumptions and methods used to determine the annual required
contribution is shown below:

Valuation Date June 30, 2007
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method
Amortization Method Level Percent of Payroll
Average Remaining Period 16 Years as of the Valuation Date
Asset Valuation Method 15 Year Smoothed Market
Actuarial Assumptions
Investment Rate of Return 7.75% (net of administrative expenses)
Projected Salary Increases 3.25% to 14.45% depending on Age, Service,
and type of employment
Inflation 3.00%
Payroll Growth 3.25%
Individual Salary Growth A merit scale varying by duration of

employment coupled with an assumed annual
inflation growth of 3.00% and an annual
production growth of 0.25%.

Initial plan unfunded liabilities are amortized over a closed period equal to the average
amortization period at the plan’s date of entry into the CalPERS Risk Pool. Subsequent plan
amendments are amortized over a closed 20-year period. Gains and losses that occur in the
operation of the risk pool are amortized over a rolling 30 year period. If the plan’s accrued
liability exceeds the actuarial value of plan assets, then the amortization payment on the total
unfunded liability may not be lower than the payment calculated over a 30 year amortization
period. More complete information on assumptions and methods is provided in Appendix A of

Section 2 of the report. Appendix B of Section 2 of the report contains a description of benefits
included in the Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

7. Retirement Plan, continued;

The Schedule of Funding Progress below shows the recent history of the Risk Pool’s actuarial
value of assets, accrued liability, their relationship, and the relationship of the unfunded liability
(UL) to payroll.

Risk Pool’s History of Funded Status and Funding Progress

Unfunded Annual UL As
Valuation Accrued Actuarial Liabilities Funded Covered a% of
Date Liabilities Assets (UL) Ratio Payroll Payroll

June 30, 2005 $499,323,280 $405,480,805 §$ 93,842,475 81.2% $108,618,321 86.4%
June 30,2006 $620,492,183 $501,707,110 $118,785,073 80.9% $126,049,770 94.2%
June 30,2007 $699,663,524 $576,069,687 $123,593,837 82.3% $139,334,562 88.7%

8. Section 457 Plan:
The District adopted a California PERS Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plan. The District

does not contribute to this plan. All contributions and administrative fees are paid by the
employees.

9. Water System Assessment District No. 2:

Long-term debt activities for the year ended June 30, 2009 for Assessment District No. 2 are as
follows:

Balance Balance Current

7/1/2008 Additions  Payments _6/30/2009 Portion

Loan 91-02 $1,210,200 £ - $ 19,800 $1,190,400 §$ 20,800
Loan 91-03 1,825,100 - 28,700 1,796,400 30,000
$3,035,300 - $__48.500 $2,986,800 $_ 50,800
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

9. Water System Assessment District No. 2 (continued);

On February 28, 1996 the District adopted a resolution authorizing the issuance of improvement
bonds pursuant to the Improvement Bond Act of 1915. The proceeds of such bonds was used to
finance the construction of public improvements under the Municipal Improvement Actof 1913,

The improvements consisted of two phases - Phase 1 Pipeline Relocation Project and Phase 2
Water System Rehabilitation Project.

The Improvement Bonds were financed by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Rural
Development.

On July 23, 1997 the District issued an improvement bond (Series 1997) for $1,364,150 to
United States of America, Rural Development, United States Department of Agriculture. The
bond bears interest at 4.875% per annum, payable on March 2 and September 2.

On June 2, 1998 the District issued an improvement bond (Series 1998) for $2,031,318 to United
States of America, Rural Development, United States Department of Agriculture. The bond
bears interest at 4.75% per annum, payable on March 2 and September 2.

The future annual maturities of long-term borrowings for Assessment District No. 2 as of June
30, 2009 are as follows:

Year Principal Interest Total

2010 $ 50,800 $ 142,142 $ 192942
2011 53,300 139,643 192,943
2012 55,900 137,021 192,921
2013 58,500 134,275 192,775
2014 61,300 131,399 192,699
2015-2019 353,700 608,761 962,461
2020-2024 447,100 513,062 960,162
2025-2029 565,000 392,105 957,105
2030-2034 714,600 239,152 053,752
2035-2038 626,600 56,287 682,887

$2,986,800 $2,493.847 $5,480,647
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

10. Risk of Loss:

Foresthill Public Utility District is exposed to various risks of loss related to theft of, damage to,
and destruction of assets; and injuries to employees. During the 2009 fiscal year, the District
purchased certain commercial insurance coverages to provide for these risks.

11. Net Assets:
Net assets at June 30, 2009 is analyzed as follows:

Investment in capital assets,

net of related debt $5,090,001
Restricted:
Capital improvement reserve $ 166,194
Sugar Pine Reserve 231.538
397,732
Unrestricted:
Designated by the Board:
Repair and replacement reserve 75,551
Undesignated 596,208
671,759
Total net assets 56,159,492
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

12. Capital Leases:
The District entered into capital lease agreements to finance the purchase of a District vehicle.
Assets under capital leases are recorded at the lower of the present value of the minimum lease
payments or the fair value of the asset. The assets are depreciated over their estimated
productive lives. Depreciation of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation expense,

The capitalized value of the trucks subject to the capital leases is $100,427.

Minimum future lease payments under capital Jeases as of June 30, 2009 are:

2010 $ 29,465
2011 17,886
2012 7.453

Total payments 54,804
Less, amount representing interest

2,435

Present value of net minimum lease payments - $__ 52,369

13. Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statements Issued, Not Yet Effective:

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has issued several pronouncements
prior to June 30, 2009, that have effective dates that may impact future financial presentations.

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 45:

In June 2004, the GASB issued Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by
Employers for Post-employment Benefits Other Than Pensions. This Statement establishes
standards for the measurement, recognition, and display of OPEB expense/expenditures and
related liabilities (assets), note disclosures, and, if applicable, required supplementary
information (RSI) in the financial reports of state and local government employers. This
statement is not effective for this District until the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010. This
statement is expected to have a significant impact on the presentation of the District’s financial
statements in future years.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES

IN NET ASSETS - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
for the year ended June 30, 2009

Operating revenues:
Sales - residential
- business
- industrial
Other

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Source of supply
Pumping
Water treatment
Transmission and distribution
Customer accounts
Administrative and general
Depreciation

Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Non-operating income and (expense):
Interest income
Property taxes
Interest expense
Assistance - Assessment District #2
Other
Income before contributions

Capital contributions

Change in net assets

Budget

$ 960,795
245,622
360
235.200

1,441,977

81,000
8,900
166,500
231,150
15,550
679,475
93319

1,275,854
166,083
950

63,280
( 230,313)

(_166.,083)
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Actual

$ 959,355
135,619
325
327.114

1,422,413

73,077
10,120
174,397
248,035
20,884
797,755
371,184

1.695.452

(_273,039)

40,744
78,625
( 140,966)
( 100,001)
4,510
(_117.088)

( 390,127)

$( 390.127)

Favorable
(Unfavorable)
Variance

$( 1440
( 110,003)
( 35)

91,914

(_19.564)

7,923
( 1,220)
(7,897
( 16,885)
(5334
( 118,280)
( 277.865)

(419,558)
(_439.122)

39,794
15,345
89,347
( 100,001)

4510

48.995

( 390,127)

$( 390,127)



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT

25

OPERATING EXPENSES
for the year ended June 30, 2009
Source of Supply:
Restoration payments $ 24,650
Supervision and labor 11,140
Maintenance 1,005
Vehicle expense 397
Power 3,612
Inspection and water rights 32,273
Pumping:
Power 7,862
Vehicle expense 220
Maintenance 24
Propane 1,600
Supervision and labor 414
Water treatment:
Supervision and labor 109,407
Maintenance 16,829
Chemical and analysis 35,665
Vehicle expense 3,122
Power 6,832
Propane 2,542
Transmission and Distribution:
Supervision and labor 180,898
Maintenance 55,651
Vehicle expense 11,245
Propane 241
Customer Accounts:
Supervision and labor 19,220
Maintenance 12
Vehicle expense 1,652

$__73.077

10,120

174,397

248.035

20,884



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
OPERATING EXPENSES, continued
for the year ended June 30, 2009

Administrative and General:

Salaries

Legal services

Engineering services
Collection charges
Accounting

Vehicle Expense

Liability insurance

Office expense

Employee benefits and payroll taxes
Seminars and travel
Utilities

Consulting services
Maintenance

Dues and subscriptions
Computer services
Uniforms

Public information program
Educational expense
Election expense

Board remuneration

Depreciation

Total operating expenses

$ 234,362
45,287
40,926

4,638
7,700
1,218
34,716
45,210
324,336
6,055
3,318
1,000
2,171
10,124
11,447
4,716
5,372
2,173
5,036
7.950
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ROBERT
W

JOHNSON

An Accountancy Corporation
Certified Public Accountant 6234 BIRDCAGE STREET  CITRUS HEIGHTS, CA 95610-5949 + (916) 723-2555

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors
Foresthill Public Utility District
Foresthill, California

We have aundited the financial statements of Foresthill Public Utility District as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2009, and have issued our report thereon dated September 23, 2009. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Foresthill Public Utility District’s internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of
expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control over financial reporting.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and
corrected on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described
in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal
control over financial reporting that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we
consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, as described in the accompanying
schedule of findings and responses, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control over
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To the Board of Directors
Foresthill Public Utility District
Foresthill, California

financial reporting that we consider to be significant deficiencies in internal control over financial
reporting. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those
charged with governance.

We consider the deficiency described in the accompanying schedule of findings and responses
(2009-1) to be a significant deficiency in internal control over financial reporting.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Foresthill Public Utility District’s
financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no

instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government
Auditing Standards.

We noted certain matters that we reported to management of the District, in a separate letter dated
September 23, 2009,

The District’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying
schedule of findings and responses. We did not audit the District’s response, and, accordingly, we
€XPpress no opinion on it.

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors of Foresthill
Public Utility District and its management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by
anyone other than these specified parties.

Qb 0 Qs (e Aamrerg Crpmctin

Citrus Heights, California
September 23, 2009
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
Schedule of Findings and Responses
As of June 30, 2009

Finding 2009-1:
Controls Over Financial Reporting Requirement: Significant Deficiency
Reliance upon Auditor for Financial Statement Preparation and Footnote Disclosures:

Condition: Management relies upon the auditor to determine the proper presentation of
financial statements and related footnote disclosures.

Criteria: Statement of Auditing Standards No. 112, states that the auditor may not be of the
District’s internal control system; specifically someone from the District must be
knowledgeable enough in generally accepted accounting principles to know if a misstatement
has occurred in the financial statements including the notes to the financial statements.

Cause:  The District does not have either an employee experienced in generally accepted
accounting principles or an accounting firm engaged to prepare financial statements in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Recommendation; The District should consider the cost benefit of hiring an accountant
familiar with generally accepted accounting principles or hiring an independent CPA firm to
compile financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Management Response: Management holds the opinion that there may be a benefit to hiring
an accountant to prepare financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles prior to the annual audit of the financial statements; however, budget/fiscal
constraints may preclude implementation.
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ROBERT
W.
JOHNSON

An Accountancy Corporation
Certified Public Accountant 6234 BIRDCAGE STREET * CITRUS HEIGHTS, CA 95610-5949 « (916) 723-2555

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Foresthill Public Utility District
Foresthill, Californja

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Foresthill Public Utility District as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2010, as listed in the table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility

of the District’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Anaudit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Foresthill Public Utility District as of June 30, 2010 and the results of its operations and its cash

flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 20, 2010,
on our consideration of the District’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements and other matters. The
purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.



The Management’s Discussion and Analysis is not a required part of the financial statements but is
supplemental information required by the Government Auditing Standards Board. Management has elected to
omit the Management’s Discussion and Analysis.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that comprise the
District’s basic financial statements. The supplemental information listed in the table of contents is presented
for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements of Foresthill
Public Utility District. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of
the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Citrus Heights, California
October 20, 2010



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2)
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Inventory - materials and supplies

Total current assets

Non-current assets:
Capital assets, at cost (Notes 3 and 4)
Less, accumulated depreciation

Construction in progress

Debt issuance costs, net

Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Total non-current assets

Total assets

June 30, 2010
(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2009)

ASSETS

2010

$ 209,782
116,927

18.866

345,575

12,541,304
3.017.773
7,523,531

7,523,531

144,679

992,990
8.261.200

$_8.606,775

See notes to financial statements

3

2009
$ 321,430
155,728
33,103
14.377

_ 524,638

12,541,304
4,703,934
7,837,370

7.837.370

— 152,500

_ 504781

8.494.651

$_9,019,289



LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 4)
Current portion of capital lease (Note 5)
Accounts payable
Compensated absences payable

Other post-employment benefits payable (Note 8)

Customer deposits
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term debt, net of current portion (Note 4)
Add, bond premium, net of amortization
Capital lease (Note 5)
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets (Note 10):
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Restricted
Unrestricted

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

2010

$ 100,000
17,191
33,845
48,046
75,888
29,938

304.908

2,495,000

21.144

2,516,144

1376

2,523.520
2,828,428
4,911,340

416,850

450,157

5,778,347

$_8,606,775

2009

§ 100,000
27,802
18,380
43,008

27,563
216,753
2,595,000
23,477
2,618,477
24.567
2,643,044
2,859,797
5,090,001
397,732
671.759

6.159.492

$_9.019,289



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
for the year ended June 30, 2010

(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2009)

Operating revenues:

Sales - residential

- business

- industrial
Service connections
Will serve
Sugar Pine surcharge
Other

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:

Source of supply

Pumping

Water treatment
Transmission and distribution
Customer accounts
Administrative and general
Depreciation

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Non-operating income and (expense):

Interest income

Property taxes

Interest expense

Assistance - Assessment District #2
Gain on sale/(loss on disposal)

Loss before contributions

Capital contributions

Changes in net assets (carried forward)

2010

$ 930,558
121,935
334

10,603
14,421
180,362
160,233

1.418.446

71,311
8,796
163,680
247,409
8,487
829,439
313.839

1.642.961

224,515

4229

73,809
( 134,668)
( 100,000)

156,630
( 381,145)

( 381,145)

See notes to financial statements

4

2009

$ 959,355
135,619
325

6,205
24,035
176,455
120,419

1.422.413

73,077
10,120
174,397
248,035
20,884
791,755
371,184

1,695,452

(273,039)

40,744

78,625
( 140,966)
( 100,001)

4,510

( 117,088}

( 390,127)

( 390,127)



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS, continued
for the year ended June 30, 2010
(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2009)

2010 2009
Change in net assets (brought forward) $( 381,145) $( 390,127)
Total net assets:
Beginning 6.159.492 6,549,619
Ending $5,778,347 $6,159,492

See notes to financial statements
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended June 30, 2010
(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2009

2010
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers $1,457,247
Payments to suppliers ( 652,453)
Payments to employees ( 543.801)
Net cash provided by operating activities 260,993
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Receipts from property taxes and
other nonoperating income 73.809
Cash flows from capital and related financing
activities:
Capital contributions -
Purchase of capital assets -
Interest paid on capital debt ( 134,668)
Assistance to Assessment Dist. No. 2 ( 100,000)
Proceeds from capital leases -
Principal payments on long-term debt (127.802)
( 362.470)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest income

4,229

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ( 23,439)

Cash and cash equivalents:

Beginning of year 826.211
End of year $_802,772

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the statement of net assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 209,782
Restricted assets - cash and cash equivalents 592.990
Total cash and cash equivalents $_802,772

See notes to financial statements
6

2009

$1,400,756
( 762,182)
555.441)

83.133

83,135

( 174,475)
( 140,966)
( 100,001)

50,545

(_144,844)
(_509.741)

40.744

—_—1—

( 302,729)

1.128.940

$_826.211

$ 321,430
504,781

$_826,211



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS, continued
for the year ended June 30, 2010

(with comparative totals for fiscal year ended June 30, 2009)

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to
net cash provided by operating activities:
Operating income (loss)

Amortization on Certificates of Participation costs, net

Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation expense

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables
Prepaid expense
Inventory
OPEB payable
Accounts payable
Customer deposits
Compensated absences

Net cash provided by operating activities

Supplementary information:
Cash paid for interest

2010 _

$( 224,515

5,488

313,839

38,801
33,103

( 4489)
75,888
15,465
2,375

_ 5.038

485,508

$__260,993

$__ 129,180

See notes to financial statements

7

_ 2009

$(_273.039)

5,488

371,184

( 21,657
( 33,103)
2,555

13,685

1,025
_ 16,995
_356.172

$__83,133

$__135478



1.

FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

The basic financial statements of the Foresthill Public Utility District (the “District), have been
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to
government units. The Govemmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted
standard setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles. As allowed by the GASB, the District has elected to apply to its proprietary activities
Financial Accounting Standards Board Statements and Interpretations, Accounting Principles
Board Opinions, and Accounting Research Bulletins of the Committee of Accounting Procedures
issued after November 30, 1989 where not in conflict with GASB pronouncements. The more
significant of the District’s accounting policies are described below.

Reporting Entity

The Foresthill Public Utility District was formed and operates under The Public Utility District
Act. The Act confers upon the District the rights and powers to fix rates and charges for
commodities or services furnished, to incur indebtedness and issue bonds or other obligations
and, under certain circumstances, to levy and collect advalorem property taxes. The District is
governed by a five member Board of Directors elected by the voters within the District.

The District has created the Foresthill Public Utilities District Assessment District No. 1 and the
Foresthill Public Utilities District Assessment District No. 2 to provide assistance to the District
in the issuance of debt. The Assessment Districts make annual assessments against property
owners who benefit from the improvements,

The Assessment Districts are legally separate from the District. The financial activities of the
Assessment Districts have not been aggregated and merged with those of the District in the
accompanying financial statements, as they do not meet the criteria for inclusion as set forth in
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14 as amended by GASB
Statement No. 39.

The long term debt activities of the Assessment Districts is disclosed in supplemental
information.



1.

FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. continued:

Basis of Presentation — Fund Accounting

The District’s resources are allocated to and accounted for in these basic financial statements as
an enterprise fund type of the proprietary fund group. The enterprise fund is used to account for
operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises,
where the intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, including depreciation) of
providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered
primarily through user charges, or where the governing body has decided that periodic
determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is appropriate for capital
maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability, or other policies. Net assets for
the enterprise fund represents the amount available for future operations.

Basis of Accounting

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its
measurement focus. The enterprise fund type is accounted for on a flow of economic resources
measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with
the operation of this fund are included on the Statement of Net Assets. Net assets are segregated
into amounts invested in capital assets, net of related debt, amounts restricted and amounts
unrestricted. Enterprise fund type operating statements present increases (i.e., revenues) and
decreases (i.e., expenses) in net total assets,

The District uses the accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded
when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred. Grant revenue is
recognized when program expenditures are incurred in accordance with program guidelines.
When such funds are received they are recorded as deferred revenues until earned. Earned but
unbilled water services are accrued as revenue. Water lines are constructed by private developers
and then dedicated to the District, which is then responsible for their future maintenance. These
lines are recorded as capital contributions when they pass inspection by the District and the
estimated costs are capitalized as part of the distribution system.

Operating revenues and expenses consist of those revenues and expenses that result from the
ongoing principal operations of the District. Operating revenues consist primarily of charges for
water service. Non-operating revenues and expenses consist of those revenues and expenses that
are related to financing and investing types of activities and result from nonexchange transactions
or ancillary activities.



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

1. Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:

Property Taxes

The District receives property taxes from Placer County. Property taxes receivable are recorded
in the fiscal year for which the tax is levied based on the assessed value as of September 1 of the
preceding fiscal year. They become a lien on the first day of the year they are levied. Secured
property tax is levied on September 1 and due in two installments, on November 1 and March 1.
They become delinquent on December 10 and April 10, respectively. Unsecured property taxes
are due on July 1, and become delinquent on August 31. The District elected to receive the
property taxes from the County under the Teeter Bill Program. Under this Program, the District
receives 100% of the levied property taxes in periodic payments, with the County assuming
responsibility for delinquencies.

Inventories

Inventories have been valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. Inventories
consist of materials and supplies.

Depreciation

Capital assets are recorded at historical cost. Assets acquired by contribution are recorded at
estimated fair value on the date received.

Depreciation is calculated by the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the
respective assets that range from five to forty years.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the District considers all highly liquid debt
investments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents, including
restricted assets, along with all pooled deposits and investments in the Local Agency Investment
Fund, which are available upon demand.

10



1.

FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:

Investments

Investments, including LAIF, are stated at fair value, which represents the quoted or stated
market value. Investments that are not traded on a market, such as investments in external pools,
are valued based on stated fair value as represented by the external pool. Investments are within
the State statutes and the District’s investment policy.

Compensated Absences

Vested or accumulated vacation leave and comp. time that is expected to be liquidated with

expendable available resources is reported as a current liability. Accumulated sick leave is
vested upon age sixty.

Budget and Budgetary Accounting

The Board of Directors annually adopts an operating budget. The operating budgets are prepared
on the accrual basis to match the operating statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Bond Premium and Issuance Costs
Bond premium is deferred and amortized over the life of the Certificates of Participation using

the effective interest method. Issuance costs are deferred and amortized over the life of the
Certificates using the straight-line method.

11



1.

FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

Reporting Entity and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued:

Implementation of New Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statements

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 45

In June 2004, the GASB issued Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by
Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (GASB Statement No. 45). This
Statement established standards for the measurement, recognition, and display of Other Post
Employment Benefits (OPEB) expense/expenditures and related liabilities (assets), note
disclosures, and, if applicable, required supplementary information (RSI) in the financial reports
of state and local government employers. The District adopted GASB Statement No. 45 in fiscal
year ended June 30, 2010.

Reclassifications

Bond fund transactions have been reclassified as supplemental data in 2010.

Cash and Investments:

Cash and investments at June 30, 2010 are classified in the accompanying financial statements as
follows:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 209,782
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 592,990
Total cash and investments $_802.772

12



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

2. Cash and Investments, continued:

Cash and investments at fair value at June 30, 2010 consist of the following:

Cash on hand $ 250
Deposits with financial institutions 10.761
Total cash and deposits 11.011
Investments in Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 529,950
Restricted with Fiscal Agent 261.811
Total investments 791,761
Total cash and investments $.802.772
Investments:

California statutes authorize the District to invest in a variety of credit instruments as provided
for in the California Government Code Section 53600, Chapter 4 - Financial Affairs. The
Government Code allows investments in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, agencies, and
instrumentalities, commercial paper rated A-1 by Standard & Poor's or P-1 by Moody's
Commercial Paper Record, bankers' acceptances, repurchase agreements, medium-term corporate
notes, mutual funds and the State Treasurer's Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF).

Local Agency Investment Fund:

The District maintains an investment in the State of California Local Agency Investment Fund
(LAIF), managed by the State Treasurer. This fund is not registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission as an investment company, but is required to invest according to
California Government Code. Participants in the pool include voluntary and involuntary
participants, such as special districts and school districts for which there are legal provisions
regarding their investments. The Local Investment Advisory Board (Board) has oversight
responsibility for LAIF. The Board consists of five members as designated by State Statute.

13



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

2. Cash and Investments, continued:

Concentration of Credit Risk:

The investment policy of the District limits the amount that can be invested in any one issuer to
the lesser of the amount stipulated by the California Government Code or 50% of total
investments, with the exception of U.S. Treasury obligations, U.S. Agency Securities and LATF.

As of June 30, 2010, the District had no individual investment that exceeded 5% of its total
mvestments.

Custodial Credit Risk:

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository
financial institution, the District will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to
recover collateral securities that are in possession of an outside party. For investments and
deposits held with fiscal agents, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of
the counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer) to a transaction, the District will not be able to recover the
value of its investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of another party. The
California Government Code and the District’s investment policy do not contain legal or policy
requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits, other than the
following provision for deposits: The California Government Code requires that a financial
institution secure deposits made by state or local governmental units by pledging securities in an
undivided collateral pool held by a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the
governmental unit). The market value of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal
at least 110% of the total amount deposited by the public agencies. California law also allows
financial institutions to secure public agency deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes
having a value of 150% of the secured public deposits.

At June 30, 2010, the carrying amount of the District’s deposits was $11,011 and the balance in
financial institutions was $113,886. All of the balance in financial institutions was covered by
federal depository insurance.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

2. Cash and Investments. continued:

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents:

Restricted cash and cash equivalents are amounts required for debt service payments by the 2003
Certificates of Participation and funds set aside, at board discretion, for future plant
improvements. At June 30, 2010, the District had set aside the following for special purposes:

Balance,
June 30,
_ 2010
Capital reserve (Board designated) $
155,038
Repair & replacement reserve (Board designated) 176,141
2003 Certificates of Participation Reserve Fund 261,811
$__ 592990
3. Capital Assets:
Changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2010 are as follows:
Balance Balance

July 1, 2009 Additions Deletions  June 30, 2010

Land $ 36,568 § - $ - $ 36,568
Source of supply 2,630,510 - - 2,630,510
Pumping plant 20,962 . - 20,962
Water treatment 1,181,172 - - 1,181,172
Transmission and Distribution 7,958,086 - - 7,958,086
General plant 714,006 - - 714.006

$12541304 § - $ - $12,541,304
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

4, Long-term Debt;:

Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2010 is as follows:

2003 Certificates
of Participation

Balance Current
Additions Payments  6/30/2010 Portion
$2.,695.000 - $_100,000 $2,595.000 $_ 100,000

On October 1, 2003, the District issued Certificates of Participation - 2003 Series QQ (COP’s)
for $3,195,000 to the CSDA Finance Corporation. Proceeds from these Certificates were used to
purchase the Sugar Pine Dam and Reservoir (including associated water rights) from the United
States Bureau of Reclamation. The Certificates are secured by a lien on the District’s net
revenues. Interest rates range from 1.05% to 3.75% on annual $100,000 principal payments
through 2014. Thereafter, through maturity, interest rates range from 5% to 5 %%. The District
maintains a reserve fund with a Trustee equal to the maximum annual installment payable in a
Certificate year. Interest is payable on May 1 and November 1 of each year.

The future annual maturities of long-term borrowings as of June 30, 2010 are as follows:

Year

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016-2020
2021-2025
2026-2029

16

Principal Interest Total

$ 100,000 §$ 126,338 $§ 226338
100,000 123,238 223,238
100,000 119,638 219,638
100,000 116,213 216,213
100,000 112,463 212,463
585,000 482,065 1,067,065
750,000 319,665 1,069,665
760.000 102,374 862,374

$2,595000 $1,501,994  $4,096,994



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

5. Capital Leases:
The District entered into capital lease agreements to finance the purchase of a District vehicle.
Assets under capital leases are recorded at the lower of the present value of the minimum lease
payments or the fair value of the asset. The assets are depreciated over their estimated
productive lives. Depreciation of assets under capital leases is included in depreciation expense,

The capitalized value of the trucks subject to the capital leases is $100,427.

Minimum future lease payments under capital leases as of June 30, 2010 are:

2011 $ 17,886
2012 7453
Total payments 25,339
Less, amount representing interest _ 172
Present value of net minimum lease payments $_24,567

6. Retirement Plan:

The District’s policy is to fund retirement benefits with the State of California Public Employees’
Retirement System (CALPERS). The amount of pension contributions by the District to
CALPERS is actuarially determined under a program wherein contributions plus earnings of the
retirement system are to provide the necessary funds to pay retirement benefits when due. The
District relies on the competency of the State in determining the funding method, the adequacy of
funding, and the spreading of actuarial gains and losses which is currently on a four-year basis.

A. Plan Description

Foresthill Public Utility District contributes to the California Public Employees
Retirement System (CALPERS), an agent multiple-employer public employee retirement
system that acts as a common investment and administrative agent for participating
public entities within the State of California. CALPERS issues a publicly available
financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary
information for the Foresthill Public Utility District. The financial report may be

obtained by writing to CALPERS Actuarial Office, P.O. Box 942709, Sacramento, CA
94229-2709.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

6. Retirement Plan, continued:

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting: The financial statements of the plan are prepared using the accrual
basis of accounting. Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the
contributions are due. The District’s contributions are recognized when due and a formal
commitment to provide the contributions has been made. Benefits and refunds are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan.

Method Used to Value Investments: Plan investments are reported at fair value. Short-
term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Securities traded
on a national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at
current exchange rates. Mortgages are valued on the basis of future principal and interest
payments are discounted at prevailing interest rates for similar instruments. The fair
value of real estate investments is based on independent appraisals. Investments that do
not have an established market are reported at estimated fair value.

Under GASB 27, an employer reports an annual pension cost (APC) equal to the annual required
contribution (ARC) plus an adjustment for the cumulative difference between the APC and the
employer’s actual plan contributions for the year. The cumulative difference is called the net
pension obligation (NPO). The ARC for the period, July 1, 2009 to June 30, 2010, has been
determined by an actuarial valuation of the plan as of June 30, 2007.

District employees’ contribution is 8.0 percent of their annual salary to the System. The District
pays the employees’ contribution. The District is required to contribute the remaining amounts
necessary to fund the benefits for its members, using the actuarial basis recommended by the
PERS Actuaries and Actuarial Consultants and adopted by the Board of Administration. For
year ended June 30, 2009 the District paid total contributions of $105,097, including employees’
portion.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

6. Retirement Plan, continued:

Pooled Report Format

Since the District’s plan has less than 100 active members, it is required to participate in a risk

pool.

A summary of principal assumptions and methods used to determine the annual required

contribution is shown below:

Valuation Date

Actuarial Cost Method

Amortization Method

Average Remaining Period

Asset Valuation Method

Actuarial Assumptions
Investment Rate of Return
Projected Salary Increases

Inflation
Payroll Growth
Individual Salary Growth

June 30, 2007

Entry Age Actuarial Cost Method
Level Percent of Payroll

16 Years as of the Valuation Date
15 Year Smoothed Market

7.75% (net of administrative expenses)
3.25% to 14.45% depending on Age, Service,
and type of employment

3.00%

3.25%

A merit scale varying by duration of
employment coupled with an assumed annual
inflation growth of 3.00% and an annual
production growth of 0.25%.

Initial plan unfunded liabilities are amortized over a closed period equal to the average
amortization period at the plan’s date of entry into the CalPERS Risk Pool. Subsequent plan
amendments are amortized over a closed 20-year period. Gains and losses that occur in the
operation of the tisk pool are amortized over a rolling 30 year period, If the plan’s accrued
liability exceeds the actuarial value of plan assets, then the amortization payment on the total
unfunded liability may not be lower than the payment calculated over a 30 year amortization
period. More complete information on assumptions and methods is provided in Appendix A of
Section 2 of the report. Appendix B of Section 2 of the report contains a description of benefits
included in the Risk Pool Actuarial Valuation.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

6. Retirement Plan, continued:

The Schedule of Funding Progress below shows the recent history of the Risk Pool’s actuarial
value of assets, accrued liability, their relationship, and the relationship of the unfunded liability
(UL) to payroll.

Risk Pool’s History of Funded Status and Funding Progress

Unfunded Annual UL As
Valuation Accrued Actuarial Liabilities Funded Covered a% of
Date Liabilities Assets (UL) Ratio Pavyroll Payroll

June 30,2005 §$499,323,280 $405,480,805 § 93,842,475 81.2% $108,618,321 86.4%
June 30,2006 $620,492,183 $501,707,110 $118,785,073 80.9% $126,049,770 94.2%
June 30,2007 $699,663,524 $576,069,687 $123,593,837 82.3% $139,334,562 88.7%

7. Section 457 Plan:
The District adopted a California PERS Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plan. The District

does not contribute to this plan. All contributions and administrative fees are paid by the
employees.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

8. Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB):

Plan Description: The District offers medical, dental or other health benefits to eligible retirees
and their eligible dependents. The contribution requirements of the plan members and the
District are established and may be amended by the District.

Under the current health plan, the District pays for coverage of the retiree and their eligible
dependents. To be eligible, employee must retire with the District at age 60 or older or must be
permanently disabled. At June 30, 2010, the District had five retirees that received benefits at a
cost of approximately $28,323.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation: The annual required contribution (ARC) is an
amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 45 —
Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other than
Pension. The District’s ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is
projected to cover the normal cost each year and amortize the unfunded actuarial liability over a
period of 30 years. The following table shows the components of the District’s annual OPEB
cost for the year, the amount actually contributed to the plan, and changes in the District’s net
OPEB obligation to the Retiree Healthcare Plan:

Annual OPEB Cost and Net GPEB Obligation

Annual required contribution $ 75,888
Interest on net OPEB obligation -
Adjustment of annual required contribution -

Annual OPEB cost 75,888
Contributions made -
Change in net OPEB obligation 75,888
Net OPEB obligation beginning of year -
Net OPEB obligation end of year $_75.888
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

8. Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB), continued:

The District’s Annual OPEB Cost, the percentage of Annual OPEB Cost contributed to the Plan

(as described in the funding policy above), and the Net OPEB Obligation for June 30, 2010 is as
follows:

Percentage of
Date of Annual Actual Employer ~ Annual OPEB Net OPEB
Valuation OPEB Cost Contribution Cost Contributed  Obligation

1-1-08 $ 75,888 $ - 0.00% $ 75,888

In future years, three year trend information will be presented. June 30, 2010 was the first year
of implementation of GASB Statement 45, and the District elected to implement prospectively;
therefore prior year comparative data is not available.

Funded Status and Funding Prosress

The funded status of the plan, based on an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2008 the plan’s
most recent actuarial valuation date, was as follows:

Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) $613,762
Actuarial value of plan assets -
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) $613,762
Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) 0.00%
Covered payroll $434,784
UAAL as percentage of covered payroll 141.16%
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

8. Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB), continued:

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts
determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the
employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations
and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, presented as
required supplementary information following the notes to the financial statements, presents
multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or
decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the
plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits
provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs
between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions
used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial
accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of
calculations.

In the January 1, 2008 actuarial valuation, the entry age normal cost method was used. The
actuarial assumptions included a 5% investment rate of return, an assumed inflation rate, and an
increase in covered payroll at the rate of 3.25% per year. Medical premiums have been assumed
to rise at a decreasing rate (from 10% in 2008 to 5.5% in 2016) and dental premiums by 3%.

The OPEB plan’s unfunded actuarial liability is being amortized by level percent of payroll
contributions over 30 years. The remaining amortization period at June 30, 2010 was 30 years.

9. Risk of Loss;

Foresthill Public Utility District is exposed to various risks of loss related to theft of, damage to,
and destruction of assets; and injuries to employees. During the 2010 fiscal year, the District
purchased certain commercial insurance coverages to provide for these risks.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

10. Net Assets:
Net assets at June 30, 2010 is analyzed as follows:

Investment in capital assets,

net of related debt $4,911,340
Restricted:
Capital improvement reserve $ 155,038
Sugar Pine Reserve 261,812
416,850
Unrestricted:
Designated by the Board:
Repair and replacement reserve 176,141
Undesignated 274,016
_ 450,157
Total net assets $5,778.347

11. Subsequent Events:

Management has evaluated subsequent events through October 20, 2010, the date these
June 30, 2010 financial statements were available to be issued.

24



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, continued

12. Proposition 1A Borrowing by the State of California:

Under the provisions of Proposition 1A and as part of the 2009-10 budget package passed by the
California state legislature on July 28, 2009, the State of California borrowed 8% of the amount
of property tax revenue, including those property taxes associated with the in-lieu motor vehicle
license fee, the triple flip in lieu sales tax, and supplemental property tax, apportioned to cities,
counties and special districts (excluding redevelopment agencies). The state is required to repay
this borrowing plus interest by June 30, 2013. After repayment of this initial borrowing, the
California legislature may consider only one additional borrowing within a ten-year period. The
amount of this borrowing pertaining to the District was $3,204.

This borrowing by the State of California was recognized as a receivable in the
accompanying financial statements.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES

IN NET ASSETS — BUDGET AND ACTUAL
for the year ended June 30, 2010

Operating revenues:
Sales - residential
- business
- industrial
Other

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Source of supply
Pumping
Water treatment
Transmission and distribution
Customer accounts
Administrative and general
Depreciation

Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss}
Non-operating income and (expense):
Interest income
Property taxes
Interest expense
Assistance - Assessment District #2
Other
Income before contributions

Capital contributions

Change in net assets

Budget

$ 965,000
184,000
325
228,950

1,378,275

72,700
9,350
169,450
218,400
15,700
738,904

4,543

1.229.047

149,228

750
76,360
( 226,338)

( 149,228)

Actual

$ 930,558

121,935
334
365,619

1.418.446

71,311
8,796
163,680
247,409
3,487
829,439
313,839

1.642.961

( 224,515)

4,229
73,809

( 134,668)
( 100,000)

(_156,630)
( 381,145)

$( 381,145)

Favorable
(Unfavorable)
Variance

$( 34,442)

( 62,065)
9
136,669

40,171

1,389
554
5,770
( 29,009)
7,213
( 90,535)
(309.296)

((413.914)
(_373.743)

3,479

( 2,551)
91,670

( 100,000)

( 7.402)
( 381,145)

$( 381,145)



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
OPERATING EXPENSES
for the year ended June 30, 2010

29

Source of Supply:
Restoration payments $ 18,721
Supervision and labor 13,996
Maintenance 1,035
Vehicle expense 867
Power 2,989
Inspection and water rights 33,703
Pumping;:
Power 7,460
Vehicle expense 439
Maintenance 62
Propane 230
Supervision and labor 605
Water treatment:
Supervision and labor 102,646
Maintenance 12,178
Chemical and analysis 32,748
Vehicle expense 3,308
Power 10,031
Propane 2,769
Transmission and Distribution:
Supervision and labor 211,091
Maintenance 27,121
Vehicle expense 8,496
Propane 701
Customer Accounts:
Supervision and labor 6,665
Maintenance 115
Vehicle expense 1.707

$_ 71311

8,796

_163.680

247,409

_ 8487



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
OPERATING EXPENSES, continued

for the year ended June 30, 2010

Administrative and General:
Salaries
Legal services
Engineering services
Collection charges
Accounting
Vehicle Expense
Liability insurance
Office expense
Employee benefits and payroll taxes
Seminars and travel
Utilities
Consulting services
Maintenance
Dues and subscriptions
Computer services
Uniforms
Public information program
Educational expense
Election expense
Board remuneration

Depreciation

Total operating expenses

30

§ 215,
67,
29,

621
521
903

1,083

8,

33,

160
789
128

394,089

5,

875

3,796

13
11,
12,

3,

2,

33

150

529
554
868
761
710
503

33,399

¥_829,439
313.839

$1.642,961



FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS -
Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)
For the year ended June 30, 2010

The table below shows an analysis of the actuarial value of assets as a percentage of the actuarial

accrued liability and the unfunded actuarial accrued Hability as a percentage of the annual
covered payroll as of June 30:

(4)
Unfunded (6)
(N @) Actuarial UAAL asa
Actuarial  Actuarial Accrued (5) Percentage
Actuarial Value Accrued 3 Liability Annual  of Covered
Valuation  of Plan Liability Funded (UAAL) Covered Payroll
Date Assets (AAL) Ratio (2)-(1) Payroll (4)/(5)
1/1/08 $ - $ - 0.00%  $613,762  $434,784 141.16%

No trend information is reported because the year ended June 30, 2010 is the first year the
District implemented GASB 45,
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
Foresthill Public Utility District Assessment District No. 1
Long Term Debt
for the year ended June 30, 2010

Long-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2010 for the bond issue is as follows:

Balance Balance Current
7/1/2009  Additions Payments 6/30/2010 Portion

Bond issue $445000 §_ - $445,000 $__ - §__-

The District issued bonds dated May 2, 1982 pursuant to the Municipal Improvement Act of 1913
and the Improvement Bond Act of 1915 in the total amount of $817,250. The bonds bear interest at
five percent (5%) payable January 2 and July 2 of each year; such bonds may be called for
redemption prior to maturity upon payment of 105 percent of par plus accrued interest. The bonds
are secured by the unpaid assessments made for the payment of improvements in the assessment

district,

In March 2010, the loan was repaid in full, twelve years early, and bonds were appropriately

released.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
Foresthill Public Utility District Assessment District No. 2
Long Term Debt
for the year ended June 30, 2010

Long-term debt activities for the year ended June 30, 2010 for Assessment District No. 2 are as
follows:

Balance Balance Current

7/1/2009 Additions  Payments _6/30/2010 Portion

Loan 91-02 $1,190,400 $§ - $§ 20,800 $1,169,600 § 21,800
Loan 91-03 1,796.400 - 30,000 1,766,400 31.500
$2,986,800 $__ - $_50800 $2936,000 $_ 53,300

On February 28, 1996 the District adopted a resolution authorizing the issuance of improvement
bonds pursuant to the Improvement Bond Act of 1915. The proceeds of such bonds was used to
finance the construction of public improvements under the Municipal Improvement Act of 1913.

The improvements consisted of two phases - Phase 1 Pipeline Relocation Project and Phase 2 Water
System Rehabilitation Project.

The Improvement Bonds were financed by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Rural Development.

On July 23, 1997 the District issued an improvement bond (Series 1997) for $1,364,150 to United
States of America, Rural Development, United States Department of Agriculture. The bond bears
interest at 4.875% per annum, payable on March 2 and September 2.

On June 2, 1998 the District issued an improvement bond (Series 1998) for $2,031,318 to United
States of America, Rural Development, United States Department of Agriculture. The bond bears
interest at 4.75% per annum, payable on March 2 and September 2.
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
Foresthill Public Utility District Assessment District No. 2, continued
Long Term Debt
for the year ended June 30, 2010

The future annual maturities of long-term borrowings for Assessment District No. 2 as of
June 30, 2010 are as follows:

Year Principal Interest Total
2011 $ 53,300 $ 139,643 $ 192,943
2012 55,900 137,021 192,921
2013 58,500 134,275 192,775
2014 61,300 131,399 192,699
2015 64,300 128,384 192,684
2016-2020 370,700 591,370 962,070
2021-2025 468,400 491,083 959,483
2026-2030 592,300 364,319 956,619
2031-2035 748,800 204,016 952,816
2036-2038 462,500 30,195 492,695
$2,936.000 $2,351,705 $5,287,705
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FORESTHILL PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT
ASSESSMENT DISTRICT No. 2
BALANCE SHEET
June 30, 2010

ASSETS

Cash — held at County § 498,047

Future assessments receivable 2.394.125

$2,892,172

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Assessment bond payable $2,936,000
Net assets (deficit) (__43.828)

$2,892,172
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROLS

AND COMPLIANCE



ROBERT
W.
JOHNSON

An Accountancy Corporation
Certified Public Accountant 6234 BIRDCAGE STREET « CITRUS HEIGHTS, CA 95610-5949 » (916) 723-2555

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

To the Board of Directors
Foresthill Public Utility District
Foresthill, California

We have audited the financial statements of Foresthill Public Utility District as of and for the year
ended June 30, 2010, and have issued our report thereon dated October 20, 2010. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and

the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by
the Comptroller General of the United States.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered Foresthill Public Utility District’s internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of
expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District’s internal control over financial reporting.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and
corrected on a timely basis.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described
in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal
control over financial reporting that might be deficiencies, significant deficiencies or material
weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we
consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.
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To the Board of Directors
Foresthill Public Utility District
Foresthill, California

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Foresthill Public Utility District’s
financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which
could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.
However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our
audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion, The results of our tests disclosed no
instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government
Auditing Standards.

We noted certain matters that we reported to management of the District, in a separate letter dated
October 20, 2010,

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors of Foresthill
Public Utility District and its management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by
anyone other than these specified parties.

Citrus Heights, California
October 20, 2010
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Preface

The Soil Survey of Placer County, Western Part, contains much information
useful in any land-planning program. Of prime importance are tha predictions of
soil behavior for selected land uses. Also highlighted are limitations or hazards
to land uses that are inherent in the soil, improvements neaded to overcome
these limitations, and the impact that selected land uses will have on the envi-
ronment.

Thiz soil survey has been prepared for many different users. Farmers,
ranchers, foresters, and agronomists can use it to determine the potantial of
the soil and the management practices required for food and fiber production.
Planners, community officials, engineers, developers, builders, and homebuyers
can use it to plan land use, select sites for construction, develop soil resources,
or identify any special practices that may be needed to insure proper perform-
ance. Conservationists, teachers, students, and speciaiists in recreation, wildlife
management, wasta disposal, and pollution control can use the soil survey to
help them understand, protect, and enhance the environment.

Great diffarences in 2oil properties can occur even within short distances
Soils may be seasonally wet or subject to fiooding. They may be shaliow to
bedrock, They may be too unstable to be used as a foundalion Tor buildings or
roads. Very clayey or wet soils are poorly suited to septic tank absorption
fields. A high water tabie makes a soil poorly suited to basements or under-
ground installations.

These and many other soil properties that affect land use are described in
this soit survey. Broad areas of soils are shown on the general 50il map; the
location of each kind of soil is shown on detailed soil maps. Each kind of soil in
the survey area is described, and much information is given about each sail for

specific uses, Additional information or assistance in using this publication can

be obtained from the local office of the Soil Conservation Service or the Gc:up~
erative Extension Service.

This soil survey can be useful in the conservation, development, and pro-
ductive use of soil, water, and other resources.

PacE @5
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SOIL SURVEY OF PLACER COUNTY, CALIFORNIA

WESTERN PART

By John H. Rogers, Soil Scientist, Soil Conservation Service

F:eldwmk by John H. Rogers, Paul G. Nazar, Harold R. Sketchley, Lynn A. Brittan, George F Kliewer
‘ Grant M. Kennedy, Thomas M. Ryan, and Charles B. Goudey
Soil Conservation Service

United States Department of Agricolture, Soil Conservation Service, in cooperation with the
University of California Agricultural Experiment Station

‘PLACER COQUNTY, WESTERN PART, is in the east-
ccartral part of California (see map on facing page). Most
2% the privately owned land in the county is in the survey
~ z-za. The total area is 411,544 acres.

Placer County, Western Part, is bounded by Sacra-
mento and Sutter Counties on the west, the Bear River
37 the north, the Tahoe National Forest on the east, and
e Middle Fork of the American River on the south.
" Blavations range from about 50 feet in the west to 5,000
feet in the east Auburn is the county seat, and Rose-
ville, population of about 20,000, the largest city.

Farming is of considerabla importance in the survey
 zrea. The: main crops in the western third are small
‘zrain, rice, and Irrigated pasiure. The crops in the central
zzrt are deciduous orchards and irrigated pasture. The
acreage used for crops in the central part has been
~aduced by urban expansion. Livestock are important in
- *he western twa-thirds of the survey area, whare forage
iz abundant. Wood crops are produced in the sastern
+hird of the survey area.

General nature of the county

The following paragraphs contain general information
about Placer County, Western Part. Thay describe the
ahysiography, relief, and drainage, the climata, the histo-
" 1y, the tarming, and the water development in the area.

Physiography, relief, and drainage

Placer County, Western Part, is in the eastern part of
‘the Great Valley of California and in the wastarn part of
the Central Sierra Nevada Mountains. The Great Valley
. area is dominantly nearly level 1o rolling old valiey fill.
. The Sierra Nevada area ¢ dominantly steep dipping,
faulted, and folded. metamorphic rocks that have been
intrudad by several types of igneous rocks. Overlying tha

hedrock in many places is a mantle of rwer gravel and
voleamc debris,

The ascent from the Cenfral Valley is gentle, and the
average slope through a west-to-east transect is about 5
percent. In general, the trend of the ridges and rock
formations is northwest by southeagt. Drainage is gener-
ally toward the southwest. The drainage channels have
cut through geologic formations and followed the west-
ward tilting of the Sierran fault block. The headward
parts of the major streams and rivers are more deeply
gouged by river canyaons and drainageways than the
rolling foothills, where river culting is less. Typically, the
folded and faulted areas of metamorphic rocks are steep
and anguiar, the granitic areas are rounded and smooth
and have a basinlike appearance, and the volcanic areas
are flat topped and. smooth.

The survey ares is drainad mainly by the Middle and
North Forks of the American River and the Bear River.
These rivers join the Sacramento River and flow into the
San Francisco Bay. Thera ara many major perennial
streams in thasa major drainage areas.

Climate

By Rebent Elford, climatologist for California, National Weather Serv-
iae, U.S. Depattment of Commerce. ‘

Placer County, Western Part, is an area of abundant
sunshine in summer, moderate to heavy précipitation’in
winter, and a wide tempearature range. The strong flow of
marine air from the Pacific Ccean in winter results in
heavy precipitction, particularly at intermediate elevations
in the mountains. At high elevations, much of the precipi-
tation falls as snow, providing a water supply-thiat lasts
into summer. Precipitation in summer ig light and gener-
ally is limited to a few scattered thundershowers at the
highest slevations. :

Temperatures range: from hot. on the tefraces of the
Sacramento Valley in summer to very cold in some of
the high mountain areas in midwinter. All of the survey

1
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"TSCER COUNTY, GALIFORNIA, WESTERN PART

"z Bowman-Spaulding system. Water exports are
F2.330 acre-feet to Nevada Gounty and 1.5 milliont acre-
"est o the Folsom Powerhouse, the Natomas Water

=—wany, and the Folsom State: Prison.

u’-«:ﬁ.uﬂ:.cats of available water in Placer County are the
‘*w—*r.raﬁa Irrigation District, the Pacific Gas and Electrie
wnany, the South Sutter Water District, tha Gamp Far
25t Irtigation District, the San Juan Suburban Water
wretnet, and the ground water sources limited to the
cugliey area. A future water source will be the Placer
ounty Watar Agency via the Auburn dam.
. "’1e State Department of Water Resources projected
&mnual water reguirements for the district area in the
_¥ear 2020 are irfigation 140,000 acre-feet, residential

fzrns 85, 000 acro-faet, and urban areas 41 ,000 acre-
iy

How this survey was made

Soil scientists made this survey to learm what kinds of
e are in the survey area, where they are; and how they
- zan be used. The $oil scientists went into the area know-
g thay likely would locate many scils they already knew

scmething about and perhaps identify some they had

- Tever seen before. They observed the steapmess, length,

- -znid shape of slopes; the size of streams and the general
./ wattern of drainage; the Kinds of native plants or crops;
. H™e kinds of rock; and many facts about the soils. They

dug many holes to expose soil profifes. A profile is the
sequence of naturat layers, or horizong, -in a soil; it ex-
tends from the surface down imtd the parent material,
which has been changed very fittle by leaching or by the
zction of plant roots.
. The soil séientigts recorded the characteristics of the
orofiles they studied, and they compared those profiles
. with others in counties nearby and in places more dis-
“fant. . Thus, through comrelation, they classified and
named the soils according to natlonmde, uniform proge-
dures.
After a guide for classifying and naming the =oils was
worked out, the soil scientists drew the boundaries of the
. individual soils on aerial photographs. These photo-

.graphs show woodlands, buildings, field borders, roads,

and other details that help in drawing boundaries accu-

rately. The soil map at the back of this publication was
prepared from aarial photographs.

- The areas shown on a so0il map are called soil map

ynits. Sorme map units are made up of one kind of soil,

others are made up of two or more kinds of seil, and a

few have little or no sofl material at all. Map units are

digcussed in .the sections “General soil map for broad
land use ptanning” and “Soil maps for detailed plan-
ning.”

~'Whila a soil survey Is in progress, samples of soils are

‘taken as needed for laboratory measurements and for

-engineering tests. The soils are field tested, and interpre-
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tations of their behavior are modified as necessary
during the course of the survey. New imterpratations are
added to meet local needs, mainly through field observa-
tions of different kinds of soil in different uses under
different levels of management. Also, data are assem-

‘bled from other sources, such as test results, records,

field experience, and information available from state
and local specialists. For. example, data on crop vields
under defined practices are assembled from farm rec-
ords and from field or p!ot expenments on the same
kinds of soil.

But only part of a soif survey is dcme when the soils
have been named, described, interpreted, and delineated
on aerial photographs and when the laboratory data and
other data have been assembled. The mass of detailed
information then needs to be organized so that it is
readily available to - different groups of users, among
them farmers, managers of rangeland and woodland,
engineers, pianners, develupers and- builders, home-
buyers, and those seekmg recreatnon

General soil map for broad land use
planning

The general soil map at the back of this publication
shows, in color, map units that have a distinct pattern of
soils and of relief ‘and drainage. Each map unit is a
unique natural landscape. Typically, a map unit consists
of one or more major soils and some minor seils. 1t.is
named for the major soils. The soils making up one unit
can occur in other units but in & different pattern.

The general soil map provides a broad perspective of
the soils and landscapes in the survey area. It provides a
basis for comparing the potential of large areas for gen-
eral kinds of land use. Areas that are, for the most part,
suited to certairy kinds of farming or to other land uses
can be identified on the map. Likewise, areas of soils
having properties that are distinctly unfavurable for cer-
tain land uses can be located.

Because of its small scale, the map does not show the
kind of soil at a specific site. Thus, it is not suitable for -
planning the management of a farr or field or for select-
ing a site for a road or building or gther structuré. The
kinds of soil in any one map unit differ from place to
place in slope, depth, stoniness, drainage, or other char-
acteristics that affect their management. .

The 12 map units in this survey area have been
grouped into three physiographic regions—terraces and
alluvial bottoms,. foothills, and mountaincus uplands.
Each group and its map units are described on the
pages that {oliow.

Soils on terraces and alluvial bnttums

The five map units in thls group.- about A0 percent of
the survey area, are on terfaces and alluvial bottoms in

e
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: Thxs unit makes.up about 5 percent of the survey area.
/i is about 40 percent Xerofluvents, 30 percent Kilaga
soils, 10 percent Ramona soils, and 20 percent mainly
&lamo, Cometa, and San Joaguin soils and Rivarwash,
}(eroflu\.'ents ‘are moderately well drained or somewhat
ooarly drained and -are subject to occasional to frequent
“eoding. They vary in texture from sands to clay loarms
znd in places are gravelly.

Kilaga soils are very deep and well drained. The sur-
Tage layer is sirong brown loam. The subsoil is reddish
trown clay loam and clay.

- Ramona soils are very deep and well drained. The
surface layer is brown sandy loam and light brown foam.
The subsoil is mixed reddish yellow and yellowish red
sandy clay loam over reddish yellow gravelly sandy loam.

This unit i used mostly for irigated crops and pasture,

Some areas, particularly those adjacent to streams and

- rivers, are subject o occasional to frequent fiooding.

5. Redding-Corhing
Unduiating to rofling, moderately déep and very deep,

o well drained soils that have a dense clay subsorl; on high

| lerraces

This map unit is near Sheridan. The soils formed in old
gravelly alluviurn from rmixed sources. In many places,
they are moderately deep over a silica indurated hard-
pan. Slopes are 2 to 15 percent. The plant cover ig
annual grasses and forbs. Elevations range from 100 to

D40 feet, -

Thig unit makes up 3 percent of the survey area. It is
about 85 percent Redding and Corning soils and 15
percent Cometa, Fiddyment, and San Joaquin soils.

Redding soils are moderately deep over a claypan and
-indurated " gediment, The surface layer is strong brown
-graveily loam. The subsgoil is reddish brown dense clay

_undertain at 28 inches by a silica indurated pan. Depth fo
the dense clay is 10 to 17 inches.

Corning soils are very deap. The surface Iayer is red-

_dish. brown gravelly loam. The subsoil is red dense clay
“underlgin by strong brown clay loarm. Depth to the dense
clay ig 12 to 22 inches.

~ This unit iz used mostly for annual range. Some areas
are used for winter grain and irigated pasture.

Soils on foothills

The three units in this group, about 36 percent of the
‘Placer survey area, are undulating to very steep uplands
if the central third of the area. THey are somewhat
. excessively drasn.ad to well drained gravelly coarse sandy
. loarms to silt loams..

Elevations range from 200 to 1,800 feet. The avarage
annual precipitation ranges from 18 to 36 inches. The
average - annual air temperature ranges from &0 to 82
degrees F. The average frost-free season is between
230 and 270 days.
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These units are used mostly for annual range. Some
of the acreage in orchards in the Loomis Basin i3 being
converted to rural ranchettes. Also, some of the acreage
is irrigated pasture.

6. Exchequer-Inks =

Undulating to steep, well drained andsomewhat exces-
sively drained soils that are shallow over voleanic rock

Most of this map unit is on ridges near Newcastle,
Roseville, and Lincoln. The soils formed in cobbly materi-
al weathered from aridesitic conglomerate and breccia.
Slopes are 2 to 50 percent. The plant cover is annual
grasses, blue nak, and live oak. Elevations range from
100 to 1,200 feet.

This unit makes up about & parcent of the survey area.
It is about 45 percent Exchequer soils, 25 percent Inks
aoils, and 30 percent the Alamo variant, Andragg, Caper-
ton, and Inks variant soifs and Rock outcrop. ‘

Exchequer soils are somewhat excessively drained.
They are brown very stony icams and cobbly Ioams B to
20 inches deap over hard andasitic breccia.

Inks soils are wéll drained. The surface layer is yellow-
igh brown cobbly loam. The subseil is brown very cobbly
loam underiain at 12 to 20 inches by andesitic conglom~
erate.

This unit is used mainly for annual range. A few areas
ara used for irrigated pasture and deciduous orchards.

7. Andfegg-dapertbn-ﬁierra‘

Ungulating to sfeep, well drained and somewhat exces-
sively drained soils that are deap o shallow over granitic
rock

Most of this map unit is in the Loomis Basin. The soils
formed in material weatherad from granitic rock. Slopes
are 2 to S0 percent. The plant cover is arnual grasses
and blue and live pak. Elevations range from 200 to
1,000 feet.

This unit makes up about 15 percent of the survey
area. It is about 50 percent Andregg sbils, 20 percent
Caperton soils, 10 percent Sierra soils, and 20 percent
Shenandoah soils and Rock outcrop.

Andregg soils are moderately deep and well drained.
The surface layer is grayish brown coarze sandy Ioarn.
The subsoil is palé brown coarse sandy loarh that is
underlain al a depth of 24 to 40 inches by weathered
granitic rock.

Caperton soils are sharlow and somewhat excessively
drained. The surface layer is dominantly grayish brown
gravelly coarse sandy loam. The underlying rmaterial is
pale brown gravelly ¢oarse sandy loam that is uriderlsin
at a depth of B to 20 inches by weatherad grénitic rock.

Sierra soils are deep and well drained. The surface
layer is dark grayish brown and brewn:sandy loam. The
subsoil is yellowish red and red sandy clay loam and
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.clay loam that is underlain at a depth of 40 to 80 inches
by weathered granitic rock.

Thig unit ig used mostly for deciduous orchards and
irrigated pasture. Many of the orchards are being subdi-
vided into rural ranchettes.

8. Auhurn-Sobrante

Undularmg To very steap, well drained saifs that are shal-
fow or moderately deep over meramarphrc rook

Most of this map unit occurs as a wide belt frorn

Auburn northwest to Camp Far West Reservoit. The soils
formed in material weathered from metabasic and meta-
sedimentary rock. Slopes are 2 to 70 percent. The plant
cover is annugl grasses, oak, and scattered brush and
pine. Elevations range from 200 to 1,600 feet.
- This unit makes up about 15 percent of the survey
ared. 1t iz about 55 percert’ Auburh soils, 20 percent
Sobrante soils, and 25 percent Argonaut and Boomer
50ils and Rock outcrop,

Auburn soils are shallow and well dramed The surface
layer is strong brown silt loam. The subsoil is yellowish
red silt loam that is underlain at a depth of 12 to 28
inches by partly weathered basic schist.

Gobrante soils are modaratsly deep and wall drainad.
The surface layer is yellowish red silt loam. The subsoil
iz yellowish red heavy loam that is underlain at 22 to 40
inches by hard basic schist.

Thig unit' is used mostly for annual range, watershed,
and habitat for wildlife. Some areas are used for irrigated
pasture and orchards.

Solls on mountainous uplands

" The four map units in this group, about 34 percent of
the Placer survey area, are undulating to very stéeep
-uplands in the eastern third of the area. They are well
drained sandy loams and loams.

Elevations range from 1,200 to 5,300 feet. The aver-
age annual precipitation ranges from 35 to 60 inches,
some of which falls as snow. The average annual air
temperature ranges from 50 to 59 degrees F. The aver-
age frost-froe season is betwesen 130 and 250 days.

These units are used mostly for timber production or
watershed. A few areas are used for irrigated pasture
and orchards,

9. Maﬂpgéaﬁldsephineﬁites

Undufarfng' o steep, well drained soils that are shallow
1o deep ovar metamophic rock

This map unit’ oceurs. throughout the eastern third of
the survey area. The soils formed in material weathered
from metamorphic rock. Because of the vertical uplifting
of the parerit rock, its mixed mineralogy, and the varying
degree of metamorphism, these soils are highly variable
within short horizontal distanges, Slopes are 2 to 50
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percent. The plant cover is conifer-hardwood furest and
scattered brush. Elevatrons range from 1,500 to 4,500
feot.

This unit makes up about 16 percent.of the survey‘
area. It is about 40 percent Mariposa soils, 30 percent
Josephine soils, 15 percent Sites soils, and 15 percent .
Boomer and Boomer variant soils and Rock outcrop.

Mariposa soils are shallow to moderately deep The
surface layer is brown gravelly loam. The subsoil is red-
dish yellow gravelly clay loam that is undetlain at 15 to
35 inches by fractured slate.

Josephine soils are desp. The surface: layer is brown
and dark reddish “brown loam. The subsoil is reddish
yellow ¢lay loam that iz underlain at 40 to more than 60
inches by weatherad slate.

Sites soils are deep. The surface layer is dark redd:sh
brown loam. The subsoil is red clay that is undarlain at
40 to more than 60 inches by soft schistose,

This unit is used mainly for timber production. Some
areas have been cleared and are used for "orchards.

10. Maymen-Mariposa

Hr){y to very steep, well drained and somewhat exces-
sively drained soifs that are shallow or moderately deap
over meramarphfa mafr ‘

This map unit is on the canyons . of major dramu
ageways in the eastern third of the survey area. The
soils formed in material- weathered from hard metamor-
phic rock. Slopes are 30 to 70 percent. The plant cover
is brush and scattéred stunted conifer and hardwood.
Elevations range from 1,200 to 3,500 feet,

This unit makes up about 8 percent of the survey area.
it is about 50 percent Maymen soils, 25 percent Mari-
posa soils, and 25 perc:ent Rock outcrop and Josephine
soils.

Maymen soils are shailuw and somewhat excessively
drained. They are brown and yellowish brown. gravelly
loams that are underlain at 8 to 20 inches by hard slate.

Maripoga soils are shaflow to mioderately deep and
weli drained.. The surface layer is brown gravally loam.
The subsoil is reddish yellow gravelly clay loam that is
underlain at 15 to 35 inches by fractured slate. ‘

Thig unit is used for watershed.

11. Cohasset-Aiken-McCarthy

Undulating to steep, well drained soils that are moder-
alely deep fo very deep over volcanic rock

Most of this map unit ocours as three broad ndges in
the eastern part of the survey area—the Dutch Flat-Alta,
the lowa Hill, and the Foresthill areas. The soils formed
in materia| weathered from andesitic conglomerate. Thay
are on broad, sloping, tabular ridges with steep side
slopes. Slopes are 2 to 50 percent. The Aiken and most
of the Cohasset soils are on the ridges, The McCarthy
and the rest of the Cohaszot scils are on the side
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slopes. The plant cover is conifer-hardwood forest. Ele-
vations range from 2,000 to 5,300 feet.

This unit makes up about 9 percent of the survey area,
it is about 40 percent Gohasset soits, 30 percent Aiken
aoils, 20 percent MeCarthy soils, and 10 percent Horse-
shoe and Iron Mountain soils.

Cohasset soils are deep. The surface layer is dark
_brown cobbly. loam. The subsoil is yeliowish red and
gtrong brown cobbly clay loam that is underlain at 40 to
mare than BO inches by weathered andesitic conglomer-

ate.

Ajken soils are very deep. The surface layer is brown

B - and yellowish red loam. The subsoil is yellowish red clay

loam and red clay that is underlain at 60 to 94 inches by
weztherad andesitic conglomerate.

- McGCarthy soils are moderately deep. The surface layer
. i3 brown cobbly sandy loam. The subsoil is strong brown
. and reddish yellow very cobbly sandy loam that is under-
lain at 22 to 40 inches by andesitic conglomerate.

. This unit is used mainly for timber production.

12. Dubakella-Rock outerop

Rolling to steap, well drainad soifs that are moderately
~ deep over serpantine; also Rock outerop

This map unit occurs as small scattered tracts

o throughout the eastern half of the survey area. Slopes

are 9 to 50 percent. The plant cover is sparse brush and
digger pine.. Elevetions range from 1,200 to 4,000 feet.

This unit makes up about 1 percent of the survey area,
It is about 50 percent Dubakella soils, 40 percent Rock
outcrop, and 10 percent Henneke sofls, which occur as
twa small tracts north of Auburn.

Dubakeila soils are moderately deep. The surface
layer is reddish brown very stony loam. The subsoil is
brown cobbly clay underlain at 21 to 33 inches by ser-
pentine rock.

Rock outcrop consists of areas of hard serpentine and
other ultrabasic rock formations. Rock outcrop and
© stones covar 50 to B0 percent of the surface. There is a
thin mantls of soil material in cravices.

This unit is used mainly for watershed. Some areas
provide a source of rock for roads. In other areas the
rock is mined for chrome.

~ Soil maps for detailed planning

" The map units shown on the detailed soil maps at the
. back of this publication reprasent the kinds of soil in the
" survey area. They are described in this section. The
dagcriptions together with the soil maps can be ugeful in
. determining the potential of a =oil and in managing it for
~ food and fiber production; in planning land use and de-
veloping soil resources; and in enhancing, protecting,
~and preserving the environment. More information for
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each map unit, or SOII is gwen in the sec:t:on “Use and
management of the sonls

Preceding the name of each map unit is the syrnbol
that identifies the soil on the detailed soil maps. Each
soil description includes general facts about the soil and
a brief description of the soil profile. In each description,
the principal hazards and limitations are indicated, and
the management concerns and practices needed are
discussed.

The map units on the detailed soil maps represent an
area on the landscape mads up mostly of the soil or
soils for which the unit' is named. Most of .the delinea-
tions shown on the datarled soil map are phases of soil
series.

Soils that have a proﬂle that is almost alike make up a
soil series. Except for allowable differences. in-texture of
the .surface tayer or of thé underlying substratum, all the
soils of a series have major horizons that are mmrlar in
composition, thickness, and .arrangement in the profile. A
soil series commonly is named for a town or geographic
feature near the place where a soil ‘of that series was
first observed and mapped.

Soils of one series can ditfer in texture of the surface
tayer or in the underlying substratum and in slope, ero-
sion, stoniness, salinity, wetness, or other characteristics
that affect their use. On the basis of such differences, a
soil series is dividad into phases. The name of a. soif
phase commenly indicates a feature that affects use or
managererit, For example, Aiken loam, 2 to 9 percert
slopes, is one of several phases within the Alken series.

Some map units are made up of two or more dominant
kinds of soil. Such map units are called s0il complexes
and undiffarentiated groups.

A soif compléx consists of areas of two or more soils
that are so intricately mixed or so small in size that they
cannot be shown separately on the soil map. Each area
includes some of each of the two -or more dominant
soils, and the pattern and proportion are somewhat simi-
tar in all areas. Alamo-Fiddyment complex is an example.

An undifferentiated group is made up of two or more
soils that could be mapped individually but are mapped
as one unit because there is little value in' separating
them. The pattern and proportion of the soils are not
uniform. An area shown on the map has at least one of
the dominant (named) soils or may have all of them.
Redding and Corning gravelly loams is an undifferentiat-
ed group in this survey area.

‘Most map units include small, scattered areas of soils
other than thoss that sppear in the name of the map
unit. Some of these soils have properties that differ sub-
‘stanfially from- thase &f the dominant soil or soils and
thus could significantly affect use and management of
the map unit. These soils are described in the descrip-
tion of each map unit. Some of the more unusual or
strongly contrasting soils that are included are identiﬁed '
by a special symbol on the soil map.
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The major limitations to urban use of the Cometa soil
“are the very slow permeability of the subsoil, the shrink-
- =well potential of the subsoil, and the limited ability of
- s goil to support a load. The major limitation to urban
«s2 of the Ramona soil is the moderately slow perme-
 #hifity of the subsoil. Dwelling and road construction can
b= desighed {o offset the shrink-swell potential and the
“¥ow bearing - strength of the Cometa soil. Community
 s=wage systems must be anticipated in medium and high
.. demsily subdivisions. Septic tank absorption fields may
=t function properly because of the very slow perme-
=iifity of the subsoil in the Cometa soil.
Capability unit lle-3(17) irigated and nonirrigated;
Horie index. 50. ‘

1{43—Dubakella very stony loam, 9 to 50 percent

=pny soif underlain by ulirabasic rock. It formed in re-
suum in small, scattered areas of serpentinitic uplands
i the eastern part of the survey area. Elevations are
“ 500 to 4,000 féet. The average annual precipitation,
some -of which falls as snow, ranges from 40 to 60
+es. The average annual air temperature is about 57
Zogrees F. The average frostfree season is between
*32 and 250 days. Natural vegetation is brush, stunted
s2nifer, and annual grasses.

~ About 20 percent of the acreage is included areas of a
=04 that is similar to this Dubakella soil but is only 10 to
#3 inghes deep to hard serpentine bedrock, 5 percent is
Marposa gravelly loam, and 10 percent is rock outcrop.
. Typically, the surface layer of this Dubakella soil is
=ddish brown very stony loam and very. cobbly loam
stwut 17 inches thick. The subsoll is brown cobibly clay.
‘% 'z depth of about 31 inches is weathered serpentin-
=] rock. o

Farmeability is. slow. The available water capacity is
(2.7 %0 4.0 inghes. The effective rooting depth is 21 to 33
rches. Fertility is very low because of a calcium to
mmgnesium imbalance. Surface runoff is medium to
=i, The hazard of erosion is moderate to high.

This soil is.used mainly for watershed. Some areas are
==g for wood crops. ‘

. Thig. soil is not well suited to ponderosa pine produc-
et 1t i capable of producing about 44 cubic feet, or 87
Mwdard feet (International rule), per sere annually of mer-
hertable timber from a fully stocked, even-aged stand
7 yaars. The rmajor Yimitation to production is a cal-
Zurn 1o magnesium imbalance that causes a very low
wwveal of fartility, There is some problern with windthrow
tecause .of the clay subsoil. Timber should not be har-
wociod uriless harvest is beneficial to the appearance of
_stand or the soil is part of a block that contains
Amtt=r timber soiis. Reforestation after harvest must be
- mmemzged to reduce competition from brush.

Eushy areas provide good cover habitat for black-
| =thed deér and black bear.

sopes. This is a' moderately deep, well drained very .
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Steepness of slopa, depth to rock, and a slowly per-
meable clay subsoil are the major limitations. to be con-
sidered in planning cabin and road construction. Soil
slumps can be a hazard fo road cuts because of the low
strength and the tateral movement. of water in winter.
Septic tank absorption fields are marginal because of the
slowly permeable subsoil and the depth to hard serpen-
tine rock. oo ‘ ' X
Capability subclass Viis(22) nonirrigated; Storie index
13, ‘

144—--Exchaguer very stopy loam, 2 to 15 percent
slopes. This ig a shallow, somewhat excessively drained
very stony soil underlain by hard andesitic breccia. It
formed in residuum on long, broad volcanic ridges at
elevations of 100 to 2,000 feet. The average annual
precipitation ranges from 20 to 35 inches. The average:
annual air temperature is about 61 degrees F. The aver-
age frostfree season is between 230 and 270 days.
Natural vegetation is annual grasses, forbs, and scat-
tered bive and liva oak. ‘ . ‘

About 15 percant of the acreage is included areas of
Inks cobbly ioam, 5 percent is a soil that is similar to the
inks soil but has a reddish brown loam subsoil, 5 percent
is a shallow soil that has a brown clay subsoil, and 2
percent is areas of exposed andesitic breccia {lava cap)
10 to 50 square feet in size. Small areas of this Exche-
quer soil are strongly acid. : o

Typically, the soil is brown very stony leam and cobbly
loam. At a depth of about 11 inches is hard andesitic
breccia. L | .

Permeability is moderate. The available water capacity
is 0.5 to 2.5 inches. The effective rooting depth is 8 to
20 inches. Surface runoff is medium. The hazard of ero-
sion is slight to moderate. After intange rainstorms, this
soil is saturated and water flows across the surface for a
short time. o ‘

Most areas are used for annual rangeland.

The major- limitation to rangeland is the shallowness
over rock. The grass is dry 1 to 2 waeks after the last
spring rain. In a favorable year, the green feed period ig
from about March 15 to May 15. Grazing should be
planned so that desirable vegetation, such as soft chess,
wild oats, and filaree, is maintained and enough vegeta-
tion is left to protect the soil from depletion and erosion.
Range plarits should be grazed only when the goil is dry.

This soil has. some potential as Habitat for California
queil and mourning dove. : -

Stones and the depth to hard rock are the major
limitations to be congidered in planning road construc-
tion. Septic tank absorption fields may not function prop-
erly because the depth to hard rock is less than 20
inches. ‘ - -

Capability subclass VIs{18) nonirrigated; Storie index
15, ‘ : ‘



11/21/2011  13:31 9167271727

" 54

35 inches. Surface runoff is medium or rapid. The hazard

of erosion is moderate or high.
' ‘Most areas are used for-wood crops. A few areas
where water is available for irrigation are used for irrigat-
ed pasture and for apple and psar orchards. The or-
chards ara planted below slevations of 3,500 feet to help
. reduce crop losses resulting from freezes late in spring.
Some areas provide homesites.

‘Erosion ¢an be controlled by using permanent cover in
the orchards. Cultivation should be across the slope. To
avoid compaction, thig soil shouid not be worked when
wet. Gravel and the slope make tilling difficult. Spnnklers
should be used in irrigating.

- In pear ‘orchards, a permanent cover c:rop can be
annuai grasses and weeds, which are mowed. A peren-
nial permanent sod cover shiould consist of low growing
legumas and perennial grasses, such as white Dutch
clover, Salina strawberry clover, and Pomar orchard-
grass. It shouid be mowed in spring and surmer through
fruit harvest. No legumes should be used in a cover crop
in apple orchards. .

Irrigated pasture can be a combination of lequmes and
grasses plantad in a well prepared seadbed. A typical
seed rnixture iz broadleaf trefoil and Akaroa orchard-
grass. The lagume seed is incculatad before planting.
The pasture should be mowed to prevent clumping.

“All crops respond to applications of nitrogen and phos-
phorus. Potassium is usually adequate. Apples and pears
may nead small applications of zinc, magnesium, and
boron. In. orchards under permanent cover, fertilizer rates
are ‘generally increased by about 50 percent.

On pasture and in apple and pear orchards, lrrlgatlun
“water i applied by sprinklers at a rate of 0.25 to 0.35
inch per hour. A total of 2.0 to 3.5 inches of water is
applled at each irrigation. The frequency of irigation is

every 6 to 10 days during .July and August. Approximate-
ly 3 1/2 gere-fest of water is used annually.

This Mariposa- sail is well guited fo ponderoga pine
production. It is capable of praducing about 93 cubic
feet, or 486 board feet (International nule), per agre an-
nually of merchantable timber from a fully stocked, even-
aged stand of 70 years. Conventional methods can be
used for free harvest but their use may be restricted in
winter. There is some problem of windthrow becauge of
the shallowness of the soil. Roads and skid trails should
be protected from. runoff. Grades on unsurfaced roads
should be less than 10 percent. Reforestation after har-

‘ :. vest must be managed to reduce competition from unde-

sirable understory plants. Christmas trees are suited to
this soil. |

‘Orchard and pasture areas have good potential as
habitat for California quail, mourning dove, and band-
teiled pigeon. Forested areas provide habitat for black-
tailed deer, black bear, gray squirrel, and wild turkey. To
encourage wildlife populations, shrub hedgerows can be
established along fence lines, roadsides, and stream-
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banks o provide needed cover and nesting -areas. Deer
present serious depredation problems in orchards.

Homesite construction—primarily vacation homes—ia
increaging on this Mariposa goil. The -major limitations to
urban use are the siopé and the depth to rack. In locat-
ing roads, special care Is needed to miriirize the heights
of cuts and fills. Cuts and fills greater than 6 feet make
access to building sites a problem. Septic tank absorp-
tion fieids may not function proper]y because of the
slope and the depth to rock.

Capability unit Ve-8(22) imigated and nomrngated,
Storie index 33. : ‘

. 164~-Mariposa~Josephine complex, 5 to 30 percent
slopes. These rolling to hilly soils are’ on mountainous :
uplands at elevations of 1,500 to 4,000 feet. The unit is
about 55 percent Mariposa soil and 35 percent Jose-
phine soif. Generally, the Mariposa soil is on the ridges,
the sharp breaks, and the south- and west-facing side
slopes. In places the Josephine soll has concave slopes.
in other places, it ocoupies smooth north- and east-
facing side slopes. The average annual- precipitation,
some of which falls as snow, ranges from 35 to 60
inchas. The average annual air temperature is about 56 .
degrees F. The average frostfree season is between
150 and 250 days. Natural vegetation is conifer-hard-
wood forest and scattered brush and grasses.

About 8 percent of this unit is inciuded areas of Sites
loarn, and 2 percent is scattered areas of rock outcrop.

The Mariposa iz a shallow or moderately deep, wealt
drained gravelly soil that formed in residuurm from frac— :
tured vertically tilted schist and slate. :

Typically, the .surface layer is brown gravelly loam -
ahout 6 inches thick. The subsoil is reddish yallow grav-
elly silt loam and gravelly clay loam. At a depth of 28
inches is partially weathared, highly fractured slate.

Permeability is moderate. The available water capacity
is 1.5 to 5.0 inches. The effective rooting depth is 15 to
35 inches, Surface runoff is medium or tapid. The hazard
of erosion is moderate or high. R

The Josephine is 4 desp, well drained soil that formed
in residuurn from metamorphic rock. ‘

Typically, the surface layer is brown loam about 11
inches thick. The subsoil is reddish yellow clay - loam and
silty clay loam. At a depth of about 52 inches is waath-
ered slate.

Permeability is rmoderstely slow. The available water
capacity is 5.5 to 11.0 inches. The affactive rooting
depth is 40 to &0 inches. Surface runoff is . medium or -
rapid. The hazard of erosion is moderate or high.

Most areas are used for wood crops. A few graas
where water is available for irrigation are used for irrigat-
ed pasture and for apple and pear orchards. The ér-
chards are planied below elevations of 3,500 feet to help
reduce crop losses resuling from freezes Iate in sprmu
Some areas provide humesrtes ,
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‘Erosion can be controlied by using permanent cover in
~ihe orchards. All cultivation should be across the slope.
- To avoid compaction, the soil should not be worked
- .when wet, The gravel and the slope make tilling difficult.
- Spririklers should be used in irrigating.

In pear orchards, a permanent cover crop can be
annual grasses and weeds, which are mowed. A peren-
. riial parmanent sod cover should consist of low growing
l=gumes and perennial grasses, such as white Dutch
.. clover, Salina strawberry clover, and Pomar orchard-
- grass, It should be mowed in spring and summer through
ituit harvest. No legumes should be used in & cover crop
. in apple orchards. '

- Irrigated pastura can be a combination of lequmes and
-grasses planted in a well prepared seedbed. A typical
. .ceed mixture i& broadleaf trefoil and Akaroa orchard-
grass. The legume seed is inoculated before planting.
" The pasture should be mowed to pravent clumping.

- All crops respond to applications of nitrogen and phos-

phorus. Potassium iz usually adequate. Apples and pears

. may require small applications of zinc, magnesium, and

~ boron. In orchards under permanent coveér, fertilizer rates
are generally increased by about 50 percent.

' On pasture and in apple and pear orchards, irmigation
. water is applied-by sprinklers at & rate of 0.25 1o 0.35
inch per hour: A total of 2.0 to 4.5 inches of water is
applied at each irigation. The frequency of irrigation is
. every 6 to 12 days during July and August. Approximate-

 ly 3 1/2 acre-fest of water is used annually.

~ This unit is well suited to ponderosa pine production. [t
is suited to moderately intensive management and is
capable of producing about 111 cubic feet, or 617 board

- fest {internaticnal rule), per acre annually of merchanta-

. hlg timber from a fully stocked, even-aged stand of 70

years. Conventional methods -can be used in tree har-
vest, but their use may be restrictad in winter. Windthrow
-.is a hazard because of the shaliowness of the Mariposa
soil. Roads -and skid trails should be protected from
-runoff. Grades on unsurfaced roads should be less than
10 percent. Reforestation after harvest must be man-
.. ‘aged to reduce competition from undesirable understory
. plants. Christmas trees are well siited - to this urit. Prun-
ing can raduce excessive growth between whorls.

. Qrchard and pasture areas have good potential as
habitat for California guail, mourning dove, and band-
tailed pigeon. Forested areas provide habitat for black-

. tailed deer, biack bear, gray squirrel, and wild turkey. To

encourage wildlife populations, shrub hedgerows can be

eatablished. along fence fnes, roadsides, and stream-

~ banks to. provide neadsd cover and nesting areas. Deer
' present serious depredation problems in orchards.
HMomesite :construction—primarily vacation homes—is

. increasing on thig unit. The major limitations to urban use

- are the slope and the depth to rock. In Ivcating roads,

special care is neaded to minimize the heights of cuts

- and fills. Cuts and fills greater than & feet make access

~ to building gites a problem. Septic tank absorption fields
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may not function properly because of the slope and the
depth to rock. They should be installad on the Josephine
part of the unit if possible.

Capability unit [Ve-8(22) -irmigated and nunlrngated
Storie index 43.

165~—~Marlposa-Josephine complex, 30 to 50 per-
cent slopes. These steep solls are on mountainous up-
lands at elevations of 1,500 to 4,000 feet. The unit is
about 50 percent Manposa soil and 35 percent Jose-
phine soil. Generally, the Mariposa soil is on the ridges,
the sharp breaks, and the south- and west-facing side
slopes. In places, the Josephine soil has concave
slopes, In other places, it is on smooth north- and east-
facing side slopes. The avarage annusal precipitation,
some of which falls as snow, ranges from 35 to 60
inches. The average annual air temperature is about 55
degrees F. The average frost-free season i§ between
150 and 225 days. Natural vegetation is conifer-hard-
wood forest and scatterad brush.

About 10 percent of this unit is included areas of Sltes
loam, and 5 percent is scattered areas of rock outcrop.

Mariposa is a shallow or moderately deep, well

‘drained gravelly soil that formed in residuum from fracﬂ

tured, vertically tited schist and slata. -

Typically, the surface layer is brown graveily Ioam
about & inches thick. The subsoil is reddish yellow grav-
elly silt loam and gravelly clay loam. At a depth of about
28 inches is partly weatherad, highly fractured slate.

Permaability iz moderate. The available water capacit‘y
ig 1.5 to 5.0 inches. The affective rooting depth is 15 1o,
35 inches. Surface runoff is rapid. The hazard of erosion
is high.

” Tt?e Josephine is a. deap, well drained soil that formed
in residuum from metarnorphic rock. ‘

Typically, the surface layer is brown loam about 11
inches thick. The subsoil is reddish yellow clay loam and
silty clay loam. At a depth of about 52 inches is weath-
ared slate.

Permeability is moderately slow The avallable water
capacity is 5.5 to 11,0 inches. The effective Trooting
depth is 40 to 60 inches. Surface runoff is rapid. The
hazard of erosion is high.

This unit is used for wood crops. 1t is well suited to

- ponderosa pme production. It is suited to moderate man-

agement and iz capable of producing about 111 cubie
feet, or 617 board feet (International rule), per agre an-
nually of merchantable timber from a fully stocked, even-
aged stand of 70 years. The major limitation to timber
production is the slope. Windthrow is a hazard because.
of the shallownegs of the Mariposa soil. Conventional
methods used in tree harvest can be used oniy with
difficuity because of the siope. The slope can also be
damaging to the soi resource becaose of the high ero-
sion hazard. Roads and skid trails should be protected
from runoff. Grades on unsurfaced roads should be less
than 10 percent. Reforestation after harvest must be
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+ . managed to reduce competition from undesirable plants.
. Christmas trees can he grown on this unit. Pruning can
reduce excessive growth betwaen whorls, ‘
.. This unit provides good habitat for biack bear, black-
. tailed deer, band-tailad pigeon, wild turkey, and gray
- squirrel. . . B
. Stoapness of -slope. and the depth to rock are the

. major limitations to be considerad .in planning home and

.. rfoad construciion. Soil siumps can be a hazard in road
. cuts on the Josephine sofl because of low strength and
‘the lateral movement of wter in winter. ‘

.. Capability subclass Vie(22) nonirrigated; Storie index
R , -

, jG‘B—-MarIpuaa-Josephlne complex, 50 to 70 per-
- cent slopes. These very steap soils are on canyon walls
-at elavations of 1,500 to 4,500 feet, The unit is about 45
percent Mariposa soil and 30 percent Josephine soil.
- Generally, the Mariposa 80il is on the ridgas, the sharp
- breaks, and the south- and west-facing side slopes, In

. places, Josephine soil has concave slopes. In other

pPlaces, it is on smooth north-- and east-facing side
- slopes. The average annuga) precipitation, some of which

- falls as BRow, ranges from 35 to 60 inches. The average
.. annual air temperature is about 55 degrees F. The aver-

- 'age frostfree season is between 150 and 225 days.
- 'Natural vegetation is conifer-hardwood forest and scat-
- About 10 percent: of this unit is Included areas of
“Maymen gravelly toam, 5 percent ig Sitas loam, and 10
“percent is areas of scattered rock outcrop.
: The Mariposa is a shallow or moderately deep, wall
drained gravelly soil that formad in residuum from frac-
tired, vertically tilted schist and slate,
 Typically, the. surface layer is brown -gravelly loam
about 8 inches thick. The subseil is reddish yellow grav-
elly sit loam and gravelly clay loam. At a depth of gbout
28 inches is partly weathered, highly fractured slate.
+ . Permeability is moderate, The availabla water capacity
I8 1.5 10 5.0 inches. The effective rooting depth is 15 to
35 inches. Surface runoff is rapid. The hazard of erosion
ig very high. : C
" The Josephine is a deep, well drained soil that formed
- in residuum from metamorphic rock. o
- Typically, the surface layer is brown loam ‘about 11
', inches thick. The subsoil is reddish yeliow clay loam and
- silty clay loam. At a-depth of about 52 inches is weath-
ered slate. -~ - C
- Perméability..'is..moderatefy slow. The ‘available water
-capacity is 55 1o 11.0 inches. The ‘effective rooting
depth is 40 to B0 inghes, Surface runoff is rapid. The
hazard of erosion is very high.
_ This unit is.used for wood crops and watershed. it is
suited to ponderosa pine Praduction. It is suited to mod-
erate management and is capable ot producing about
111 cubic feet, or 617 board feet. (intemationay rule), per
acre annually. of - merchantable timber from a fuily

- & hazard on the shallow Mariposa soil, Conventional

‘erate management-and is.capable of producing about 85
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stocked, even-aged stand of 70 years. The major limita- L
tion to timber production is the steep slope. Windthrow is

methods used in tree harvest can be ‘used ‘only with
great difficulty because of the slope. The siope can also
be damaging 1o the seil resource becayse of the very
high erosion hazard. High lead, balloon,. or helicopter. .
logging is the most etficient because damage to the goil. -
surface by equipment is held to a minimum. Grades on . .0
unsurfaced roads shouid be less than. 10 percant. Refor-
estation after harvest must be managed to reduce com-
petition from undesirable plants, | ‘ T

This unit provides habitat for black bear, black-tailed
deer, band-tailed pigeon; wild turkey, ‘and gray squirrel.

Capability subclags Vile(22) nenirrigated; Storie indax
14, ' C = ' .

167—Mariposa-Rack outcrap complex, 5 to 50 per-
cerit slopes. This ‘gently rolling to steep soil and Rock i
outcrop are on mountainous uplands at elevations of
1,500 to 4,500 feet. The unit is about 65 percert Mari-
posa soil and 10 percent.Rock outcrop. The average
annual pracipitation, some of which falls-as snow, ranges
from 35 to 60 inches. The avérage annual.air tempara- |
ture is about 55 degrees F. The average frostfree
$eason is between 150 .and 250 days. Natural vegetation
is conifer-hardwood forest and scattered brush and
grasses. ‘ o T
About 15 percent of this unit is. included areas of
Josephine ioam, 5 percent i Maymen gravelly. loam, and
S percent is Sites loam. : ‘
The Maripoga. is a shallow or moderately deep, well
drained gravelly soil that formed in. residuum from frac-
tured vertically titted scehist and slate, a
Typically, the surface layer is brown gravelly loam
about 6 inches thick, The subsoil is reddigh yellow grav-
ally silt loam and gravelly clay loarn. At a depth of about
28 inches is partly weathered, highly fractured slate.
Permeability is moderate. The available water capacity
15 1.5 to 5.0 inches. The effective rooting .depth is 15 to
35 inches. Surfage runoff is. medium or tapid. The hazard
of erosion is moderate of high; g o
Rack outcrop consists of seattared areas of exposed
metamorphic rock, generally 1 to. 2 sguare feet, but
S0Me areas cover up to 500 square feet, . KRR
Surface. runoff s very rapid. There is no hazard of
erosion. . : ‘ S
‘This unit is used mainly for wood crops. It is well
suited to pondeross pine broduction, It is suited to mod-

eubic feet, or 425 board feet;‘(lnternatio‘r‘fal:rulje), per acra
annually of merchantable timbar from a fully stocked, .
even-aged stand of 70 years. The major limitation to

fimber productor is the slope. ‘Windthrow is a hazardg
because of the shallowness .of the ‘Mariposa soil. ‘The
outerops of rock do not appreciably. affect the use of this
unit. Conventional methods used in fres harvest can be
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used only with dlfficulty because of the slopa. The slope
‘can also be damaging to the soil resource because of
the high erosion hazard. Roads and skid trails should be
protected’ from runoff. Grades on unsurfaced roads
should be'less than 10 percent. Reforestation after har-
- vest must be managed to reduce competition from unde-
- sirgble plants. Christmag trees can be grown on this
Mariposa soil. . .

- This unit provides good habitat for black bear, black-
- lailed deer, band-tailed pigeon, wild turkey, and gray
. squirrel, .

Steepness of the slope, the depth to rock, and the
rock- outcrop are the major fimitations to be considered
in planning home and road construction.

‘Eacapabi!:ty, subcl‘ass Vis(22) nonirrigated; Storie index

163—-Marlposa—ank nutarop complex, 50 tu 'm
percent slopes. This very steep soil and Fock outcrop
are on canyon walls at.elevations of 1,500 to 4,500 feet.
‘ The unit is about 60 percent. Marlposa soil and 15 per-
cent Rock dutcrop, The average annual precipitation,
-some of which falls' as snow, ranges from 35 to 60
inches. The average annual air temperatura is about 55
degrees F. The average frost-free season is between
150 and 250 days. Natural vegetation is conifer-hard-
~wood forest and scattered brush and grasses.
“About 10- percent of this umit is included areas of
Josephine loam,. 10 percent is Maymen gravelly loam,
#nd 5 percent is Sites foarri.
The Mariposa is a shallow or moderataly deep, well
‘drained gravelly soil that formed in residuum from frac-
tured vertically tilfed schist and slate.
Typically, . the surface layer is brown gravelly loam
- about & inches thick. The subsoil is reddish yellow grav-
iy silt loarn and- gravelly clay. loam. At a depth of about
28 inches is partly westherad, highly fractured slate.
. ‘Permeability is modarate. The available water capacity
= 1,5 t0.5,0 inches. The effective rooting depth is 15 to
-] mchas Siitface runoff is rapid. The hazard of erosion
= very high,.
" FAock outcrop consists of scattered areas of expused
metdmorphic rock, generally 1 to 2 square feet, but in
- some areas it covers up to one-half acre.
Surface runoff is very rapid. There is no hazard o
. osion,
- This unit g used for waood crops and watershed.
“This unit is suited to ponderosa pine production. It is
zited to moderate management and is capable of pro-
=xeing about BS cubic feet, or 425 board faet (Iterna-
Jznal rile), per acre annually of merchantable timber
m-a fully stocked, even-aged stand of 70 years. The
“?}or limitation to tlmber production iz the slope. Windth-
W i8 a problem because of the shallowness of the
- Wariposa soil, Rock outcrop does not appreciably affect
e use of this unit. Conventional methods used in tree
"ervest ¢can be used only with difficulty because of the
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slope. The siope can also be damaging to the soil re-
source because of the very high ergsion hazard, High
lead, balloon, or helicopter loggiig methods are the most
efficient because equipment damage to the soil surface
is held to a minimum. Grades on unsurfaced  roads
should be less than 10 percent. Reforestation after har-
vest must be managed to reduce competltlun from unde- -
sirable plants.

This unit prowdas habltat for black bear,. black-ta;led
deer, band-tailed -pigeon, wild turkey, and gray squimel. - .
o Capability. subclass VIIs{22) nonirrigated; Storie ‘index

169—Maymen-Rock outcrop complex, 9 to 50 per- -
cent slopes, This rolling to steap sdil and Rock outcrop
are on mountainous uplands at efevatioris of 1,200 i¢
3,500 feet. The unit is about 50 percent Maymen soil

and 20 percent Rock outcrop. The average annual pre- |

cipitation, soma of which falls as snow, ranges frorm 40
to 55 inches. The average annua! ar temperature is
about 56 degrees F. The average frost-free season is
between 150 and 225 days. Natural vegetation is brush
and scatterad stunted conifer and hardwood. '

About 25 percent of this unit is included areas of
}\Aanposa gravelly Ioan‘n and 3 percent is. Josephme
oam

The Maymen is somewhat Excasswely drained, shal-

low gravelly soil that formed in resa:iuum from hard meta«»
morphic rock, - .

Typically, the surface layer is brown gravelly Ioam,
about 2 inches thick. The subsoil is mixed yellowish
brown and light yellowish brown grave!ly Ioam At a
depth of 12.inches is hard slate.

Permeability is moderate. The available water capacrty' ‘
is 0.5 to 3.0 inches. The effective rooting depth.is B.to
20 inches. Surface runoff is rapid. The hazard of eroszcrn '
is mediurm or high. S

- Rock outcrop occurs as scattered areas of metamor-
phic rock. Some are massive areas of up to 5 acrés.

Surface runoff is very I'Elpld There is no hazard of :
erosion.

“This unit is bettsr suited to watershed than mther usgs .
because of the slope, the shaliowness, and Rock out- -
crop.
Brushy areas prowde browae and escape for black-
tailed deer,

The steepness of slope, Rock outcrop, and the depth-
to hard rock are the major limitations to be considered in
road construction. Thig unit is not suitable for. home
construction because the soil material is not deep
enough for the ms‘tallation of septic tank absorptlon
fields.

o Capability subclass Vlls(EE) nommga‘ted Stune rndﬂ'x

17n—Maymen-nnck.‘nutcrnp c‘omplex, 506 75 .
cent slopeg, This very steep =0il and Rock outcrop are
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. cover and nesting areas. Grain provides food. Deer pres-
- ent serious depredation problems in orchards. -
- There is increasing use of this soil for. rural subdivi-
~sions. The major limitation to urban use ie the slope. In
locating roads, special care is needed to minimize the
heights of cuts and fills. Cuts and fills greater than & feet
make access to building sites a problem. Because of the
erodibility of this sofl and its parent materigl, all cuts and
fills should be on at least a 2 to 1 slope. Community
sewage systems must be anticipated in medium and high
density ‘subdivisions. Septic tank absorption fields may
fot function properly because of the slope and the mod-
arately stow permeability.
Capability subclass Vie(18) irrigated and nonirrigated;
Storie index 48.

lﬂﬁ-e-‘SItes loam, 2 to 9 percent slopes. This is &
déep, undulating to gantly rolling, well drained soi! under-
fain by weathered metsmorphic rock. It formed in residu-
um, mainly from metasedimentary. and metabasic rock
on ridges and foot slopes at elevations of 2,000 to 4,000
feat, The average annual precipitation, some of which
falls a8 snow, ranges from 40 to 60 inches. The average
‘annugl air temperature is about 56 degrees F. The aver-
age frost-free ‘season is belween 150 and 250 days.
N“atural vegetation is coniter-hardwood forest,

About 15 percent of the acreage is included areas of
Josaphine loam, 5 percent is Mariposa gravelly loam,
and 5 percent is a soil that' is similar to this Sites soil but
15 30 10 40 inches desep to weathered rock. Also included

arg scatlered areas of rock outcrop.

Typically, the surface layer of this Sites soil is dark

*addigh brown and reddish brown loam about 18 inches
‘hick. The subsoil is red clay loam and clay. At a depth
of about 65 inches is soft schistose rock.
_ Permeability is moderately slow. The available water
capacity is. 6.5 to 10.0 inches, The effective rooting
depth is 40 to 60 ‘inches or more.- Surtace runoff is
medium. The hazard of erosion is slight.

Most areas are used for wood crops. A tew .areas
where water iz available for irrigation are usad for irrigat-
=d pasture or for apple and pear orchards. Selected
varieties of grapes are also grown. The orchards are
olanted below. elavations of 3,500 feet to help reduce
crop. losses resulting: from freezes late in spring. Some
areas provide homesites. .

Erosiori can be controlled by tilling across the slope
~and using covér crops in orchards in winter. To avoid
compagction, this soil should not be cultivated or have
2quipment moved across it when wet. Sprinklers should
e usad in irrigating.

‘Wimmeara 62 ryegrass and Blando bromegrass pruwde
2 satisfactory cover crop in orchards. The annual cover
should set seed before it is disked or mowad.

In pear. orchards, a permanent cover crop can be
-2nnual gragses and weaeds;’ which are mowed. A peren-
wial permanent sod cover should consist of low growing
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legumes and perennial grasses, such .as white Dutch
clover, Salina strawberry clover, and Pomar - orchard-
grass. It should be mowed in spring and summer through
fruit harvest. No legumes should be used in a cover crop
in apple prehards.

Irrigated pasture can be a combination of Iegumes and
grasses planted in a well prepared seedbed. A typical
seed mixture is broadleaf trefoll and Akaroa orchard-
grass. The leqgume ‘seed is inoculated before planting. -
The pasture should be mowed to prevent clumping.-

All crops respond 1o gpplications of nitrogen and phas-

' phnrus. Potassium is usually adequate. Applas and pears

may need smaill applications of zine, magnesium, and
boron. In orchards under parmanent cover, fertilizer rates
are generally increased by about 50 percént. .

On pasture and in apple and pear orchards irrigation
water is applied by sprinklers at a rate of 0.25 fo 0.35
inch per hour. A total of 3.5 to 5.5 inches of water is
applied at each irrigation. The frequency of irrigation is
every 10 to 14 days during July and August. Approxi-
mately 3 1/2 acre-feet of water is used annually.

This Sites soil is one of the best soils in the area for

ponderosa pine production. [t is suited to highly intensive .

management and is. capable of producing about 130
cubic feet, or 776 board feet (International rule), per acre
annually of merchantable timber from. a fully stocked, .
even-aged stand of 70 yvears. Conventionai methods ¢an
be used for tree harvest, but their t1se may be restricted -
in winter. Reforestation” after harvest must be managed .
to reduce 'competition from undesirable undarstory

plants Christmas trees are well suited to this so0il. Inten- -

sive pruning is needed to reduce excesswe growth be-
tween whorls.

Orchard and. pasture aress have good potentlal as
habitat for California quail, mourning dove, aid band-

tailed pigeon. Forested areas provide habitat for biack- -

tgiled deer, black bear, gray squirrel, and wild turkey. T
encourage wildiife populations, shrib hedgerows can be
established along fence lines, roadsides, and stream-
banks to provide needed cover and nesting areas. Pro-
tective strip planting of grain provides food. Degr present
sarious depredation problems in orchards and vineyards.

Homesite construction—primarily. vacation -homas-—is
increasing on this Sites soil. The major. limitations to
urban use are the moderately slow permedbility in the
subsoil, the shrink-swell potential of the subsail, and the

. limited ability of the soil to support a load. Dwelling and
road construction. can. be designed to offset most of

these limitations. Septic tank absorptioﬁ fields may not
function properly during perieds of rain or heaw use
because of the moderately slow permeability. ‘

Capability uniit lle- '1(22} itigated, and lig- 1(22) RORIrf-
gated; Storie index 65.

187—Sites Ioam, 9 to 15 percent -s'ln'pes. This&is‘a
deep, rolling, well drained soil underlain by weathered -
tnetamorphic rock. |t formed in résiduum, Mainly from
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-metasedimentary and metabasic rock, on ridges and foot
-slopes at elevations of 2,000 to 4,000 feet. The average
-annual precipitation, some of which falls as snow, ranges
from 40 to 60 inches. The average annual air tempera-
© ture ‘iz about 56 degrees F. The average frost-frae
‘season is hetween 150 and 250 days. Natural vegetation
ig conifer-hardwood forest. o
- About 10 percent of the acreage is included areas of
- Josephine loam, 5 percent is Mariposa gravelly loam, 10
percent is a soil that iz similar to this Sites soil but is 30
o 40 inchés deep to weathered rock, and 2 percent is
scattered rock outcrop. - ‘
- Typically, the surface layer of thig Sites soil is dark
reddish brown-and reddish brown loam about 16 inches
‘thick. The subsoil is red clay loam and clay. At a depth
of about 85 inches is soft schigtose rock. :
- Permeability is moderately slow. The available water
‘capacity is 65 to 10.0 inches. The effective rooting
depth is 40 to 60 inches or more. Surface runoff is
medium. The hazard of erosion is moderate,
- Most areas are used for wood crops. A few areas
where water is available for irrigation are used for irrigat-
ed pasture or for apple and pear orchards. Selected
variaties. of grapes are aiso grown. The orchards are
planted below' elevations of 3,500 feet to help reduce

crop logses resulting from freezes late in spring. Some

areas provice homesites, -
- ‘Erosion cah be controlied by tilling across the siope
~and by using cover crops in orchards in winter. Cultiva-
tion should be limited to the control of weeds. To avoid
- compaction, this soil should not be cultivated or have
- equipment moved across it when wet. Sprinklers should

be used in imigating. . o
- Wimmera 62 ryegrass and Blando bromegrass provide
a satisfactory cover crop in orchards. The annual cover
should set sead before it is disked or mowed.

- In pear orchards, a permanent cover crop can be
annual grasses and weeds, which are mowed. A peren-
nial- permanent.sod cover should consist of low growing
. legumes &nd perennial grasses, such as white Dutch
- tlover, Salina strawberry clover, and Pomar orchard-
grass. It should be mowed in spring and summer through
fruit. harvest. No legumes should be used in a.cover crop
‘in apple erchards. o

_ Irmigated. pasture can be a combination of legumes and
grasses planted in & well prepared seedbed, A typical
seed mixture is broadleaf trefoil and Akarca orchard-
_grass. ‘The legume seed is inoculated before planting.
The pasturé should be mowed to prevent clumping.

All erops respond to applications of nitrogen and phos-
phorus. Potassium is usually adequate, Apples and pears
may need small applications of zinc, magnesium, and
boron. In orchards under permanent cover, fertilizer rates
are generglly increased by about 50 percent.

On pasture and in apple and pear orchards, imigation

‘water iz applied by sprinklers at a rate of 0.25 tg 0.55
inch per hour. A total of 3.5 to 5.5 inches of water is

applied at each irrigation. The frequency of ifrigation is
every 10 to 14 days during July and August. Approxi-
mately 3 1/2 acre-feet of water is used annually.

This Sites soil is one.of the best soils in the area for
ponderosa pine production. It is suited to highly intensive
management and is capable of producing about 130
cubic feet, or 776 board feet (International rule), per acre
annually of merchantable timber from a fully ‘stocked,
even-aged stand of 70 years. Conventional mathods can
he used in tree hafvest, but their use may ba restricted
in winter. Reforestation after harvest must be managed
to reduce competition from . undesirable understory
plants. Christmas trees are well suited to this soil. Inten-
sive pruning is needed to reduce excessive growth be- -
tween whorls, .' o

Orchard and pasture areas have good -potential as
habitat for Califorria quail, mourning .dove, and band-
tailed pigeon. Forested areas provide habitat for black-
tailed deer, black bear, gray squirrel, and wild furkey. To

+ encourage wildlife popuiations, shrub hedgerows can be -

established along fence fines, roadsides, and stream-
banks to provide needed cover and nesting areas. Pro-

- tective strip plantings of grain provide food. Deer present

seriols depredation problems in orchards and vineyards.

Homesite construction-—primarily vacation homes—is :
increasing on this Sites soil. The major- limitations to -
urban use are the moderately slow permeability in the.
subsoil, the shrink-gwell potential of the subsoil, the
slope, and the limited. ability of the soil to support a load.
Dwelling and road construction can be designed to offset
most of these limitations. Septic tank absorption fields.
may not function properly during periods of rain or heavy
use because of the moderately slow permeshility. -

Capability unit Tlle<1(22) irrigated and nonimrigated;
Storie index 58. : o

188—S5ites loam, 15 to 30 percerit slopes. This is a-
deep, hilly, well drained soil underlain by weathered
metamorphic rock. It-formed in residuum, mainly from
metasedimentary and metabasic rock, on uplands at ele-
vations of 2,000 to 4,000 feet. The average annual pre-
cipitation, sorme of which fails as snow, range!?,??‘mm 40
to 60 inches. The average annual air temperature is
about 56 degrees F. The average frost-free season is
between 150 and 250 days. Natural vegetation is coni-
fer-hardwood forest. , o

About 10 percent of the acreage is inciuded areas of
Josephine loam, & percent is Mariposa gravelly-loam, 10 -
percent is a-soif that is similar to this. Sites soil but is 30

to 40 inches deep to weathered rock, and 2 percent is .

acaftered rock outerop. . ‘
Ty;picalty, the surface layer of this Sites soil is dark .
reddish brown and reddish brown-loam abbut 16 inches -

thick. The subsoil is red clay loam and clay. At a depth :l |

of about 65 inches is soft schistoss rock. .- -
Permeability is moderately slow. The available water
capactty is 6.5 to 10.0 inches. The effective rooting



11/21/2811 1a:31 9167271727

“ed from runoff. Grades on unsurfaced roads should be
less than 10 percent. Reforestation after harvest must
be managed ‘to reduce competition from undesirable
plarts. Christmias trées can be grown on this soil. Prun-

ing is needed to reduce excessive growth between

. whorls, ‘

. This soll provides good habitat for black bear, black-
tailed deer, band-tailed pigeon, wild turkey, and gray
squirrel. .. . : ‘

Steepness of slope is the major limitation to be con-
sidered. in planning home and road construction. Soil
slumps can be'a hazard in road cuts because of the low
strength and the Jateral movement of water in winter.
~ Capability subclags VIe(22) nonirrigated; Storie index
29. .. -

- 190—Sites-Rock outerop complex, 15 to 50 per-
cent slopes. This hilly 1o steep soil and Rock outcrop
are on mountdinous uplands at elevations of 2,000 to
4,000 feet: The unit is about 60 percent Sites soil and 15
percant matamarphic Rock outcrop. The average annual
precipitation, sotne of which falls as snow, ranges from
40 to 60 inches. The average annual air ternperature is
about 55 degrees F. The average frosi-free season is

- between 150 and 230 days. Natural vegetation is coni-

- fer-hardwood forest and brush.

‘About 15 percent of this unit is included areas of
Josephine loam, 5 percent is Mariposa gravelly loam,
and 5 percent is a soil that iz similar to this Sites soil but
is 30 to 40 inches deep to weathered rock.

- The Sites iz a deep, well drained soil that formed in
residuum from metasedimentary rock. ‘

~Typically, the surface layer is dark reddish brown and
reddish brown loam about 16 inches thick. The subsoil iz
red clay loam and clay. At a depth of about B5 inches is
soft schistose rock. - :

Permeability is' moderataly slow. The available water
capacity is 6.5 to 10.0 inches. The effective rooting
clepth is 40 to 60 inches. Surface runoff is medium or
rapid. The hazard of erosion is moderate or high.

“The Rock outcrop is metamorphic rock about 1 to 10
square feet’

Suiface runoff is very rapid. There is no hazard of
arosion. o =
- Most areas are used for wood crops.
~This unit is well suited to ponderoga pine production. It
is suited to ‘moderate management and is capable of
produting-about 130 cubic feet, or 776 board feet (Inter-

national rule), per acre annually of merchantable timber.

. from a fully stocked, even-aged stand of 70 years. The
major limitation to timber production is the slope. The
Rock outerop does not appraciably affect the use of this
unit. Conventional methods used in tree harvest can be
used only with. difficulty because of the slope. The slope
- can also be. damaging to the soil resource because of

the high' erosion hazard. Roads and skid trails should be

protected ‘from runoff. Grades on unsurfaced roads
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should be less than. 10 percant. Reforestation after har-
vest must be managed td reduce competition from unde-
sirable plants. Christmas trees can be grown on this unit. .
Pruning is needed to reduce excessive growth between

whorls. : C

This unit provides gdod ‘Habitat for black-tailed deer, :

band-tailed pigeon, wild turkey, and gray squimel.

Steepness of slope and the Rock outcrop- are the

major limitations to be considered in planning home and'
road construction, Soil-slumps can be a hazard in road .
cuts because of the low strength and the lateral move-"

ment of water in winter. .

3

191—Sobrante' silt loam, 2 to 15 percent slopes.

This is a moderately deep, unduiating to rolling, well
drained soil undériain by weathered metabasic rock. it

~formed in residuum on foothills at elevations of 600 to . ]

1,500 feet. Most slopes’are plane or slightly concave.

The average annual precipitation ranges from 25 to 95

inches. The average annual air temperature is about 60
degrees F. The average frost-free season is between

230 and 270 days. Natural vegetation is annual grasses, |

forbs, blue and live oak, and scatterad pine.

About 5 percent:of the acreage is included areas of

Argonaut loam, 5 percent is Auburn silt loam, and 5

percent is a soil that is similar to this Sobrante soif butis |

40 to 55 inches degp to weathered rock.

Typically, the surface layer of this Sobrante soil s

yellowish red silt loam about 7 inches thick, The subseil
is yellowish red. silt loam and heavy loam. At a depth of

about 33 inches is highly weatherad basic schist. At @

about 40 inclies is hard unweathered schist.

Permeability is moderate. The available water capacity
is 3.0 to 7.0 inches. The effective rooting depth is 22 to
40 inches. Surface runoff i medium. The hazard of ero-
sion is slight of moderate.

- Most areas are used for deciduous orchards.and irri-

gated pasture. Some areas are used as rangeland. A few
are being urbanized.

Erosion can be controlled by tilling across the ‘siope
and using cover crops .in orchards. in ‘winter. Cultivation .

should be limited to the control of weéds. To avoid

compactior, this soll should not be cultivated or have
equipment moved' across it when wet. Sprinklers should

be used in irrigating. ‘ o
Wimmera 62 ryegrass, Blando bromegrass,. or Cuca-
monga bromegrass provide a satisfactory. cover crop in

orchards. The annual cover should set seed before it is - .|

disked or mowed.

In deciduous orchards, a permanent cover crop can be
annual grasses and weeds, which are mowed. A perén- .

ntal permanent sod cover. should consist of low growing

legumes and perennial grasses, such as white Dutch |

clover, Salina strawberry clover, ‘and Pomar orchard-

grass. It should be mowed in spring and summer through

Capability subclass VIs(22) nonirrigated; Storie index.
a. : .
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194—Xerctiuvents, . frequently flooded, Xeroflu-

‘vents, fréquently flooded, consist of narrow stringers of
somewhat - poorly drained recent alluvium adjacent to
stream channels. Natural vegatation is annual grasses,
forbs, seidges, valley oak, and willow,

‘These are variable colored, stratified gravelly sandy
loams, gravelly loams, and gravelly clay loams that gen-
erally grade to sand and gravel with increasing depth.

The depth to underlying restrictive material is greater

than 36 inches: |
Permeability is variable. The available water capacity is
2.5 to 6 inches. The effective rooting depth is greater

than 38 inches. Surface runoff is slow. The hazard of -

arosion is high. Areas are subject to frequent flooding
. and channelization. .

Because of the frequent flooding, most of the acraage
is idle, Some of the acreage is pasture. A plant cover is
needed in winter to protect these soils from erosion and
channelization during périods of flooding.

~ Idle areas have good potential as cover and nesting .

habitat for wildlife.

These Xerofluvents are not suited to urban use be-
cause of the flood hazard.

Capability unit (Vw-2(17, 18, 22) irrigated and nonirri-
gated; Storie index 36.

195-—Xerofluvents, hardpan substratum. Xeroflu-
vents, hardpan substratum, consist of small areas of
somewhat poorly drainad loamy &lluvium in minor drain-
ageways on terraces. Natural vegetstion is annual
grasses, forbs, and sedges.

‘These are variable colored, stratified loams and clay
loams. Depth to the underlying hardpan ranges from 20
1036 inches. About 20 percent of the area is Alamo
clay. ,

- Permeability is moderately slow. The available water
capacity i$ 2.5 t0.5 inches. The effective rooting depth is

20 t0 ‘36 inches. Surface runoff is slow. The hazard of
erosion is slight The water table rises to within 20
inches of the surface in winter, but disappears late in
spring. These soils are occasionally flooded by stream
overflow.:

The uge of these soils generally is the same as that of
-adjacent soils. Most areas are cultivated. Crops com-
monly grown are winter grain, irrigated pasture, and rice.

A protective strip of vegetation laft on each side of the
channel can prevent the meandering of stream channels
through areas of thése soils.

Capability unit- lilw-2(17) irrigated and nonirrigated;

Storie index 47.

196--Xerorthents, cut and fill areas. Xerorthents,
cut and fill areas, consist of mechanically removed and
mixed soil material in which horizons are no longer dis-
cernible. Most of this material is in the right-of-way of
Interstate B0, ‘the town of Auburn, and the Southern
Pacific trainyard in Roseville. Some fill areas contain
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rocks, concreta, asphalt, and other debris. Included are .

small areas of similar soils. :
Cut and fill areas are typically well drained. Surface
runoff is very rapid. The hazard of erosion is moderate.

Permeability and available water capacity are variable, .

These cut and fill areas are used primarily for high-
ways and urban development,

Capability - subclars  Vils(17,
Storie index lass than 10.

197—Xerorthents, placer areas. Xerorthents, placer
areas, congist of stony, cobbly, and gravelly material
commonly adjacent to streams that have been placer
mined. Natural vegetation varies but generally is annual
grasses, browse, oak, alder, willow, and cottonwood.

The soil material i$ derivad from a mixture of rocke. it .
is stratified or poorly sorted. [t containg enough fine sand -

and silt to support. some grass. Depth of goil material
ranges from 6 inches to more thar 5 feet, Permeability,
available watet capacity, runoff, erosion hazard, and
drainage are variable. Areas in streambads are frequent-
ly flooded during the rainy season.

These soils have some valye for grazihg and for wa- -

tering livestock. They also provide a good cover and

water for wildlife. T
Capability subclass Vils(17, 18, 22) nonirrigated; Storia

index less than 5. : :

Use and management of the soils -
The s0il survey is a detailed inventory and evaluation

18, '22) nonimigated;

of the most basic resource of the survey area—the soil.
it is ugeful in adjusting land use, including urbarization,. =

to the limitations and potentials of natural resources and
tha environment. Also, it can help avoid soil-related fail-
ures in uses of the land. .

While a soil survey is in progress, soil scientists, con-
sefvationists, engineers, and others keep extensive
notes about the hature of the soils and about unique
aspects of behavior of the soils. These hotes include
data pn erosion, drought damage to specific crops, yield
estimates, flooding, the functioning of septic tank dispos-
al systems, and other factors affecting the productivity,
potential, and limitations of the soils under various uses

and management. In- this ‘way, field experience and

measured data. on soil properties and petforrnance are
used as a basis for predicting soil bebavior,
Information in this section is useful in planning use and
management of solls for crops and pasture, rangeland,
and-woodland, as sites for buildings, highways and other
transportation systems; sanitary facilities, and parks and
other recreation facilities, and for wildlife ‘habitat. From
the data presented, the potential of each soil for speci-
fied land uses can be determined, soil limitations to
these land uses can be identified, and costly faflures in
houses and other structures, caused by unfavorable soil

R e cetan R i e Dt 2



11/21/2811  13:31

9QlE7271727
- PLACER COUNTY, CALIFORNIA, WESTERN PART

. properties, can be avoided. A site where soil properties
- are favorable can be selected, or practices that will over-
come-the soil limitations can be planned.

Flanners and others using the soil survey can evaluate

' the impact of specific land uses on the overall productiv-

ity-of the survey area or other broad planning area and
on the- environment. Productivity and the environment

. ‘are closely related to the nature of the soil. Plans should

maintain or. create a land-use pattern in harmony with
the natural soil. C

~ Contractors can find information that is useful in locat-
- ihg sources of sand and gravel, roadfil, and topsoil.
 Other -information indicates the presence of hedrock,

©_watnass, or very firm soil horizons that cause difficulty in

- Excavation. .
. Health officials, highway officials, engineers, and many

. other specialists also can find useful information in this

- soil survey. The safe disposal of wastes, for example, is

. closely related to properties of the soil. Pavements,

- sidewalks, campsites, playgrounds, lawns, and trees and
- shrubs.are Influenced by the nature of the soil.

Crops and pasture
. The majér management concerns in the use of the
- soils for crops and pasture are described in this section.
In addition, the crops or pasture plants best suited to the
goil, including. some not commonly grown in the survey
. area, are discussed; the system of land capability classi-
. fication used by the Soil Conservation Service is ex-
- plained; and the estimated yields of the main crops and
“hay and pasture plants are presented for each soil.
This section provides information about the overall ag-
- ticuttural potential of the survey area and about the man-
- agement practices that are needed. The information is
- useful to equipment dealers, land improvement cotitrac-
- tors, fertilizer companies, processing companies, plan-
. hers, conservationists, and athers. For each kind of &oil,
~ informgtion about management is presented in the sec-
tion ""Soit maps for detailed planning.” Planners of man-
agement systems for individual fields or farms should
- also consider -the detailed information given in the de-
- scription of each 'soil. :
- More .than 62,000 acres in the survey area was used
© for crops-and. pasture in 1974, according to the Placer
- County Agticultural Commissioner's Report. Of this total
27,000 acres was irrigated pasture; 1,000 acres row
erops, mainly: corn; 14,000 acres close-grown crops,
mainly wheat and oats; 5,000 acres rotation hay and
pasture; 8,000 acres rice; 500 acres seed crops; and
. 5,000 aores fruit and nut crops, mainly pears and plums.
. The soils in Placer County have good potential for

increased production of food. About 20,000 acres of

potentially good cropland is currently used as woodland
and -about 80,000 acres as pasture. In addition to the
- reserve productive capacity represented by this land,
- food production could also be increased considerably by
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extending the latest crop- production technalogy 10 a
cropland in the county. This soil survey can greatly facil
tate the application of such technology. - R
Acreage in crops and pasture hias gradually béen de
creasing as meore and more land is used for urban devei
opment. It wag estimated that in. 1967 the county ha
about 38,000 acreg of urban and built-up lanid; this acre
age has been growing at the rate of about 200 acres pe
year. The use of this soil survey to help make land. e
decigions that will influence the future role of farming
the county is discussed in the section “General soil ma;
for broad land use planning.” o
Erosion control provides g protective surface cover
reduces runoff, and increases infiltrafion. A troppir
system that keeps a plant cover ori the soil for extendet
periods during the rainy season can hold . soil erosier
logses to amounts that will not reduce the prodiictivs
capacity of the soils. On livestock farms, which requir:
pasture and hay, the legume and grass forage crops &
the cropping system reduce erosion on- sloping lsnd ar
also provide nitrogen and improve tith for the following
crop. ' ‘ N
Information for the design of erosion control practice:
for each kind of soil is contained in the Technical Guida
available in local offices of the Soil Conservation Serv
ice, ' R
Yields per acre o
The average yields per acre that can be expected o
the principal ¢rops under a high level of managemer:
are shown in table 2. In any given year, yields may: be
higher or lower than those indicated in the table becauss
of variations .in_rainfall and other climatic factors. At
sence of an etimated yield indicates that the crop.is no'
suited 10 or not commonly grawn on the soil or that 2
given crop is not corfmhonly imigated. . :
The estimated yields wera based mainly on the exper:
ence and racords of farmers, conservationigts, and ex
tengion agents. Results of field trials and demonstratiors

- and avgilable yield data from nearby counties were as<

considered. . | S .

The vields were estimated assuming that the latest soi
and crop marsgement practices were used. Hay am
pasture yields were estimated for the most. productive
varieties of grasses and legumes suited to the climale
and the soil. A few farmers may bé obtaining averags
yields higher than those shown in table 2, ‘

The management needed to schieve the indicater
yields of the various crops depends on: the kind of soi
and the crop. Such management provides drainage, eo-
sion control, and protection from flooding; the protes
planting and seeding rates; suitable high-vielding croo

varieties; appropriate tillage practices, including time o

tillage and seedbed preparation and ftiling when scfl
moisture is favorable; control of weeds, plant. diseases,
and harmful insects; favorable soil reattion and optimmu—
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- T~=A limitation caused by rocks, stones, or cobhle-
: gtones, -

- B—A iimitatign in the root zone, which generally is
- less than 40 inches aver fmassive bedrock and lacks

-moisture for plants. :

. 9--A limitation caused by low ar very low fertility, by
acldity,. or by toxicity that cannot be correctad by adding
-normal amournts of fertilizer, lime, or other, amendments,

- Land resaurce areas

. Placer Gounty, Western Part has been divided into s
land-resource areas, based on soilg, ciimate, topography,
vegetation, and use. These resource areas are designat-
&d nationally as 17, 18, and 22. In the survey ares, land
resourcerea 17. consists of the terraces of the Sacra-
- Tmento Valley; 18, the grass-oak foothills of the Sierra
Nevadas; and 22, the forested mountainous uplands of
the Sierra Nevadas,
~ Soils in two or more resource areas may be similgr
and have the same capability unit symbol but mariage-
ment needs differ. These management differences result
- from differences in climate, vegetation, and the kinds of
crops-that can be-grown, For thig reason, capability unit
- ‘symbols are followed. by the numbers (17), (18), and (22)
1o identify the several resource areas. For exampla, [Ve-
8(17), Ve-8(18), and WVe-8(22) all include well drained
soils: that are shallow to bedrock or a hardpan. Unit IVe-
B(17) ig in the irrigated valley, unit Ve-8(18) is in. the
unak—gra'ss--c:overed-foothills, and IVe-8(22) is in the coni-
ier-forested mountaing, ‘ ,
' Land resource area 17 is on terraces in the eastern
‘part of the Sacramento Valley. Veaetation is dominantly
grass and scatfered oak, Slopés are undulating to rolling.
-Elevations are 50 to 250 faet. Rainfall is 18 to 23 inches,
In this rasource area, irrigation water is available, or a
_source. is -beirig developed for most soila suitable for
imigation. The frost-free season is 260 to 285 days.
Grazing and grain are the main_farm uses. As irrigation
water is developed, more soils are being used for pas-
ture, field crops, and rice. g :
. Land resource ares 18 is the toothine of the Sierra
Nevada Range. Vegetation is generally oak-grass. The
area .is rolling to steep and is dissected by rivers and
Sireams that flow southwestward. Slopes are dteep at
<he. higher elevations, but they gradually level off as they
merge with-the terraces in the Sacramentt Valley, Eleva-
dons are 200 to 1,600 feet. Rainfall is 18 10 36 inches,
The frost-frea season is 230 to 270 days. Grazing is the
Tost common use. Where irrigation has been daveioped,
- is land is used . for deciduays orchards. and pasture.
o Land resource area 22 18 the mountainous uplands of
e Sierra Nevada Range. Vegetation is coniferous forest
- and associated hardwood. The area‘is,characterizedby
S ARy to steep slopes, deep V-ghapad canyons, and some
sarrow valigys, Ridges on volcanic matarial are generally
- @bular and gently sloping. Elevations are 1,200 1o 5,300

MICHAEL GARABEDIAN Fack 2t o

teet. Precipitation, some of which falls as snow, is 35 to -
60 inches. The frost-free 2@ason is 130 to 250 days. .
Wood crop production is the most cormmon use. Where
irrigation water has been devalaped, sujtable soils are
used for deciduaus orchards. .

Storie index

Prepared by E. L. Begg, lecturer and soil gpacialist, Univarsity of
Califernia, Davis. . :
The soils of this survey area are rated according to the
- Storfe Index (5,6). This index expresses. numerically the
relative degree of suitahility of a sail for general imensive
agriculiure as it exists at the time of evaluation, The-
rating is based on soll characteristics only and is ob-.
tained hy avaluating such factors as soil depth; surface
texdiure, subsoil characteristics, drainage, salts and alkali,
and relief. Othar fastors, such as availatiility of water for.
irrigation, climate, and distance from markets, that might
determine.the‘d’esirability of growing certain plants in a
given locality, are not considered. Therefore, in itseif, the
index should not be considered as a diract index.of land

value. Whare economic factors are known to the user, §4

howaver, the Storie Index provides additional objective .
information for comparisons of land tract value. In this
publication, the indax rating is given at the end of each
soit description. . . ' -
Four general factors are considered in the index rating.
These factors are: (A) the characteristics of the “soil
profile and soil depth; (B) the texture of the surface soil:
(C) the dominant siope of the s0il; and (%) other factors -
more readily subject to management or. maodification. In .
this area, the X fdctors include drainage, flooding, ‘and
ganeral nutrignt fevel of the soil. For some soils more
than one X facter may be used. Each of the four general
factors is evaluated on the basis of 100 percent. A rating
of 100 percent expresses the most favorable or ideai .
condition for general - crop production: lower percemage .
ratings are assigned for conditions that are less’ favora-
ble. Factor ratings are selected from tables prepared = -
from data and observations that related soif properties,
piant growth, and crop yield (4). Where ranges of values
for these factors exist within a given soil unit, the modal
condition for a factor is used in assigring a rating valus,
The index rating for a soil is obtained by -multiplying
the four factors, A, B, C, and X; thus any facter rmay
dominate or control the final rating. For example, a soil
such as- Aiken loam, 2 to 9 percent slopes,.is a very
deep soil with a Mmoderately slowly permeable protile,
This warrants a rating of 85 percent for factor A. This
soil has & friable, workable loam . surface texture, war- ‘
raming a rating of 100 percent for factor B. Thie smooth,
gently to moderately sloping surface of this soil justifies

a rating of 90 percent for factor C. The mederate. nuttient

level justifies a rating of 90 percent for factor X, Multiply-
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ties and utility lines: Camp areas are subject to heavy
foot traffic and some vehicular traffic. The best soils for
this use have mild slopes arid are not wet or subject to
flooding during :the period of use. The surface has few or
no stones or boulders, absorbs rainfal readily but re-
maing firm, and is not dusty when dry. Strong slopes and
stories or boulders can greatly increase the cost of con-
structing camping sites. :

Picnic areas are subject to heawy foot traffic. Most
vehicular fraffic is confined to access roads and parking
greas. The best soils for use as picnic areas are firm
when wet, are not dusty when dry, are not subject to
flooding -during the period of use, and do not have
slopes or stones or boulders that will increase the cost
of shaping sites or of building access roads arid parking
areas. : o . : '

Playgrounds require soils that can withstand intensive
foot traffic. The best soils are almost level and are not
wet or subject to flooding during the season of use, The
surface is free of stones or boulders, is firm after rains,
and i& not dusty when dry. if shaping is required to
obtain a uniform grade, the depth of the soil over bed-
rock or hardpan should be enough to allow necessary

grading. . o
. Paths and trails for walking, horseback riding, bicy-
cling, and other uses should require little or no cutting
and filling: The best soils for this use are those that are
not wet, are firm after rairis, are not dusty when dry, and
are not' subject to flooding more than once during the
annual period of use, They should have moderate slopes
and have few or ro stones or boulders on the surface.
Engineering
'This section provides information about the use of
soils for building sites, sanitary facilities, construction ma-
- terial, and water management. Among those who can
benefit from this information are engineers, landowners,
community planners, town and city managers, land de-
velopers, builders, contractors, and farmers and ranch-
ers. ‘

- The ratings in the engineering tables are based on test
data and estimated data in the “Soil properties” section.
The ratings were determired jointly by soil scientists and
engineers of the Soit Conservation Service using known
relationships: betwean the soil properties and the behav-
ior of soils in various engineering uses.

- Among tha soil properties and site conditions identified
by a soil survey and used in determining the ratings in
this section were grain-size distribution, liquid Hmit, plas-
ticity index, soil reaction, depth to bedrock, hardness of
bedrock that is within 5 or 6 feet of the surface, soil
wetness, depth 10 a seasonal high water table, slope,
likelihood of flooding, natural soil structure or aggrega-
tion, in-place soil density, and geologic origin of the soil
matarial.. Where pettinent, data about kinds of clay. min-
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erals, mineratogy: of the sand and silt fractions, and the
kind of absorbed cations wera also considered. o
On the basis of information assembled about soil prop- -
erties, ranges of values can ba estimated for erodibility,
permeabllity, corrosivity, shrink-swell potential, availablé
water capacily, shear strength, compressiblility, slope sta-
bility, and other factors of expected goil behavior in engi--
neering uses. As-appropriate, these ‘values can be ap- .
plied to @ach major horizon of each soil or to the entire :
profile. - : o o
These factors of goil behavior affect: construction and
maintenanca of roads, airport runways, pipelines, founda- .
tions for small buildings, ponds and small dams, irrigation
projects, drainage systems, sewage and rafuse disposal .
systems, and other engineering works. The ranges of
values can be used to (1) select potential residential,
commarcial, industrial, and recreational uses; (2) make
preliminary estimates pertinent to construction in & par-
ticular ares; (3) evaluate alternative routes for roads,”
streets, highways, pipsiines, and undarground cables; (4)
evaluate alternative sites for location of sanitary landfills,
onsite sewage disposal systems, and other waste dis-. -
posal facilities; (5) plan detailed onsite investigations of
solls and geology: (B) find sources of gravel, sand, clay,
and topsoil; (7) plan farm drainage ' systems, . irrigation
systems, ponds, terraces, and other structures for soil
and water conservation; (8) relate parformance of atruc-
tures already. built to the- properties of the kinds of soil
on which they are built so that performance of sirilar
structures on the same or a similar soil in other locations

can be predicted; and (9) predict the trafficability of soils -

for cross-country movement of vehicles and construction .
eguipment. H . BT
Daia presented in this section are useful for land-use
planning and for choosing afternative practices or gener-
al aeslgns that will overcome unfavorable soil properties
and minimize soil-related failures. Limitations to the use
of these data, however, should be well understood, First,
the data are generally not presented™far’ soil. material

below g depth of 5 or 6 feet Also, becaut® of the scale

of the detailed map in this soil survey, smail areas of
soils that differ from the dominant soil may be included

in mapping. Thus, these data do not efiminate the need =

for onsite investigations, testing, and analysis by person- ‘.
nel having expertise in the specific use contemplated,

The information is preésenied mainly in tables. Table 7 - -

shows, for each kind of soil, the degree and kind of -
limitations for building site development; table 8, for sani- -

tary facilities; and table 10, for water. managernent. Table -

9 shows the suitability of esch kind of soil as a source of
construction materials. . o :
The information in the tablas, along with the zoil map,
the soil descriptions, and other data provided in this
survey, can be used to make additional interpretations
iEma‘:i 1o construct interpretive maps for specific uses of

and. Co ‘
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. Some of the terms used in this soil survey have a
- special meaning in soil scierce. Many of these terms are

. defined.in the Glossary.

- Bullding site development

- The dagree and kind of soil limitations that affect shal-
. low excavaiions, dwellings with and without basements,
- small commercial bulidings, and local roads and strests
are indicated in table 7. A slght limitation indicates that
- 50l properties generally are favorable for tha specified
_use; any limitation is minor and easily overcome. A meod-
erate limitation indicates that soil properties and site fea-

‘ning and design. A severe limitation indicates that ons or
%, ‘more soil properties. or site features are $o unfavorable
® . or difficult to overcome that g major increase in con-
" struction effort, special design, or intensive maintenance
5. required. . For some :sofls rated severe, such costly
measures may nat be feasible.
;. Shallow excavations are ‘made for pipelines, sewer-
@ lines, communications and power transmission lines,
- basements, and open ditches. Such digging or trenching
‘is influenced by soil wetness caused by a seasonal high
water table; the texture and consistence of soils; the
. -tendency of soils to cave in or slough; and the preasence
-~ of very firm, ‘dense soil layers, bedrock, or large stones.
. In addition, excavatioris are affected by siope of the soil
“.and the probability of flooding, Ratings do not apply to
soif horizong below a depth of 6 feet unless otherwise
- noted. ‘

In:the soil series descriptions, the consistence of each
v 80l horizon is given, and the pregsence of very firm or
i extremely firm horizons, usually difficult to excavate, iz
¢ indicated, | : - -
- Dwellings and small commercial bulldings referred to
i+ intable 7 are built on undisturbed sofl and have founda-
i tion loads of a dwelling no more than threa stories high.
h - Separate ratings dre made for small commercial build-
1" ings without basemarits and for dwellings with and with-
i out basemenits. For such structures, solls should be suffi-
¢ ciently stable that cracking or subsidence of the struc-
i ture from setiling or shear failure of the foundation does
¢ not occur. These ratings were determined from est-
. mates of the shear strength, compressibility, and shrink-
+ - swell potential of the soil. Soil texture, plasti¢ity and in-
. Place density, potential frost- action, soil wetness, and
. .depth to a seasonal high water table ware also consid-
i ered. Soil wetneds and depth to a seasonal high water
¢ table indicate potential difficulty. in providing adequate
" drainage for basernents, lawns, and gardens, Depth to
‘. bedrock, slops, and large stones in or on the sojl ara
© also important considerations in the choice of sites for
these structures and were cansidsred in determining the
ratings. Susceptibility to flooding it a serious hazard.

tures are unfavorable for the specified use, but the limi-. .
tations: ¢an. be overcome or minimized by special plan-
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Locsl roads and streets referred ta in table 7 have an

all-weather surface that can carry light to medium traffic

all year, They consist of a subgrade of the undérlving -
soil material; a bage of gravel, crushed rock fragmenits,

or -soil material stabilized with lime o éément: and a
flexible or rigid surface, commonly asphalt or concrete.
The roads are graded with soil materil at hand, and

most cuts and fils are less than 6 feet déép. =
The load supporting capacity and thé stability of the
soil as well as the quantity and workebility of fill material
available are important in. design and construction of
roads and streets. The classifications of the soil and the
soil texture, density, shrink-swell poteritial, and potential
frost action are indicators of the traffic supporting capac-
ity used in making the ratings. Soil weiness, flooding,
slope, depth to hard rock or very compact laysrs, and’
content of large stones affect stability and esse of exca-
vation. : -

Sanitary facilities

Favorable soif propertiés and site features are needed
for proper functioning of septic tank absorption fields,
sewage lagoons, and satitary landfills. The nature of the
soil is important in selecting sites for these facilities and -
In identifying limiting soil properties and site features to
be considered in design and installation. Also, those soil
properties that affect ease of excavation or installatiors of
these facilities will be of interest to contractors and local
officials. Table 8 shows the degree and kind of limita-
tions of each soil for such uses and for use of the sgil as
daily cover for landfills. It is important to observe locai
ordinances and regulations. . ‘ Do

If the degree of soil fimitation is expressed as sfhght,
soils are generally favorable for the specified use and
fimitations are minor and easily overcome; if moderate,
soil properties or site features are unfavorable for the
specified use, but limitations can be overcomea by special
planning and design; and if severe, s0il properties or site
fealures are so unfavorable or difficult to oviercome that
major soil reclamation, special designs, or :intensive
maintenance is required. Soil suitability is rated by the
terms’ good, fair, or poor, which, respectively, mean
about the seme as the terms sfight modgrate, and
severe. : ‘ T

Seplic tank absorption flelds are subsurface systems
of tile or perforated pipe that distribute effluent from a
septic tank into the natural soil. Only the soil horirons
betwean depths of I8 and 72 inches are evaluated for .
this use. The suil properties and slte features considered
are those that affect the absorption of the effluent and
those that affect the construction of the sygiem. .

Properties and features  that affect abscrption . of the
effiuent are permeability, depth to seagonal high water
table, depth to bedrock, and susceptibility to flooding.
Stories, boulders, and shallowness to bedrock interfers
with installation. Excessive siope can cause lateral sgep-
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~ age and surfacing of the effllient. Also, soil erosion and
s0il slippage aré hazards if absorption fields are installed
on sloping soils, . .

. In. some seils, loose sand and gravel or fractured bed-
rock is less than 4 feet below the tile lines. In these soils

the absorption field does not adequately fiter the efflu-

-~ ent, and ground water in the area may be contaminated.

On many of the soils that have moderate or severe
limitations  for-use as septic tank absorption fields, a
system to lower the seasonal water table can be in-
stalled or the size of the absorption field can be in-
creased so-that performance is satisfactory. :
- Sewage /agoonts are shallow ponds constructed to
hold sewage while asrobic bacterig decompose the solid
and liquid wastes. Lagoons have a nearly level floor and
cut slopes: or embankments of compacted soil material,
Aerobic lagoons genarally are desigred to hold sewage

© o within a depth of 2 to 5 feet. Nearly impervious soil

material for the jagoon floor and sides is required to
minimize seepage and contamination of ground water.
Solls: that are vary high in content of organic matter and
those that have “cobbles, stones, or -boulders are not
suitable. Unless the soil has very slow permeability, con-
tammination of ground water is a hazard where the sea-
~ sonal high water tabie is abova the level of the lagoon
floor. In soils whare the water table is seasonally high,
seepagé of ground water into the lagoon can seriously
| reduce the lagoon's capacity for liquid waste. Slope,
depth to bediock, and susceptibility to flooding aiso
affect the suitability of sites for sewage lagoons or the
oSt of construction. Shear strength and permeability of
- compacted soil material affect the performance of em-
bankments, . '
" Sanitary lahdfif is.a method of disposing of solid waste

" by plaging réfuse in successive layers either in excavat-

.. ed trenches or'on the aurface of the soil. The waste is
~* spread, compacted, and covered daily with a thin layer
- of 's0il material. Landfil areas are subject to heavy ve-

- ‘hicular traffle. Risk of polluting ground water. and traffica-
-hility affect the sultability of a soil for this use. The bast .

-80ils have a Ipamy or silty texture, have moderate io
slow permeability, are deep to a seasonal water tabie,
and afe not subject to flooding. Clayey soils are likely to
. be sticky and difficult to spread. Sandy or gravelly soils
generally have rapid perreability, which might allow naox-
jous liquids 1o contaminate ground water. Soil weatness
- ¢an be a fimitation, because operating -heavy equipment
o a wet soil is difficult. 3eepage into the refuse in-

o creases the risk of pollution of ground water.

- Ease of excavation affects the suitahility of a goil for
. the tranch type of landfil. A suitable soil is deep to
bedroek and.free. of large stones and boulders. If the
- Seasonal waier table ig high, watar will Seep into tranch-
e, ‘ o . : ‘
+Unless otherwize stated, the limitations. in table 8
. apply only to the soil materal within a depth of about &
- feet. If the trench is deeper, a fimitation of slight or
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moderate may not be valid: Site fnvestig'atipn is noaded

before a site is selasted. ‘ o -
Dgjly cover for landfil should be soil that is easy to

excavate and spread over the compacted fill in wet and
dry periods. Soils that are loamy or silty and free of-.

stones or boulders are betier than other soils. Clayey

soils may be sticky and difficult to spread; sandy soils

may be subject to soil blowing.

The suils selected for final cover of landfills should'be .
Suitable for growing plants. Of all the ‘hofizons, the A

horizon in most soils has the best workability, more or-

ganic matter, and the best potential for growing plants, =
Thus, for either the area- or trench-type laridfill, stockpil-

ing material from the A hotizon for use as the surfage
. layer of the final cover is desirable. L
Where it is necessary to bring in soil material for daily .

or final cover, thickness of suitable soil material avaiiable

and depth 10 a seasonal high water table in’ soils" sur--

rounding the sites should be evaluated, Other factors to

be evaluated are those that affect reclamation of the -
borrow aress. These factars include slope, erodibility,

and potential for plant growth.

Construction matérials ‘
The suitabilty of each soif as & source of roadtil,

sand, gravel, and topsoil is indicated in tabla © by ratings

of good, fair, or poor. The texture, thickness, and organ- ¢

ic-matter contant of each soil horizon are-important fac-
tors in rating soils for use as construction materials.

Each soil is evaiuated to the depth observed, generally =

about 6 feet.

Roadfill is. soil meaterial. used in’ embankments for

roads, Sails are evaluated as a source of roadfill for low
embankrents, which generally are less than 8 feet high
and less exacting in design than high embankments. The
ratings reflect the ease of excavating and working the
material and the expected performance of the material
where it has been compacted and adequately drained;

The performance of soil after it is stabilized with lime or =
cement is not considered in the ratings, but information -
abiout some of the soil properties that ‘influence siuch
performance is given in the descriptioris of the soil

serieg,

The ratings apply to the soil material between the A

horizon and a depth of 5 o 6 faet, It is. assumed that soil
horizens will be mixed’ during excavation and spraading.

Many soils have horizons of contrasting suitability within

their profite. The estimated engineering ‘ propertiés in

table 11 provide specific information shout the nature of .
each horizon. This information can’ help determine the

suitability of each horizon for roadfil. , ‘
Soils rated pood are coame grained. They have.Jow

shrink-swell potential, fow-potential frost action, and few -

cobbles and'stones. They are at least moderately well
drained and have slopes of 15 ‘pereent. or less. Soils
rated fair have a plasticity index of joss than 15 and
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- have other limiting features, such as moderate shrink-
' swell potential, moderately steep slopes, wetness, or
+ - many stones. If the thickness of suitable material is less

" than 3 feet; the entire soil is rated poor.

- Sand and grave/ are used in great quantities in many

- kinds of construction. The ratings in table 8 provide guid-
. ance as to where to look for probable sources and are
based on the probability that soils in a given area con-
tain sizable guantities of sand. or gravel. A soil rated
. good or fair has a layer of suitabla material at least 3
* feet thick, the top of which is within a depth of & feet.
- Cuarge fragments of soft bedrock material, such as
. shale and siltstone, are not considared to be sand and
¢ gravel, Fine-grained soils aré not suitable sources of
sand and gravel. . = ‘
. The rafings do not take into account depth to the
water tabla or other factors that affect excavation of the
~material. Descriptions of grain size, kinds of mirierals,
* reaction, and stratification are given in the soil series
descriptions and in table 11.
- Topsoil is used in areas where vegetation is to be
- established and maintained. Suitability is affected mainly
by the ease of working and spreading the soil material in
preparing a seedbed and by the ability of the soil materi-
al-to support plantiife. Also considered is the damage
that can result at the area from which the topsoil is
taken. . ‘ ‘ : .
. The ease’ of excavation is influenced by the thickness
~of suitable material, watness, slope, and amount of
. stones. The ability of the soil to support plantlife is deter-
mined- by texture, structure, and the amount of soluble
--galts or toxic' substances. Organic matter in the A1 or Ap
- harizon' greatly increases the absorption and retention of
. moisturé and nutrients. Therefore, the soil material from

these horizons should be carefully preserved for later
. Use. ‘ S : ' i
. Soils rated . good have at least 16 inches of frigble
. loamy material at their surface. They are free of stones
. and cobbles, are low in ¢ontent of gravel, and have
- gentle slopes. They are low in soluble salts that can limit
- or prevent plant: growth. They are naturally fertile or
- raspond well 1o fertilizer. They are not so wet that exca-
+ vation is difficult during most of the year.
Boils rated fair are loose sandy soils or firm loamy or
- clayey soils in which the suitable material is only 8 to 18
- inches' thick or =oils that have appreciable amounts of
. gravel, stones, or soluble salt. :
‘Soils rated ‘poor are very sandy soils and very firm
: clayey soils; soils with suitable layers less than 8 inches
. thick; soils having large amounts of gravel, stones, or
i - -soluble salt; steep soils; and poorly drained soils.
i Although a rating of good iz not based entirely on high
_content of organic matter, a surface horizon is genarally
- prefarred for topsoil because of its organic-matter gon-
tent. This horizon is designated as A1 or Ap in the soil
sories descriptions. The absorption and retention of
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moisture and. nutrients for plant growth are gréatly in-
creased by organic matter,. - . . .

Water management ‘
Many soil properties and site features that affect water

managemert practices’ have been identified in this soil

survay. In table 10 soil and site features that affect use
are indicated for each kind of soil. This information is
significant in planning, installing, and maintaining. water.
control structures. o .

Pond reservoir areas huld water behfnd a dam or em- -

bankment. Soils best suited to this use have a low seep-
age potential; which is determined by pérmeability. and
the depth to fractured or permeable bedrock or other
permeabls material. . , L
Embankments, dikes, and levees require goil material
that is resistant to seepage, erosion, and piping and has
favorable stability, shrink-swell potential, sheéar strangth,
and compaction characteristics. Large stones and organ-
ic matter in a soil downgrade the suitability of a soil for -
use in embankments, dikes, and levess, . o
Drainage of soil is affectéd by such soil properties as:
permeability; texture; depth to bedrock, hardpan, or othar
layers that affect the rate of water movement; depth to
the water table; slope; stability of ditchibanks; susceptibil-
ity to flooding; salinity and alkalinity; and avaifability of
outlets for drainage. R
Imigation is affected by such features as glope, sus-.
ceplibility to flooding, hazards of water erosion and soil
blowing, texture, presence of salts and alkali; depth of
root zone, rate of water intake at the surface, permeabil-
ity of the soil below the surface layer, available water
capacity, need for drainags, and depth to:the water
table. S C -
Terraces and diversions are embankments or & combi-
nation of channels and ridges constructed across a
slope to intercept runoff. They allow watef to soak into

the soil or flow slowly to an outlat. Featurés that affect’

suitability of & soil for terrdces are uniformity and steap-
ness of slope; dapth to bedrogk, hardpan, or other unfa-
vorable materigl;-large stones; permegbility; ease of es-
tablishing vegetation; -and resistance to water erosion,”
soil blowing. soil slipping, and piping. S

Grassed waterways are oconstructed to channel rurioff
to outlets at a nonerosive velocity. Features that affect
the use of soils for waterways are slope, permeability,
erodibility, wetness, and suitability for permanent vegeta-
tion. ‘ : . o

Soil properties

Extensiva data about soil propeities are summarized
on the following pages: The two main sources of these
data are the many thousands of soil borings made during
the course of the survey and the laboratory analyses of
selected soil samples from typical profiles. ‘
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Cation-exchange capacity. The total amount of éx-

- changeable cations that can be held by the soil,

expressed in terms of millieguivalents per 100 grams

'of sail at neutrality (pH 7.0) or at some other stated

pH value, The term, as applied to 50ils, i3 synony-

mous with base-exchange capacity, but is more pre-
cise in meaning.

Chigeling. Tillage with an implement having one or more
soll-penétrating points that loosen the subsoil and
bring clods to the surface. A form of emergency
tillage 1o control soil blowing, ‘

Clay. As a soil separate, the mineral soil particles less

- than 0.002 millimeter in diametsr. As a soil textural
class, soil material that is 40 percent or more clay,
less than 45 percent sand, and less than 40 percent
silt. - ' ‘

Clay film. A thin coafing of oriented clay on the surface
of a soil aggregate or lining pores or root channels.

~ Synonyms:- clay coat, clay skin.

Claypan. A-slowly permeable soil horizon that containg

. much more clay than the horizons above it A clay-
pan-is commenly hard when dry and plastic or stiff
.. when wet, . . o

Coarse fragments. Mineral. or rock particles up to 3

. inches (2 millimeters to 7.5 centimeters) in diameter.

Coarse ‘textured (light textured) soil, Sand or loamy
gsand. : ' ‘

Cobblastone (or cobble)., A rounded or partly rounded

- fragment of rock 3 to 10 inches (7.5 to' 25 centi-
meters} in diameter, .

Colluvium. Soil material, rock fragments, or both moved

. by creep, slide, or local wash and deposited at the

- bases of steep slopes.

Compiex slope. Iregular or variable slope. Planning or

- consttucting. teraces, diversions, and other water-
control measuraes is difficult.

Complex,. soit, A mapping unit of two or more kinds of
soil occurring in. such an intricate pattern that they
cannot be shown separately on a soil map at the
selected scale of mapping and publication.

Compressible. Excessive decrease in volume of soft

- soil under load. ‘ . ‘

Concretions. Grains, pellets, or nodules of various
sizes, shapes, and colors consisting of concentrated
compounds or cementad soil grains. The composi-
tion of most concretions is uniike that of the sur-

- rounding soil. Caleium carbonate and iron oxide are
commen .compounds in concretions.

Consistence, soil. The feel of the soil and the ease with
which a lump can be crushed by the fingers. Terms

- commonly used to describe consistence are—

- Loosa.—Noneohaerent when dry or moist; does not
~hold together in a mass. -
Frighle.—When moist, crushes easily under gentle
pressure betwsen thumb and forefinger and can be
pressed together into a lump.
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Firm.—When moist, crushes: under moderate pres.
sure between thumb and forefinger, but resistance is

distinctly noticeable, ‘ . S
Plastic,—When wet, readily deformed’ by moderate
pressure but can be. pressed inte a lump; will form g
“wire” when rolled betwaen thumb and forefinger.
Sticky.—When wet, adheres to other material and
tends to stretch somewhat and pulf apart rather than
to puil free from other material. ‘

- Hard—When dry, moderately resistant to pressure; . |
can be broken with difficuity between thumb and . .|

forefinger. .

Soft—When dry, breaks into powder or individual

graing under very slight pressure. =~
Cemented.—Hard, [ittle affected by moistening,

Contral section. The part of the sail on which classifica- -
tion is-based. The thickness vares ariong different.

kinds of soil, but for many it is 40 or 80 inches {1 or
2 meters). . :

Corrosive. High risk of corrosion to uncoated stee! or . §

. deterioration of concrate. . ,
Cover crop. A close-growing crop grown primarily to
improve and protect the soil between periods of

- regular crop production, or a crop’ grown between -

trees and vines in orchards and vineyards. .

Cuthanks cave. Uristable walls of cuts made by earth-

moving equiprient. The soil sloughs easily.

Decreasers. The most heavily grazed climax range.

planis. Because they are the most palatable, they
are the first to be destroyed by overgrazing.

Deferred grazing. A delay in grazing until rangéf‘plaﬁts:
have reached a specified stage of growth. Grazing is.

deferred in order to increase the vigor of forage and

to allow desirable plants to produce seed. Contrasts.  §

with conlinuous grazing and rotation grazing. ‘
Depth to rock. Bedrock at a depth that adversely af-
fects the specified use. - -

Diversion (or diversion terrace). A ridge,bf earth, gen- -

erally a terrace, built to protect downslope areas by

diverting runoff from it natural course. o
Drainage class (natural). Refers to the frequency and

duration of periods of saturation or partial saturation

during. soil formation, as opposed to altered drain- -

age, which is commonly the result of artificial drain-
age or irrigation but may be caused by the sudden

deepening of channels or the hiocking of drainage

outlats. Seven classes of natural soil drainage are
recognized: o . ‘
Excessively drained—Water is removed from the
soil very rapidly. Excessively drained soils are com-

monly very coarse. textured, rocky, or shallow. Some
are steep. All are free of the motting related to

wethass.

Somewhat excessively drained—-Water is remeved )
from the soil rapidly. Many somewhat axcessively .
drained soils are sandy and rapidly pervious, Soma
are shallow. Some are so steap that much of the -
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water they receive is lost as runoff. All are free of
the mottling related to wetness. ‘

Well drained.-~Water is removed from the soif readi-
ly, but not rapidly, [t is available to plants throughout
most of the growing season, and wetness does not

-inkibit growth of roots for significant periods during
muost growing seasons. Well drainad soils are com-
monly medium iexiured. They are mainly free of
~mattling.

. Moderately welf drained. —Water is removed from

" the soil somawhat slowly during some periods. Mod-
erdtely well drained soils are wet for only a short
time: during the growing season, but periodically for
long. anough that mast mazophytic crops are affect-

- ed, They commonly have a slowly pervious layer
~ within or directly below the solum, or pariodically

. receive high rainfall, or both.

Someawhat poorly drained.—Watér is removed slowly
anough that the soil is wet for significant periods
during the growing season. Wetriess markedly re-

- siricts the growth of mesophytic crops unless artifi-
. cial drainage is provided. Somewhat poorly drained
s0ils commonly have a slowly pervious layer, a high
water table, additional water from sespage, nearly
‘continuous rainfall, or a combination of these.

. Poorly drained.—Water. is removed so ‘slowly that
the soil is saturated periodically during the growing
£2AS0N Or ramains wet for long periods. Free water

- Is commonly at or near the surface for long enough
during the growing season that most mesophytic

. orops cannot be grown unless the soil is artificially

. drained. The soil is not continuously saturated in
layers. directly below plow depth. Poor drainage re-
‘sults from a high water table, a slowly pervious layer
within the profile, seepage, nearly continuous rain-
fall, or a combination of these.

" Very poorly drained.—Water is removed from the
soil so-slowly that free water remains at or on the
‘surface during most of the growing season. Unless

- the soil ig artificially drained, most mesophytic crops
cannot be grown. Vety poorly drained soils are com-
monly lavel or depressed and are frequently
ponded. Yet, where rainfall is high and nearly con-
tinuous, they can have modarate or high slope gradi-
ants, i for example in “hlilpeats and “climatic
moors.”

Dralnage nurfane. Runoff, or surface flow of water,
from an area.

_Eluviation. The movement of material in true solution or
-colloidal suspension from one place to another
within the soil. Soil horizons that have lost material
through eluviation are eluvial; those that have re-

- ceived matarial are illuvial.

~ Erosion. The wearing away of the land surface by run-

. . ning water, wind, ice, or other gaologic agents and
by such processes as gravitational creep.
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Erosion (geolagic). Erosion caused by geologic proc- -
esses acting over long geologic periods and result-
ing in the wearing away of mountains and the build-
ing up of such landscape fealures as flood plains
and coastal plaine. Synonym: natural erogion. ‘
Erosion (accelerated). Erosion much more rapid
than. gaofngm arpsion, mamly as a result of the ac-
tiviles of man or other animals or of a catastrophe
in nature, for e;cample fire, that exposes a bare‘ '
surface. j
Excess fines. Excess gt and clay. The acul does not
provide a source of gravel or sand for. constructmn‘
purposes.
Excess lime. Excass carbonates. Excessive carbonates.
or lima, restrict the growth of some plants. L
Fallow. Cropiand left idle in order to restore productivity. .
through accuiriulation of moisiure. Summer fallow is
comimon’ in regions of limited rainfall where- cereal
graing are grown. The soil is tilled for at least one
growing season for weed controi and dECOITIpOEItIDn
of plant residus. -
Fast intake. Thee rapid movement of water into. the sotl
Favorable. Favorable soil features for the specrf‘ed use.
Fertility, soll. The quallty that: enables a soil to provide.
plant nutrients, in adequate amourts and in proper
balance, for the growth of specified plants when
light, maisture, temperature, tith;, and other grcwm .
factors are favorabla. '
Field moisture capacity. The muusture content of a soll, .
exprasced as a percentage of the ovendry waight, -
- after ‘the gravitational, or free, water has drained .
away; the field moisture content 2 or 3 days after a
soaking raim; also called rormal field capacily, .
normal moisture capaciy, or caprllaqr capacity. ,
Fine textured (heavy textured) soil. Sandy. c.iay, Slﬂy‘
clay, and clay. '
First bottam. The normal ﬂood plain oi a strearn sub— :
ject to frequent or occasional flooding. . ‘
Fleoding. The temporary. cavering of soul with water'
from overflowing streams, runoff from  adjacent .
slopes, and tides. Frequency, duration, and. .probable
dates of occurrence are estimated. Frequency is
expressed as none, rare, occasional, and frequent.
None means that floodlng is not pmbable rare that
it is unlikely but possible under unusual weather
conditions; occasional that it dccurs on-an average
of orice or.less in’ 2 years; and frequent that it
occurs on-an average of more than once in 2 years.
Duration Is expressed as very brief.if less than 2
days, brief if 2 to 7 days, and fong if more than 7,
days. Probable dates are expressed in: monihs; No-
vember-May, for example, means that flooding cav
occur. during the period November through May.
Water standing for short periods - after rainfall of
commonly covering swamps and marshes i3 rf'%‘ ,
considered ﬂoodmg :
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Pan. A compact, dense layer in a soil. A pan impedes
the movement of water and the growth of roots. The
word “pan” is commonly combined with other words
that more explicitly indicate the nature of the layer;
for example, fardpan, fragipan, claypan, plowpan,

‘ and fraffic pan. ‘

Parent material. The great variety of unconsolidated

- organic- and mineral’ material in which soil forms,
- Consolidated bedrock is not yet parent meterial by
‘this concept. -~ '

Ped. An individual natural soil aggregate, such as a gran-
ule, a priesm, or a block.

Pedon, The smallest volume that can be called "a soil.”

- A pedon is three dimensional and large enough to
permit study of all horizons. Its area ranges from
about 10 to 100 square feet (1 square meter to 10

~ -squars ‘meters), depending on the varighility of the

o osoil. L

Percolation. The downward mavement of water through
-the soil. , ‘ ‘

- Percs slowly. The slow movement of water through the

- soil adversely affacting the specified use.

- Permeability. The quality that enables the soil to trans-

- miit water or air, ' measured as the number of inches
per hour that water moves through the soil. Terms
describing permeability are very slow (less than 0.08
inch), slow (0.06 to 0.20 inch), moderately siow (0.2
10 0.6 inch), moderate (0.6 to 2.0 inches), moderate

My rapid (2.0 to 6.0 inches), rapid (8.0 1o 20 inches),

. and very rapid (more than 20 inches).

Phase, soil. A subdivision of a soil series ar other unit in

- the soil classification system based on differences in
the soil that affect its management. A soil series, for

- example, may be divided into phases on the bases

- of differenices in slope, stoniness, thickness, or

- somae other characteristic that affects management.
- These differences are too small to justify separate

. series. ‘

_ . PH value. (See Reaction, soil). A umerical designation

. of acidity and alkalinity in soil.

Piping. Moving water ‘of subsuiface tunnels or pipelike

- ‘cavities in the sail.

Plagticity index. The numerical difference betwean the
fiquid limit and the plastic limit; the range of maisture

.. cortent within which the soil remains plastic.

Plastic limit. The moisture content at which a sofl

‘ chariges from a semisolid to a plastic state. ‘

Plowpan. A compacted layer formed in the soil diractly

-, below the plowed layer. : ‘

Palypedon. A volume of soil having properties within the

‘ limits of a soil sefies, the lowest and most homoge-
~heous category of soil taxonomy. A “zoil individual.”

Poorly graded. Refers to soil materiai consisting mainly

- of particles of nearly the same size. Because there
is little difference in size of the particles, density can
be increaged only slightly by compaction,
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Productivity (soil). The capability of a soil for producing.

a specified plant or sequence. of plants under a
specified system- of management. Productivity is.

~ measured in terms of output, or harvest, in relation ;

Profile, soll. A vertical section of the soil extending

Range (or rangeland). Land that, for the most psrt, -

Range condition. The health or productivity of forage '

Range site. An area of range where climate, soil, and

Reaction, soil. The degree of acidity or alkalinity of a

Regolith. The unconsolidated mantle of weatherad rock

Relj

Res

RilL.

Rock fragments. Rock or mineral fragments. having a

to input. ‘ i
through all its horizons and into the parent matarial.

i
N
produces native piants suitable for grazing by live- |
stock; includes land supporting some forest trees.

plants ‘on a given range, in terms of the potential |
productivity under normal climate and the best prac-
tical management. Condition ¢lasses genarally rec-
ognized are—exceflert, good, -falr, and poor. The -
classification is based on the percentage of original,
or assumed climax vegetation on a site, as com- 3§
pared to what hads' been observed to grow on it
when well tanaged, R

relief .are sufficiently uniform to produce &' distinct
kind and amount of native vegetation.

soll, expressed in pH values. A soil that tests to pH
7.0 is described as precisely neutral in reaction be-
cause. it is neither acid nor alkaline. The degree of
acidity or alkalinity iz expressed as— ' .

_PH
Extrarmely acid ines BEIOW 4.5
Yary strongly acid....... e 4.5 10 5.0
Strongly acid.. w8110 8.5
Medium aeid....... 5610 6.0
Slightly acld 6.1 1o 4.5
NEUIAL...... oveesssrsrsssmasssssssse e sreersassss sssses 661070
Milchy SIElING. s rrerarsinnesa 7.4 10 7.8
Méoderately alkaline 781084
Strongly alkaline:. . ; 8.5 10 9.0
Vary stronaly alkaling..... oo 8.1 and highar

and soil material on the earth’s surface; the loose’
earth material above the' solid rock. Soil scientists
regard as soil only the part of the regolith that is
modified by organisms.and other soil-building forces, -
Most engineers describe the whole regolith, even to-
a great depth, as "seil” o

of. The elevations or inequaliies of a land surface,
considerad. collectively. o
lduumn (residual soll material). Uncorisolidated,
waathered, or partly weathered mineral material that
accumulates over disintegrating rock. . L
A steep sided channel resutting from. acceleratad
arosion. A fifl is generally a few inches deep and not
wids snough to be an obstacle to farm machinery.

diameter of 2 millimeters or more; for éxample, peb-
bles, cobbles, stones, and boulders.. : ‘



9167271727 MICHAEL GARAEEDIAM

11/21/2911  13:31 PAGE 23

PLACER GOUNTY, CALIFORNIA, WESTERN PART -

TABLE 7.-=BUILRING SITE DEVELGPMENT

[9ome terms that deseribe restrictive zoll features are defined ih the Glossary. See text far definifiowe =2
"glight," "moderate,” and "severe." Absence of an entry indicates that the s0il was not rated]

Seil name and

depth to rock. dopth to rock.

: : T | B
i dhallow ! Dwellings i Dwellings ! | &mall ! Logal roads
map. symhol ! excavations | without H with | commeraial i and straets
: : : ' bazements } bhazemenbs ] buildings o o
L 1 T []
| : | i ': |
T00+——————— e | Modarate: iModerate: 1Severe: {Maoderate: |Beverd:
Alken i too elayey. | shrink-zwell, P Jdow strength. i slope, | low strength. -
5 | low strength. i | ahrink=zwell, 1
: E E E low strengbh. !
. . ] . 1 1 1 |
10 mmmmmmmme e —mwwn (Moderate: {Moderate: {Gevere: 1Severe: iSQVQFQ: o
Aflzen i too alayey, } slope, ! low strength. | slope. i low strengkh. .
| mlope. | shrink=swell, ] e | : :
j | low strength. i ! ]
1 1 r t
[} 1 1 [ t
102mw s mmmm= {Moderabsa: IModerate: 1evere: I'Severe: |3avere:
Adken | koo elayey, | slepe, ! lew atrength. i =lope. | low strengbh.
| large stonesz, i shrink-swell, 1 ‘ I ! ‘
| slope. i low strength. ' | '
. . ] 1 1 ]
1 1 1 I
10Tt [Bevere: iGevera: i Bevere: 1Gevere: |Savare:
Aiken | slope. i slope. | slope, i slopa. i alope,
; E E low ztrength. i : | low strength.
1 B
. 1 T ! i
104%; ! | i ] i :
Alamo-——ssm s |Severa: TSevers: |Severe: 8gvare: |Bevere:
‘ ‘ © 1 Wetness, | wetness, | wekneasz, | wetness, | wetness,
! too elayey, . | floods, | Tloods, i Tloods, . | low strangth,
i floods. E shrink-guell. i shrink-swell. | shrink-swell. ! shrink-awall.
1 ]
. 1 1 . 1 !
Fiddymente=m=mwue- iModerake: iSevere: | Severe: |Severe: iSevere: )
. . | depth to rock, | shrink-swell. ] shrink=swell. ] shrink=suell. ! low strength,
i cemented pan, ! i i ’ ! shrink-awell.
E too clayey. E N ] i ‘
: i i ] i t
L ~--i3evere: jSevere: {Severe iBevere: Saveret s
- Alams variant i wetnems, | waetnezg, | wetness, | =lope, ! shrdink-swell,
C | too clayey. ! shrink-awell, ! shrink-zwaell, | webnezs, | low stréngth..
E : { low strenghh. i low strength. ‘ shrink-swell. i .
106———————— ————— {Moderate: 12lighkrm—ro——— wn= | Moderate: IModerate: 18lignt.
Andregg i depth to rook. E i depth to rock. 5 slope. i
. o 1 N 1
. 1 N F T [ 1
10T e —— Mbderate: lHoderate: iModerate: 1Severe: iModerate:
. Andregg | slope, . | alope. \-3lope, | slope. | slope.
: | depth to rock. ! | depth to roek. | ‘ !
‘ i : b . | 1
108wt e o = [ GEVEIET |Severe: |Severe: ISevere: |3evare:
Andregg | 8lope. | slape. | slope. t slope. "y slape.
: o i . ! | : ‘
109 e mme—re - Mol erate tMaderata:r [Mederate: 1Seveare: {Moderake:
Andregg i 2lope, ) | slape. | slape, i slope. | 5lope.
E depth teo roak. i i‘depth to roek. | H
' 1 ' 1 1 | . 1 . .
110, T1lememm—e——— |Savare: |Severe! |Severa: 'Severe: t3evere:
‘Andregg E slope. ; zlope. E slope. E slope. } slope.
. . I .
I . I i .
MEI ; b | | :
. Andregge=s-s————= iSevere: |Severe: t5evera: tSevare: iSavera:
' ‘ ! zlope. i slope. | slape. ! slope. ! slope,
i | ] i t
Roek ocuterop. { | i | i
1 t 1 I
1 ] I I
113%: ! ! ! T i
ANdrdgfmmm m———— ==Moderata: |Mederate: IModerate: iSevere: Moderatat
i slope, j slope. ! alope, | 8lope. { slope.
T | 1 i
' i ; ! 1

Sen footnote at end of table.
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. 'Roek outorgp.

.Roelk outerep.

e —————

depth to rack.

depth to rock,
too clavey.

depth to rock.

2lope.

depth to rock.

3lopa.

]
i
1
1
!
]
]
:
]
1
.
i’
1
1
:
1
1
i
}
i depth to rocu,
3
1
]
1
r
L)
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
!
1
T
!
]
i
'I
]
!
t

depth to rock

depth to rock

depth to rock.

S i i i i . i
Soil name. and | Bhalleow | bwallings ! Dwellings A Small | LlLeaal roads
‘map symbol. i . excavationsg ] without ! with | aommercial ! and streets
'1 E i hasements E bagsements ! buildings 3 .
r |I ] l 1
oo i i H i |
RS v i P i i !

- Cometgoo——mm ——— -l GEvare: |Severai [3evere: IBevera: | Severes:

. - I oo elayev. | shrink-zswell, { shrink-swell, ! shrink=-awell, i Shrinkeswell,
,i i low ztrenghkh. E low atrength. % low strength. | low strength.

N . 1 I |
" Fiddymentesaew—— IModerate: [Severa: |Severe: |Gevere: ‘ {Sevara:
oo ‘ | depth to rock, | shrink-swell. ! shrink-swell. | shrink-swall. i low strength,
-1 cemented pan, H i | ! shrink-gwell.
| too elayey. ' i ] ]
: ] H i ' !
-0 A ] | i |
ComehEe e [3evera: tSevere: {Severe: - 1Severa: | 3evorn:
. . i too elavey. | shrink-=swell, | shrink-zwaell, i shrittk-=awell, | shrink-zwell,
E E low strength. E low strength. E low strength. i low atrength.
1 1 . 1 1 1
. Ramona——romeimmea |51 ghtmm e iaa ESlight ---------- 151ight=—mmm————- 15light-——r—mme———— |51light.
. ' " ] ' 1 1
. . 1 i ) 1 1
Sl ———— ] Sy e {Severa: |Savara: |Bavapra: |Bevara:r
Dubakella } depth to rock, | slope. ! =lope, | slops. ! slope,
‘ 1 toe elayey, i depth to rock. | 1 low atrength.
! slope. ] ! ;
‘ : o i ! i
B R e L ==i{Severe: Saveret 15evere: |Bevere: 1S5evere:

. Exchaquer -1 depth to rock. depth to roeck. | depth to reck. | slepe, | depth to rock

R : 5 i depth to rosk: !

e . H 1 1

o TUE®: . ! | P , 1
©Extheguer————rwe- TSevera: Severe: |Savere: iSevera: {Severe: -
: ‘ : 5 slope, slope, | #lope, j slope, E slope,
1 i 1]
i i |
| i i
EE N IModaorate: Severe: Sevare: Severe: 4%evere:
Fiddyment 1 depth to roek, shrink=3well. shrink=swell. shrink=-swell. low strength,
| ¢emented pan, ' shrink-swell.
| toe slayey. ‘
‘ ) . i
C T % ‘ i ‘ ‘

o Fiddyment-—mwee——Moderate: Severe: Severae: Severe: Jevere:

L . } depth to rock, .ehrink-swell. ahrink-swell. shrink=-swell. low. strength,
i eemented pan, : shrink-swell.
| too alayey.

. 1

. ‘ !

" Kagebergess———ma 1Savare: Severe: Severe: Sevarat Savera:

’ | depth to rock, depth to roak, depth to rock vamentad pan,
E cemented pan. cemented pan. cemented pan. cemented pan. depth to rock

. ! I

‘lup®; ‘ H ‘ '

- Hennekewsmmm—waa |Severe: Severa: Bavere: Severet

' ' i alope, depth to rock, depth to rocuk, slope,

glope.

1
!
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
]
1
i
]
|
1
1
]
|
]
1
|
1
1
T
1
1
1
i
! depth to rook
1
|
1
1]
i
1
| .
|Severe:
i
1]
1
1
1
L)
)
i
|
1
1
]
r

13light= e IMpderate: Moderate: Modarate:
Horseshoe | ] shrink=swell, mhrink-swaell, slope, "low strengih.
’ | i low atrength. jaw atrength, shrink-swell,
‘ ‘ E E low strength. .
. : 1 1 .
B -1 R mmnm——— Satara | Severe: Jevers: Severe: Saverat
Horseshoe slope. | =lope. slope. slops. slape,,
: 1
¥
!

low sbrength.

' See fooknote at end of teble,
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o ! ] : ‘ :
B0il name and | S5hallew ] Duellings ' bDuellings ! Small |  Loeal foads
map symbol i excavations 1 without ! with H commeraial | and sfraoats
: i i hagemants ! bagements ! bulldings ! : ) ‘
i ] ] ] i
i | | ! i
15T ! ! ! b T .
HorsesRgg=mrmm-xo |Savere: {Severe: |Severa: 15evara; iSavers:
: | slope. ! slope. | mlope. | slope. | slope,
E E E ' P olow abrcngth.
1 ]
[ r 1 1
Rubbleé land. i ! ] | '
‘ ‘ ! i [ } !
152, 153wesemmnma= | Severe: iGeveret |Bevere: [ |Gevere: i
Inks .~ | slope, | slope. | slap ] | slopa,
: ! depth to roek. | ! degth to roek. I depth tnﬁrnek.
1 1 1 1 1 L
158% ': i i o ; S
Inkgesmmsmm—————=Severe: iModerate: tSevere: |Gevare }Severe* o
: | depth to rock. | slepe, ! depth be rook. | slepe. | depbh to roek.
| .| depth to rosk. | ' ! o
- ] } 1 1 ‘ T
Exshequer===m====}5avere: iGevere: ihevera: 1Serore: ISevere:
1 dapth to rock. | depth to rock. | depth %o rock. | slepe, - .1 depth Lo rock.
E E E i depth to rack..” | . |
- 1
. 1. . ] i 1 . 1
155 —summm——— ~=-=|Severe: {Bevera: |Sevare: {Bevere: |Savere:
Inks variant ! slape. | zlope. % zlope. i zlope. E alepe.
‘ LI | i : i
156%: ] ' i ! ] !
Iran. Mountaine==-=-]3evere: | S5avere: iZevere: tSovere: lSeverat
‘ . ! depth to roek, | depth to roek, | depth to rack, 1.depth to rock, | alope,
! alope. | slape. i =slope. ! slope. | depth to rock.
‘ . i | i | | ‘ :
Rock ouberop. i i ! H |
157 r——=mm——— IModerate: IModerate: Moderate: |¥Moderate: |Severe: N
Jozephine 1 too alayey. ! 1ow strength, ! low strength, ! slope, i low strengkh.
B ! ! anrink-swell. ! shrink-swell. i Low strength, i
v ] ] | shrink-swell. i
o ' . i ! i ' (- 1
L1 Tr—— e nmmms | Moderate: {Moderate: {Moderate: |Severe: Severer ‘
Josaphine ! too clavey, ! slope, ! zlope, | slope. ! low strength.
‘ 1 slope. ! "low streagth, ! low strength, i | ‘
i | shrink-awell. | shrink-swell, E ;
1 L 1 . R L)
. 1 1
159, 160===—Senamn Eseverc:‘ ichePe: |Severa: LBsveret | \Severe:
Jogaphihe | slope ! slope. i alope. | slope. | =lope,
' ; H i | ! low utrength.
N | ! ! 1 d .
1671%: 1 t t o 1
Josephlng—w==== -=!Zeveret {Sevare: |Severe: |Severe: | Savere: ‘
! glape. ! slepa. ! slope. | slape. i\ =slope,
! ‘ P : 4 | P low streﬁgth
i i | ! ]
flock ocuterop, :’ i i ';' ]I
] ]
16— ——— i e e iSevere: |Severea: |Severns: }Bevere: |Savera: )
© Kilaga ! too clayey | =hrink=swell, ! shrink-swell, ! shrink=-swell, | shfink-swell,
' ! | low strength. ! low strength. E low atrength. i low strength.
, i ) ! | i : \ S
163mmmin b m e | SEVEPEL |Severe: ISevers: 1Severea: | Savere:,
Mariposa ! 5lope. | =lape. i 2lope, i slope. i slope.
o I ! ! depth to rock. | %
o i ! i |
160%, 155%, 166%: | ! i v !
Har.j.posa---.- ------- ISovere: |Severe: (Zevere: (Severe: ISevere! .
i 8lope. ! slope. | slope, | slope. | slope.
! E i depth bo rogk. i !
‘ | i i . i | :
JDSEphiﬂQ ———————— 15avara: ISevere: 18evere: l3evere: |Beveore:
! slope | =lope. | =lope. \ zlape. | alope,. -
] | i !
! i | |

See fqotncte st end of table.
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o

TR R
R

sak buterop.

s VT Bmimmme

suarthy

e

Amdna

Erninges——m _-“L_{
|
1

eddifg—mmmmn e !

ST LES
" Riverwash

17

g¥.

18O

Rubble land

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

|

‘Reek outerop |
’ t
1

1

b

i

3

r

3

318‘

.Eﬂﬂ‘Joaquin

‘115

San Joaquin—mma-— '

L P e r—— .
B

See Toobnote at

depth to roaok,

Savere:
eutbanks eave,
Eldpe.

{511 ghtmn e mmmm e

Severe:
cemented pan.

snvere:
too clayey.

Savere:
cemented pan.

oF
L2
=]
2 .
[
ax
[
113
=g

Severe:
cemented pan.

too ¢layey.

end of table.

depth to rock.

Severe:
s2lcpe.

= %
]
=
w
o an
5
]
=
L
3
pa o
4

low strength,
shrink-swell.

law strength,
shrink-swell.

5

gverg:
ahrink-swell.

shrink-swell.

Severa:
shrink-swell,

|

1

r

|

|

1

1

)

!

|
EEeuere:
1

1

]

i

i low atrength.
[

depth to roek.

1

1

i

1

1

1

1

1

1

T

1
iSeverea:
| slepe.
i
r
r
r
]
!
|
'

15lightmmmmne e

Savere:
cemented pan,

Severe;
low atrengkh,
shrink-swell.

Jevere:
cemented pan.

Jevere:
low atrength,
shritk-zwell,

Severe:
shrink=-swell,
cemenkad pan.

Sevare:
Shrihk—swell,
catmented pan.

Severe:
shrink-swell,
low strengkh.

depth to rock.

Severe:
zlope.

]
I
'
r
1
I
1
t
I
1
t
1
1
1
1
1
[}
1
1
1
1
[}
1
1
1
)
:
1
1

1811 ghE = o mm e

iModerataz
| slope.

Severe:

e
low strength.

3evara:
shrink=swell,
low strenghh.

3lape,

zlope,
 shrink-swell,
low ztrength.

shrink-swell,
low ztirength.

R . T i i I i ‘
(Bell nmame and Shallow ! Dwellings i Dwellings I Gmall i Local roads
. map aymbal 1 excavations 1 without i with H commeraial | and streets
. o . E E basements E basaments 1 buiidinmgs i
] N T
:' ; ; ; !
ISTR, qggwsc. 4 l F ! | Severs: |
LAriposftrm———— - [ SayEre: (Severe: taevere: iSevara: iSevare:
' o | 2lepe. ! slape. | s5lope, ! Blopsa. | slope,’
E ; E depth to rock.
. i ]
Zzek eutcrep. i |
o rons s i
=Fly .. T ) I 1 :
maimen—f --------- tsavera: iSevere: devere: Severe: Jevereas
slope, i =lope, 2lape, slope, ‘ sloge, |

depth o rock.

aevere:
slope.

Ll L]
a ]
=
ta
o
a1
m
=
[
o
o
v

shrink-swell,
low atrength.

shrink-swell,
low strength.

Sovara:
shrink-awell,
low strength.

Sevara: ]
$hriﬁk—swell,
low atrength.

3avere: ' . .
shrink-awelil,
low atrength.
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161

Xerorthents |

large =tonea.

! large stones.
r
1

large stones.

large shanes.

i ‘ i ' i i .
3011 name and | ‘Shallaow i Dwveliings ! Dwellings ! Small i Lozal roads
map symhbol’ A excavations | wlthout i with 1 ‘mommercial t and streets
. I i bagements E basaments ! bulldings i :
T ]
a | | ! s
TBJmmmtm e j2llght—-—sam—- == |Moderate: ‘Moderata: IModerate: iModerate:
Siarps i | low strengkh, i low strength, ! low strength, ! low strength,
H ! shrink~swell. | shrink=swell. | shrink-swell, | shrink=-zwell.
i 1 : 1 i slope. . H
: A i i | i .
TR e mmm IModerates Mederate: Moderate: |Severe:? tModerate:
Slerra | slopa. ! Low gtrength, | low ztrength, | glope. | low atrength,
] ! shrink=swell, i shrink=swell, ! | shrink-zwell,
K | slope. f slope. i ; slope.
. [ 1 I
1B i s e e {Severe: |Severs l3cvere: ISevare: i3evere: .
Sierra. ; slape. | alope | slope. ! slape. ; slope.
1] r
. - ) 1 1 r
130 —— mmmm=Moderate: iModerate Maderate: IModerate: {Bavere:
Sites ! too clayey. I low atrenghh, ! low strength, i slope, | low strength.
! ! shrink-swell. ! shrink~zwell. | shrink=-swell, i
} ! i ! low strength. i
] | .
: 1 l 1 )
18T mmmmmmmmmmmm === [ Moderate: |Moderata: IModerate: |Sevare: {Severe:’
3ltes= -1 Slope, i slope, ! slape, | a2lepe. i low strangth.
| too clayey. | low strength, | low strengkh, | ; -
: i shrink=-swell. | shrink-zwell. i E
B 1 1
) 1 1 I ]
188, 1BQmmmme—n—aw |Sevare: i3evere: \Severe: 1Hevers: {Saverat
Sites i 3alape. | slope. i slepe. ! slape. | 3lope,
: ' ! | | ! low strangth.
‘ { 1 b | ]
190%: o | ! i i . i
Siteg-———sumnanaa 15averes 1Severa: {Severe! |Gevere: [3evere:
‘ ! slope. | slope, { glope. | slope. |..slopa,
f i i i | how Stréngih.
. H 1 i | i
" Rock ouberop. ! ! E 5 i
1 1 B
. 1 1 1 [} . 1
19w —————m Moderatea: iModerate: iModerate: {Severe: tMaderate:
Sobrante | depth to rogk, | shrink-swell, | depth to rock, | =zlope. E slepe,
| too elayey, i low strength, i slope, | i low strength,
i shope. | slope. | shrink-swell, | i shirink-swell.
1 1 [l .
r 1 ' I ] 1 .
192% wmm={BEvEre: 1Severe: iSevere: |Govara: jSevera:
Xerofluvents | too =andy, | fleeds. ! £lopd=, | flopds. ' | Floods.
‘ | Tloods. | | wetneszs. i : : H
: ' | i | | i
193%, 194¥cmmmaa~|Bavere: . |Severe: |Severe: iSevere: iSevare:
Xorofluvenis | floods, | .Floods, { fleods, | flooda, E floods.
o ’ | wetnesa. | wetnezs. | wekness. E wetness. :
t . ]
co i ] | : i
105% cimmm—— mm=ma—- | Z8vEret l3evere: 'Severa: |Severet iModerate:
Xerofluvents | flogds, | floods, | fleods, | floods, | weknesa,
‘ I webness. ! wetnass. ! wetness, ! wetness. ! floads.:
' : ! ! camented pan. 1 E
1 1 1
1 1 ; 1 1
196%. i i i i :
Yerarthents i i ; E E
I
1 1 1 1 L)
197 mmm e — e | SEV R B |Severe: }|Severe: i3evere: iSevere:
tFloods, ! flaods, | flonds, | flowds, E floods.
1 t
' | :
1 1 1

# See map unit deserlptlon for the composition and hehavier of the map unit.



o 11/21/2911 13:31

TABLE A .--5ANITARY FACILITIES-=Continuad

9167271727

' PLACER GOUNTY, CALIFORNIA, WESTERN PART

MICHAEL GARAEEDIAM

PacE 34

163

area reclaim.

. | ! ; \ T
5011 name and | Zeptic tank ! 3ewmge lagoon ! Treneh ! Arega i Daily cover
. map symbol \  absorption 1 areas ; sanitary | sanitary 1 For landfill
. | fialds H i landfill H Landflli- i
t i i I i : 1 -
t i | ! i
1124, i ] | |
Andreggmm—————— |Bevere: |Severe: |Bevere: |Severa: iFoor:
{ slope, - ! slape, | aeeprge, ! slope, | slope,
| depth to raek. | meepage. | depth te rock. | scepage. ! thin layer,
E E E E F ares raclisim.
1 i : )
Hoelk suterop. H | E E l
} | i | i
113%; 1 i i ' i !
Afdragg==-—-e—~——n e | GRVEPS ' iSevere: 1Severe: |Severs: | Poor:
| depth to rock i 3lope, | ==epage, | seepage: i thin layer,
i i SEEPARE. | depbh to rock. % . | area reeclaim.
1 1 : t I
Shenandoah-mwmww ~u——{Savere: tSavere: {Severe: iZavere: | Poor:
‘ 1 wekness, | =lope, ! wethess, ! watness. ! wetnassg.
i peres slowly, | wetness. | depth ta rock. | !
} depth te rock. | ! i !
i i i i ‘ |
1Y e e e e v 1Saveres: |Severe: |Savere: tModerate: !Poor:
Auburn | depth to roek. | =lape, } depth to roeck. | slape. i thin layer,
E i depth to rock. ; E g area reclaim.
t 1 1
115%: o | ‘ i i } !
Aburfesseemaseeass | Sovare: 1Severe: | Zevorn: |Moderate: 'Poor:
| depth bo rack. ] slope, | depth to rock. | slope. | thin layer,
{ E depth to rook. E . i . | Aarea reciaim.
: i } ' i
APEONAU = e ——————— == |Severe: 1Severas \Savera: iModerate: !Poor:
' | peros slowly, i slope. i depth to reek.. | slope. i tow olmyey,
| depth te roek. | | i { thin layer,
E i i i j area reclaim
1 1 1
116%: ! : | | i i
AUBUFr = ————— |Severs: |3evere: jSevera: . {Moderate: | Poor:
| depkh bo reek. ! slope, | depth to rock. | =lepe. ! bLhin layer,
E 5 depth te rock, E E ! arca reclaim.
I I I I {
Argonaut-—mr—nmn- |Severe: : 1Savare: |Severet Moderate: I Poor:
| percs 82lowly, | slope. | depth to roek. | slope. ! too elayey,
4 depth ko rock. |} ! i | thin layer,
: i ! ! | area realajm.
: | 1 ] ] |
Rock ouberep. B i ! ! |
1 1 1 1 1
T17%: t ! ! L
Auburn——--—+-—————- —{Sovnre: 15ivere: |Severe; [3evere: | Pagr:
| alope, ) i slope, | depth to roek. | slope. | slope, .
| .depth to roek. 1 depkh to roeck. | ] o ! thin layer,
E E ‘ ! | j area reclaim.
s 1 1 i | I
Rack euberap. 1. i ' ! {
! ! 1 i i
118%; 8 i | i i
Avburieme s ———— | Severe: iSevere: 1Gevere: |Z3avera: {Poor:
i slope, i slope, ] depth to rock. ) slope. { =lone,
| depth to roel. | depth to roek. | | i thin layver,
! E E 4 E ares reclelm.
. !
. . I . 1 t 1 1
Sobrante—r———rmm= | Severe: {Savera: |Bevere: {Gevare: |Poor:
| siope, | =lope. | dapth Lo rock. ! slape. | zlape.
| depth te rock. E H ] !
: I A { ] '
119%: : ! ' ' ! ;
PRLLTE o {Severe: |Bavera: {Severa: {Severe: tPoor:
. ?‘slbpe,' 5 slope, ; depth to rgek. | slope. | #lopa,
i dapth to rocok. | depth to rock. i thin layer,
T
t 1 [
] 1 I

Sge fooknote at end of table.
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‘Séil‘name and

i
i Trench

i i i i
! Septic tank |  Sewage legoon i Area. | Daily eover .-
mgp aymbol ! abzeorption ! Aareaa ! sanitary ' ganitary | for landfill
! flelds i | Landfill | landfil]l !
i ' i ] i
‘ ] | ' ! i
T2 ! ! ! i !
Ramonar=mme o m——— |Gavare: : iModarate: 1510ght mm e i T BT gH Y e m e e e {Goad.
‘ | percz slowly. i slope, } ! i
i | seepage, ! ; !
. " ! i ! i i
T e e {Severe {Savare: |Severa: {8evere: 1Pogr:
Dubakella ! slope, ! 3lope, i depth to roek, ! slepe. | too elayey,
. i depth tp reek, | depth to reck, | slope, i | slope,
! peros =lowly. | large stones, | oo clayay. 5 5 area reclaim.
. 3 1 ' .
' 1 1 t ' 1
L L T |Geverea: {Severe: 18eveare: iModerate: {Poor:
Exchaguar | depth to rock, | 2lopa, i depth te rock. | 5lope. i thin layer,
' : P | depth to roeck. ! { i large stones,
i ! J ! | ares reolaim.
H i ! ] I ‘
105 %, . | ! ! ! !
Exchequere=ea—weuame.|Savere: |Severe; iSevera: |Severe: |Foor:
‘ i slope, | slepe, P depth to roek, | alepe. ! =2lope,
i depth to rock. | depth te rock. ! [ | thin layer,
| | ! ! | large stones,
i ] 1 1 '
] I T i ! '
Roek outerop. | ! ; i j
] 1 ) .
Tt e e Hpyara - {Moderate: iBevere: 131lighbmmmun —mmmaw | Poopy
Fiddyment. i depth to roeg, ! depth to rook, | depth teo reek, | | thin layer,
i cemented pan, i cemented pen, | cementad pan. | | area reclaim.
| pares slowly. ; zlope. 5 E E :
1
! I ] 1 1
14T*s P H i ! i
Fiddyment=sommmaoon | Beverea: [Mederate: |Bavere: ‘ R ) 1 T —— | Poar: .
‘ | depth Lo reck, ! depth to rock, | depth to roeck, | { thin layer,
| eemented pan, i cemented pan, { ¢emented pan. i | area reglaim.
j peres slowly. 5 slope. . { j j
L] r 1 1
Kasebergemw mmme. . {Baevare: iSavere: iBevere: 18lightu—mrmmm— wwmm| POOT:
i depth to rosk, | depth te reck, | depth %o rock, ! i thif layer,
| bemented pan. ! cemented pan. | “cemented pan. ! | area reclaim.
1 . r 1 1)
. . r 1 ] 1 1 :
IEY-LE . b ! ! i |
Hennekess—maaw e o aaa |Sevare |Seveare: 18avare: |Sevara: 1Poor:
‘ | slepe, | 8lepe, i depth to rock, | slope I thin layer,
! depth to roek, ! depth Lo rock. | szlepe. i : i area reelaim,
5 peres =lowly. E 5 ' i alopa.
1 i
I 1 ’ 1 1 .
Aoek outeorep. i ! 1 1 i
. ! 1 1 1 1
L 2 1 r 1 I
TG e —~|Mederate: ‘Severe: |Bevere: R {1 P ——— {Fair:
Horsashos | peras slowly. | meepage. | seepage. | I too elayey,
' ] ! f i amall stenes,
I 1 . 1 1
TG0 v mm————— c—mmmsee ! Bayapa; |Bevera: jdevere: iSeverat {Poor:
Horseshoes. o | =lope. | slope, | zeepage. i zlope. | slopm,
| | Smapage. ! ¢
| ! ! i [
T51%: 1 i ] ‘ i I
Horseahge=e—nemmu_ ~=Sevare; i5avere: |Sevore: {Severe: 1 Poars
| slope. ! 5lope, | aeepage, [ alopa. ! glope,
E | Seepage. E | ]
. : : i i } H 1
- Rubhle 1and. E E : H E
i i ) | i
LT T P, iSovere: 13evere: iSevere: iSevere: }Fnor:
Inks 2lopa, | zlope, i depth to rosk. | alope. i 2lope, ‘
' depth to roek. | depth to rock, | ! | arsa reelaim, .
] ]
.' : .' !
1 H 1 I‘

See footnote at en

d of tahle.

small ftones,

small stones.
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camented pan. Aarse reclaim,

slope.

] T T T T
] 1 1 i ] . .
5011 name and i Septic tank i Zewage lagoon | Trench | Area 1 Dally egver
map symbal i abzorption ] aress ' sanitary ! sanitary I for landfill .
- ; flelds ] i dandfill i lzndfiil | :
T T T T I
] i I 1
] ] | | i
L.YEE ! ' | 1 P
Josephing=me=- wmmm= | Bavepre: |Bevere: |Sevara: iSevere: |Pogr:
© 1 slope, | slape. | depth te rock. | =lope. ! zlope.
| pereoaz =lowly, ! i ‘ t 1
| depth to rock. i E E E
1
I ] I I, 1
165%, 166%: ‘ ' ! e !
Mt POSamm————— |Sevare: |Severe: |Severa: |Severas iPoor:t
‘ | 2lope, | glope, | &lope, | slepe. | zlopa,
i depth to reck. | depth Lo rock. ] depth to rock. | | thin layer,
' ! 4 | | area reclaim.
. 1 I 1 1 1 . .
1 I 1 1 1
Josephine==ws—o —me=] Sayare; } 1Saverea: iSevere: 1Severe: iPoor:
' . | alope, : : | alepe. I 5lope, ) slope. | 3lape.
! parcs =zlowly, | | depth to roek, | i
{ depth to rock. | ' ! |
S i | | i !
16T%, 1684; v : | | i
Hariposa-———re=semea|Savero: iSevera: iSevere: |3evera: | Poar:
! slape, | slope, ! slope, | 8lope. | alope,
E depth to rock. | depth to reck. | depth to rock, | ! thin layer,
. | i : i E area reclaim.
' ' ' I 1 t :
Roel sutsrap. i ! i E '
‘ } i i } !
165%, 170%: i ! : | !
Maymen-—memmmmweue "1 Seyarat |Severe: {Savera: 'Bavere: {Poar:- :
| #lopse, | slope, . | 5lope, ‘ ! zlope. 1 slape, .
E depth to reck. E depth to rock. | depth to roek. | i thin layer,
i i E i | ares reclaim.
H I
Reck outerop. ! H i 5 !
i | | i i
2 I8évere: |Severe: !Sevare: ‘ 18ayere: 1Poor:
H¢carthy | slapa, | =eepage, | depth to reck, | slope, } =lopa,
. ' [ depth to reck. E zlope. { seepage. | seepaga. ! zmall ztonas,
; i E E 5 area reclaim.
1 1 i
17 2t m————— ————— 'Severa: {Sevare: |Eevera: {Bevere: iPoor:
MaCartny i slepe, i seepage, | Blame, { slope, | slope, .
| depth ko reck. 3 zlope. | seepage, | Seepsge. | Emall ghones,
g ! i depth to rock. ! : i area reelaim.
1732, ‘ ; | ; i i
PLrs and dumps i ! i i i
1 t 1
1 I . I I ]
L T |3evare: IModerate: IS1IEhtmem e e {5lightmmmmuue—cma!Good.
Ramona . | pere= slowly. | seepage. | ! ’ !
. . o b i } '
; 1 i ' , |
TS mmmm s e mmwn s [ Savare: iModerate: I3l =———— wa----E51ight---na ...... EGoad.
Ramona | peres slawly. | slope, ! ’ ] i
E E soepaga. i ] !
H ] 1 r
760 | i | ! o
Reddinge—m—as- ~"---ESevere: |Moderata: |Severe: 1511 ghtmmmm s sm e 1Fair:
it perce alowly, E ccmetited pan, | cemented pan. i ' | thin layer,
i cemonted pan. i :Egp:ge, i ‘ : f j area reclaim.
: : p oope ! ; 1
Coralngmmmanmoman iSevere: iModcratE: iModerate: (Bllght =it {Poor:
‘ ; peres slowly. ' zlope. f too clayey. E i too e¢layey.
! ‘
177 : | i i E
Reddinge——-memmmass iSevera: ievere |Severe: |Moderate: {Fair:
peres zlowly, i tlope, ! centented pan. f slopa. | thin layer, .
1 i
| : | :
i H H !

See footnote a% end of table.
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Ares Daily cover

- 1] T ; T
.. i . . 1 1 I
3o0tl nam= and : Septic tank |  Sewage lagoon | Trench ! !
© map symbol ! sbszorption t areas i sanitary ' sanitary ! for landflll
‘ H ‘fields ! ] landfill ) . landfill N
i ' | i 5 f
1 i 1 1 1
TTT*: N ] ‘ ; i i
COrNingE——-—weicmaax|Bavere; iSevere: iModerate: iModerate: 1Poor:
| perecs slowly. | =lope. i has elayey. | slape. | too clayey.
1 . 1 1 ; ‘
1 ] !
170%, ! H i |
Riverwash. N ] ! ! 1
) ] i ! i |
1795, . I ! | i !
Rock outerop H ] | ' |
. 1 1 1 ]
. . 1 1 ! 1 ]
180%, ! i } ! ]
Rubble land ! i ; ! |
. 1 ] r ] t
. 1 1 r ] 1
L1 | ETE— - —— 1Severe: iModerate: K 1Saveras 151light——— - ———— {Falr:
San Joaguin | peros slowly, | seepage, ! eetented pan. 1 { thin layar,
| cemented pan. i cemented pan, ' ! | area reclaim.
: | slope. ! ! !
1 ) 1 1 1
1 r 1 1 1
182%: | i } ] ]
Han Joaguin—memm—— | Severe: iModerate: (Severe: tBlightmmme w= Faip:
: o { peres slowly, | seepapge, | cemented pan. | { thin layer,
E cemented pan. i ¢emented pan, ! E | area reclalm.
slope. v
| ; oope i :’ |
COME L mmm — == | BEYVErE: iModerate: IMaderate: |Blight—rmeemm—ns | Poar:
: | percs zlowly. i-slopc. | teo clayey, | S | Loo elayey.
f | 1 1 1
' ] 1 1 1 1
B L T 1Bevera: IModerate: 1Sevare: 131ight—mmmmmns_—_1Good.
Alerra ! peras slowly. ! sespaga, ! depth %o rosk. | |
1 ! slope. ! ! !
1 1 1 1
S 1 | 1 1 1
s T p— St ——— |Severa: {Bmvare: |Savare: IModarata: \Fair:
Biarra | peres slowly. | slope. E depth to roeck. | slope. ) 4lope.
T 1 1 t
I 1 1 1 1
18 mm e - i3evera: |Bavera: |Severe: |3overe: iPoor:
Sierra | slopa, ! slope. | depth to rock. | slope ! 2lope,
| peres zlowly. i i ] |
1 ) i ] 1
| 1 1 . I 1
THO = e \devare: iModerate: |Severs: |S1ight-r o ——— {Falr: :
Sites E poras slowly. ! seepage, E teo mlayey. y | too elayey.
1 ! SIQDE- I ! ! .
S ! ' t i
18T == mmmmmmmis i | Sayare: {8evere; iSevara: |Moderater {Falr:
Siten 1 peres alowly. i slope. i toa clavey; | =lope. | too alayey,
r ]
| | | : - | ioee
188 m s an [ Bevaras ISevera; i3evere: |Severe: IPoor:
Sites | =lape, | 3lope. i too elayey. ! slope. i 5lope.
| peres slowly. H ! | - |
. P f i i . !
1B me e —rmmmmm eI Sovere: i3everno: |Bavarea: 1Severe: | Poor:
Siten o © i slops, | =lope. | slope, ! 3lope. | slope..
i-peres slowly. ) ! too olayey. ! i
. 1 1 1 1
1908 i | | | |
Jites—m—ia. s n iSevere ISeversa: [Severa: tSevere: t Poor:
| slope, | =lops. | slope, | &2lope. ! zlope.
i‘percs zlouly. | ) tan alayey. ! i
I 1 1
: | i i i
Rogk eutcrop. A | ; | E
s " b 1 b 1
. [ ! I I I
Yl i | BRvErS: [Sevare: iSovera: iModerake: {Fair: o
Sebrante : !'depth te rock. E slope. i depth to rock. | 2lope. i thin layer,
! : ] i | arez reclzim,
:‘ ! i || 1 =2lepe.
T 1 r [} I
L e L T P = | Baveras: !Saverae: [Severa: ISevare: iPoor:
Xerofluvents . 1 fleedas, { wetneas, i floods, | wetness, | too sandy.
1 webness. ! rloads, ! wetnassz, ! floods, !
P i seepage. 1 Beepage. ! !
1 1 1
T 1] r 1 I

sgepage.

See footnote =t and of Sabla.
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